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Peabody is energy. Energy is life.

Peabody Energy is the world’s largest private-sector  
coal company and the only global pure-play coal  
investment. We delivered record results in 2008,  
and have completed a series of strategic actions  
that reveal the power of Peabody’s global platform.

Peabody: Essential investment... essential energy...  
essential future. 
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Essential

Peabody provides coal that fuels the energy needs  
of people in cities throughout 21 countries, including  
power for the lights of Chicago.

2008 Accomplishments

•		Delivered record	volume,	revenues,	EBITDA,	operating	profit,	income	and	cash	flows

•	Achieved	safest	year	in	125-year	history	and	operated	most	productive	coal	mine

•	Completed	El	Segundo	Mine	in	New	Mexico	and	Wambo	Complex	in	Australia	

•	Nearly	doubled	contributions	from	expanded	global	trading	and	brokerage	activities		

•		Advanced	Btu	Conversion,	green	coal	and	carbon	capture	and	storage	projects	in	

United	States,	China	and	Australia	

•		Earned	Global	Energy	Awards	for	leadership,	ranked	first	among	peers	in	 

Fortune’s Most	Admired	listing,	and	placed	21st	in	the	Forbes 400 Platinum List  

of Best Big Companies   

•	Received	five	awards	for	environmental	and	good	neighbor	practices		
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•  Increased contributions from global operations to more than half of the  

company’s	total	EBITDA,	which	nearly	doubled	to	$1.847	billion;

•		Completed	the	major	new	El	Segundo	Mine	in	New	Mexico	and	the	 

Wambo	Complex	in	New	South	Wales,	Australia;

•		Advanced	major	clean	coal	and	Btu	Conversion	initiatives	in	the	United	States,	

China	and	Australia;

•  Received multiple honors for environmental performance in the United States 

and	Australia;

•  Placed first among mining and oil companies in Fortune’s	Most	Admired	 

listing,	earning	top	honors	among	peers	in	every	category,	including	Long-Term	

Investment,	Social	Responsibility,	Quality	of	Management,	Financial	Soundness,	

People	Management,	Use	of	Assets,	Innovation	and	Product	Quality;	

•		Received	the	Strategic	Investment	of	the	Year	Award	at	the	Global	Energy	

Awards	as	well	as	the	Award	of	Excellence	for	longstanding	industry	 

leadership;	and

•		Ranked	21st	on	the	Forbes	400	Platinum	List	of	Best	Managed	Companies,	 

recognizing	a	five-year	total	shareholder	return	of	25.1	percent.

Peabody’s performance was a direct result of significant strategic actions we  

have	taken	in	recent	years	to	transform	the	portfolio	and	enhance	the	operating	

platform.	Those	who	have	followed	us	for	some	time	know	that	we	have	reshaped	

Peabody	through	international	expansion,	operational	initiatives	in	the	Western	

United	States	and	the	spin-off	of	Eastern	U.S.	assets.

Essential.	It’s	a	family	using	electricity	for	the	first	time	in	China,	thanks	to	 

abundant, affordable coal. It’s a new hospital in South Korea built from steel  

made	from	Australian	hard	coking	coal.	It’s	a	researcher	at	Washington	 

University	in	St.	Louis	working	with	scientists	around	the	world	to	advance	

carbon capture and storage.

Essential.	It’s	a	company	that	will	ship	a	quarter-billion	tons	of	coal	to	 

customers	on	six	continents	this	year	–	more	than	75	pounds	of	coal	for	every	

man, woman and child in the world… primarily delivered through the  

same	electrical	outlets	that	power	microwaves,	MP3	players,	laptops	and	 

electric cars.

Essential. It’s Peabody, the company behind these stories… and the combined 

power of 7,200 employees who deliver the coal that builds economies, creates 

jobs	and	transforms	lifestyles.

2008 was Peabody’s 125th anniversary year,	and	the	world’s	largest	private- 

sector	coal	company	delivered	record-setting	results.	Your	company:

•		Delivered	the	best	safety	performance	in	our	history,	improving	our	accident	

rate	nearly	30	percent	to	a	level	far	better	than	the	industry	average;

•		Set	new	records	in	major	financial	measures	including	sales	volume,	 

revenues,	EBITDA,	operating	profit,	net	income,	earnings	per	share	and	 

cash	flows;

•		Maintained	our	financial	strength,	using	$1.41	billion	in	cash	flows	to	 

fund	capital	projects,	repurchase	shares,	pay	dividends	and	reduce	debt	

while	still	completing	the	year	with	nearly	a	half-billion	dollars	in	cash	and	 

$2	billion	in	liquidity;

Dear Shareholder: 

In Millions,	Except	Per-Share	Data;
From	Continuing	Operations 2008 2007 Improvement

Revenues $6,593.4 $4,545.1 45%

Operating Profit $1,392.9 $592.7 135%

EBITDA1 $1,847.3 $968.6 91%

Income $984.8 $440.0 124%

Diluted Earnings Per Share $3.63 $1.63 123%

Operating Cash Flows $1,413.9 $457.8 209%

1  EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA is defined as income from continuing operations before deducting 
net interest expense, income taxes, minority interests, asset retirement obligation expense, and 
depletion, depreciation and amortization.

Financial Highlights
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Gregory	H.	Boyce 
Chairman and  
Chief	Executive	 
Officer
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In	the	near	term,	the	weak	energy	markets	are	leading	to	significant	under- 

investment	in	all	extractive	industries.	This,	in	turn,	will	drive	even	greater	 

volatility and a far sharper rebound when the ultimate recovery occurs. 

Other	long-term	drivers	of	energy	supply	and	demand	have	only	taken	a	brief	

pause.	Billions	of	people	in	emerging	nations	are	still	awakening	to	the	benefits	 

of	modern	energy	use.	The	world’s	largest	oil	fields	are	depleting.	Major	natural	

gas supplies come from unstable nations increasingly willing to use resources  

for	political	gain.	Other	high-profile	energy	forms	are	too	small	or	too	scarce	to	 

provide affordable energy at the scale needed to meet growing global needs.

Affordable energy forms the foundation of our fragile global economy.  

The current downturn reminds us that we need a diversity of fuels, each  

with	strengths.	Coal	remains	vital	–	essential	–	to	fill	the	long-term	gap	 

between straining energy alternatives and increasing energy use.  

Peabody’s	senior	executive	team	 
(from	right)	includes:	Greg	Boyce,	 
Sharon	Fiehler,	Fred	Palmer,	Alex	Schoch,	 
Mike	Crews,	Eric	Ford	and	Rick	Navarre.		

In a year when earnings doubled and cash flows tripled, it is a disappointing 

irony	that	BTU’s	share	price	would	decline	along	with	other	major	commodity	

companies.	We	ended	the	year	with	a	share	price	of	$22.75,	which	reflected	 

the	company’s	share	price	in	May	of	2005	when	the	company’s	then-current-

year	EBITDA	was	$696	million	compared	to	2008’s	EBITDA	of	$1.85	billion.	 

The cause of the share price performance downdraft, of course, was the  

unprecedented economic woes that gripped the world beginning in the  

second half of 2008. 

These economic storms plunged most developed nations around the world  

into	recession	and	slowed	the	expansion	of	the	strongest	global	performers	 

such	as	China	and	India.	This	has	reduced	near-term	coal	demand,	though	 

coal is less impacted than many commodities due to its predominant use for  

electricity generation.

While	the	timing	of	the	eventual	economic	recovery	is	unknown,	the	long- 

term demand profile for coal remains strong, with global coal use set to rise  

dramatically	over	the	next	quarter	century.	That	creates	opportunity	for	greater	

distinction among energy companies. After all, while a rising tide lifts all boats, 

choppier waters benefit the strongest ships. 

Peabody’s worldwide safety rate 
improved 30 percent in 2008 and the 
company’s U.S. operations set a record 
1.70 safety rate. Peabody’s safety 
performance is far stronger than the 
industry average and other sectors.  

Source: Peabody data; U.S. Department of Labor,  
Occupational Safety and Health Administration  
2007 data; Mine Safety and Health Administration  
2007 data.

Peabody Achieves Safest Year in Its 125-Year History
U.S. Incidents Per 200,000 Hours
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Peabody’s performance was a direct result of significant strategic actions we have taken 
in recent years to transform the portfolio and enhance the operating platform... We have 
reshaped Peabody through international expansion, operational initiatives in the Western 
United States and the spin-off of Eastern U.S. assets.
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And I am confident that coal will do so in a way that provides what we call the 

“Three Es” – energy security, economic stimulus and environmental progress. 

Peabody continues to target energy and environmental policies that advance  

all energy supplies and move toward a long-term goal of near-zero emissions.  

We also work on multiple fronts to improve the public understanding of coal, 

and have seen some very strong results. A recent poll shows that 72 percent  

of U.S. opinion leaders support the use of coal for electricity generation.  

In the same national poll, 69 percent view coal as a fuel of the future.  

As do we.

In my view, Peabody is an essential investment with strong staying power during 

difficult economic times and significant long-term growth potential. We have taken 

multiple market-driven actions and are in a good position to thrive when global 

economies rebound.  

We believe Peabody is uniquely positioned among our coal peers for success. 

Compared with U.S.-based peers, for instance, we are serving long-term demand 

growth in emerging nations. We are able to avoid the majority of geology,  

permitting and compliance issues that prevail in certain high-cost mining regions. 

We have solid balance sheet strength and liquidity. And we have the financial 

wherewithal to be opportunistic in our investments.

Regarding our key priorities for the new year, Peabody intends to: 

•  Maintain our focus on strong cost control and productivity improvements; 

increase contributions from high-margin operations; and exercise tight  

capital discipline; 

•  Evaluate opportunistic transactions in key growth markets amid distressed  

conditions; and pursue global operating, trading, infrastructure and joint  

venture opportunities; and 

•  Continue our leadership in clean coal solutions, advancing Btu Conversion  

and low-carbon initiatives primarily through multi-company alliances. 

Our Board of Directors continues its best-practices approach to governance,  

and this past year led a successful recommendation to shareholders to determine 

that directors will be elected on an annual basis through a phased declassified 

board process.

The management team was also strengthened this year with the naming of  

Mike Crews as our new Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.  

Mike is a longstanding Peabody manager with accounting, financial and  

operations experience.

We ship eight tons of coal every second of every day to customers around the 

globe, and we will continue to work tirelessly for them. As always, we thank  

our board for its wise counsel… our employees around the world who are  

responsible for our many achievements… our customers who use our product  

in such beneficial ways… and of course you, our shareholder. 

Peabody is an essential investment with strong staying power during difficult economic 
times and significant long-term growth potential. We have taken multiple market-driven  
actions and are in a good position to thrive when global economies rebound.

Gregory H. Boyce 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 2009

Expanded Global Platform 
Delivers Growing and  
Diverse Earnings

2008
$1.85 Billion EBITDA

2003
$422 Million EBITDA

International
United States

Peabody’s international earnings  
have grown from approximately  
1 percent of EBITDA in 2003 to more 
than 50 percent in 2008 as total  
earnings have dramatically improved.
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Coal Grows  
61% by 2030

Global Coal Demand Grows Faster Than Any Other Fuel
Million Tonnes of Oil Equivalent

Coal
Oil
Natural Gas
Nuclear
Hydro
Biomass
Other

Coal has been the world’s fastest- 
growing fuel for each of the past  
five years, and coal use is expected  
to grow faster than any other fuel far  
into the future.    

Source: International Energy Agency, World  
Energy Outlook 2008.
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Essential
Peabody fuels 10% of U.S. and  

2% of worldwide electricity, serving  

nearly 330 customers on six continents.  

We serve customers in nations representing 

more than half the world’s population,  

giving Peabody access to the most rapidly 

growing markets for electricity, steel and  

Btu Conversion projects. 

 

Peabody’s reach spans the globe. In 2008,  

we shipped coal from the Powder River Basin 

to China and Spain... from China to Korea... 

from Russia to China... and from Australia to 

Asia, Europe and South America. 

Highlights | Letter to Shareholders | Essential Investment | Essential Energy | Essential Future | Green Coal | Global Operations Financial Data | Management’s Discussion | Management’s Report | Financial Statements | Notes | Board of Directors



Highlights | Letter to Shareholders | Essential Investment | Essential Energy | Essential Future | Green Coal | Global Operations Financial Data | Management’s Discussion | Management’s Report | Financial Statements | Notes | Board of Directors

Peabody’s	approach	is	guided	by	a	drive	to	make	money	in	all	market	 
conditions,	and	to	make	very	good	money	during	strong	markets.	The	company	 
is well positioned to weather the current global economic downturn and  
prosper during economic recovery. 

•  BTU is the bellwether company in its industry with unmatched scale

• 	We	have	broad	geographic	diversity	and	access	to	the	best	markets

• 	Our	balance	sheet	provides	strength	and	financial	flexibility

• We	have	access	to	capital	and	can	be	opportunistic	in	our	use	of	cash

• 	Our	leading	trading	position	offers	first-mover	advantage	and	strong	visibility	
into	markets

• 	We	are	largely	contracted	for	2009	and	2010,	while	our	installed	capacity	 
allows	us	to	respond	to	the	inevitable	market	upturn

Peabody is the top producer in the Powder River Basin, the Illinois Basin and  
Colorado.	We	operate	the	world’s	largest	and	most	productive	coal	mine.	We	are	 
the	only	U.S.-based	coal	company	with	operations	in	Australia,	the	world’s	largest	
coal	exporting	nation.	We	have	a	growing	presence	in	China	and	Mongolia.	We	
are	one	of	the	largest	coal	trading	companies	in	the	world.	We	were	the	leading	
mining and oil company in Fortune’s	Most	Admired	listing	for	2008.	And	we	are	
the	only	coal	company	to	rank	high	within	the	Forbes Platinum 400 listing of Best 
Big Companies, placing 21st overall. 

Essential

Peabody is the only global pure-play coal investment, and  
we are uniquely suited to benefit from industry fundamentals 
both in the near and long term. 

BTU delivered record financial results in 2008, shipping a  
record 256 million tons. EBITDA nearly doubled, revenues 
climbed 45 percent and operating cash flows tripled to  
$1.4 billion. EBITDA margins expanded to 28 percent, with  
operating margins of 21 percent. And the company enters 
2009 with nearly $2 billion in liquidity.

10    Peabody Energy

The	new	Wilpinjong	Mine	in	 
New	South	Wales	achieved	the	 
lowest costs among peers in 2008.  
Wilpinjong	is	also	making	its	mark	
as a good neighbor, honored for 
sustainable practices benefiting 
indigenous people.  

As	the	Shin	Onoe	leaves	the	Port	 
of Newcastle bound for a Japanese  
steelmaker,	the	ship’s	holds	are	 
loaded with coal from the new  
North	Wambo	Mine	in	New	South	
Wales.	The	final	phase	of	a	multi-year	
build-out	of	the	Wambo	Complex	 
was completed in 2008.

2008 Annual Report    11

Peabody Chairman and Chief  
Executive	Officer	Greg	Boyce	(left)	 
and Peabody President and Chief  
Commercial	Officer	Rick	Navarre	 
accept	honors	at	the	10th	Global	 
Energy Awards. Peabody earned  
the	Award	of	Excellence	for	 
industry leadership and the first  
Strategic Energy Investment of  
the Year Award, recognizing  
BTU’s global transformation.  

FORTUNE  
AMERICA’S MOST  
ADMIRED COMPANIES 2008
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Coal is essential… like air, water, food and shelter. Greater use 
of abundant coal improves quality of life and enables people to 
live longer and better. Coal is the primary source of the world’s 
electricity and the best solution for energy security, economic 
stimulus and environmental improvement. 

Coal	has	been	the	fastest-growing	fuel	in	the	world	for	each	of	the	past	five	 
years.	While	near-term	energy	needs	are	temporarily	softened	by	global	economic	 
conditions,	the	long-term	outlook	remains	strong,	part	of	a	sweeping	transformation	
among developing nations gaining access to electricity for the first time.  

The International Energy Agency forecasts that demand for coal will grow  
more than the combined increase in natural gas, nuclear, hydro, solar and wind 
consumption	through	2025.	China	and	India	are	expected	to	account	for	85	percent	
of	long-term	world	coal	demand	growth.		

Peabody	is	positioned	to	unlock	the	full	benefit	of	our	global	platform	to	serve	
emerging	economies	through	our	expanded	Australia	operations,	growing	 
activities	in	China	and	Mongolia,	and	leading	trading	position	that	offers	a	first-
mover advantage to fuel electricity growth.  

Around	the	world,	more	than	200	gigawatts	of	new	coal-fueled	plants	are	under	
construction and will be fueled by 700 million tons of coal. This drives enormous 
economic	growth,	representing	approximately	4.5	million	jobs	and	$1	trillion	in	 
economic impacts. New efficient plants have superior technologies, emissions that 
are	dramatically	lower	than	the	existing	fleet	and	improved	carbon	footprints.

Energy and Social Progress Closely Linked  
Citizens	in	nations	with	good	access	to	energy	are	far	more	likely	to	live	longer	 
and	healthier,	eat	better	and	enjoy	a	higher	education	level.	Yet,	more	than	2	billion	 
people	around	the	world	lack	adequate	access	to	electricity.	Another	1.6	billion	–	over	
five	times	the	population	in	the	United	States	–	have	none	at	all.	They	seek	power	for	
the	most	basic	needs…	clean	drinking	water,	light	and	home	heat.	

The	benefits	of	coal-fueled	electricity	to	lift	people	out	of	poverty	are	most	notable	
in China, where coal fuels nearly 80 percent of electricity. Some 700 million people 
in	China	have	gained	access	to	electricity	in	just	the	past	two	decades,	corresponding	
with increases in longevity, education, health and other notable indicators.  
This	tracks	work	by	the	United	Nations,	which	shows	a	strong	correlation	between	
electricity use and human development. 

Essential

New Coal-Fueled  
Generation is Being  
Developed in 80 Nations
Coal Plants Under Construction 
(Gigawatts)
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Coal is the only fuel with the scale to  
alleviate	energy	poverty.	Globally,	more	
than	200	gigawatts	of	coal-fueled	plants	
are	under	construction	and	expected	to	
begin	generation	in	the	next	several	years.				
Source: Platts World Electric Power Plant  
Database, 2008.
1 ROW: Rest of the World
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The	North	Antelope	Rochelle	Mine	in	the	
Powder River Basin is the largest and 
most productive coal mine in the world. 
North Antelope Rochelle fuels customers 
in the United States and Canada and as 
far away as Europe and Asia.

Development	is	quickly	
advancing at the Prairie State 
Energy Campus in America’s 
Heartland.	The	project	will	
create	2,500	jobs	at	peak	 
construction. Prairie State is 
leading	a	large	build-out	of	
global coal generation and 
will have emissions that are 
dramatically lower than the  
U.S. average.  
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Coal	is	driving	economic	progress	alongside	an	improving	environmental	track	 
record	that	gives	it	a	new	green	profile	as	a	favorite	fuel	for	nations	seeking	energy	
security. Peabody is advancing development of green coal technologies to meet  
enormous	global	energy	needs	and	power	a	near-zero	emissions	future.		

•  In phase one of clean coal, utilities have invested tens of billions of dollars in 
clean coal technologies to scrub away emissions over the past several decades.  

•  In phase two, green coal builds on this enormous progress. New efficient  
coal	plants	have	significantly	lower	emissions	than	the	existing	fleet	and	a	lower	
carbon	footprint.	Carbon	capture	and	storage	will	lead	to	near-zero	emissions.  

Peabody	is	the	global	leader	in	clean	coal	solutions,	with	signature	projects	 
and	partnerships	across	three	continents.	In	Asia,	Peabody	is	the	only	non-Chinese	 
partner	in	GreenGen,	China’s	centerpiece	climate	initiative	and	a	multi-phase	 
commercial-scale	coal	plant	that	is	ultimately	expected	to	produce	near-zero	 
emissions, using carbon for enhanced oil recovery. 

In	Australia,	Peabody	is	a	founding	member	of	the	COAL21	Fund,	an	ambitious	 
effort	to	pursue	multiple	low-carbon	technologies,	including	a	major	oxyfuel	 
project	in	Queensland.	And	in	North	America,	we	are	a	founding	member	of	the	 
FutureGen	Alliance,	a	public-private	partnership	to	develop	a	near-zero	emissions	 
plant that will store carbon in deep saline fields. 

Peabody	continues	to	partner	with	industry	peers,	major	research	universities	 
and governments to supply clean electricity… one of life’s necessities… to  
hundreds	of	millions	of	families.	Working	cooperatively	around	the	world,	Peabody	 
is	harnessing	the	greatest	power	on	earth	–	our	own	willpower	–	to	shape	an	 
essential future with coal. 

Energy from coal lifts economies in every business cycle and 
enhances quality of life for billions in the developing world:   
We live 10 years longer with each tenfold increase in per capita 
electricity use, and coal will continue to drive these benefits 
as the primary fuel for global power generation. World energy 
demand will grow 45 percent in the next 25 years, and coal will 
account for more than a third of the increase in energy use. 

Essential
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The	GreenGen	engineering	
team discusses development 
plans	at	the	site	for	the	multi-
phase	near-zero	emissions	
project	near	Tianjin,	China.	
GreenGen	is	set	to	break	 
ground	this	year.	From	left:		 
Engineering	Manager	Liangshi	Li	
and Engineer Chunqiao Ren.

A	new	generation	of	plug-in	electric	 
hybrid	vehicles	being	introduced	by	major	
automakers	in	2010	will	be	powered	by	
coal and would significantly reduce fuel 
consumption. Replacing 60 percent of  
light-	and	medium-duty	vehicles	would	
drop oil imports by nearly 4 million  
barrels daily. 

Making Black the New Green   
Peabody is the global leader in green coal solutions,  
bringing together top research universities, industry  
peers and governments on multiple continents to develop 
the	next	generation	of	clean	coal	technologies	through:	

•  The	FutureGen	Alliance 

•  China’s	GreenGen	initiative 

• 	The	COAL21	Fund

•  Australia’s	Global	Carbon	 
Capture and Storage Institute 

•  The Consortium for Clean  
Coal Utilization 

•  The	Asia-Pacific	Partnership	 
for	Clean	Development	 
and Climate

•  The	Midwest	Geological	 
Sequestration Consortium

•  The Power Systems  
Development	Facility	

•  The PowerTree Carbon  
Company LLC 

•  The	Western	Kentucky	Carbon	
Storage	Foundation,	Inc.

2008	Annual	Report				15



Highlights | Letter to Shareholders | Essential Investment | Essential Energy | Essential Future | Green Coal | Global Operations Financial Data | Management’s Discussion | Management’s Report | Financial Statements | Notes | Board of Directors

Green coal technologies build on global progress, providing a 

path to near-zero emissions through efficient new supercritical 

coal plants with improved carbon footprints, and gasification 

and carbon capture and storage. These technologies ultimately 

will allow plants to capture carbon dioxide under ground in 

deep storage or even oil fields, increasing energy production. 

Clean coal technologies have achieved enormous

environmental success in recent decades by  

scrubbing regulated emissions. As a result, coal  

used for U.S. electricity has more than tripled since 

1970, even as regulated emissions per megawatt  

hour (MWh) declined more than 80 percent.  

Green CoalClean Coal...

A haul truck passes by reclaimed lands at the Farmersburg Mine in Indiana, 
which is nationally recognized for best practices to restore prime farmland. 
Peabody garnered five major environmental awards in 2008, reclaimed  
approximately 4,500 acres, planted more than 250,000 trees and recycled 
nearly 20,000 tons of materials. 
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1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000

1970s
U.S. Clean Air Act Enacted

1970s
Scrubbing Technology 
Reduces	Sulfur	Dioxide

1990s
Clean Air Act Amendments

1980s
Technologies Reduce  
Nitrogen	Oxides	

1990s
IGCC1	Demonstrations	

2000s 
Phase 2 Clean Air Act 

1960s
Electrostatic Precipitators 
Remove Particulates
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Source: U.S. Energy Information Administration,  
Annual Energy Review, June 2008; Peabody  
analysis of U.S. Environmental Protection Agency  
Air Emissions Trends Data for sulfur dioxide, nitrogen  
oxides and particulates; August 2008.
1 Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle Technology

2007

Commercial	IGCC	with	CCS

Oxyfuel,	carbon-consuming	algae	and	
other	low-carbon	technologies

Carbon Capture and Storage 
(CCS)	Demonstrations

Retrofit Pulverized Coal  
Plants with CCS

Commercial	Coal-to-Liquids	with	CCS	

Commercial	Coal-to-Gas	with	CCS

Supercritical  
Combustion  
Plants 

Path to Near - Zero Emissions

81%
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Peabody’s Leading Global Operations and Reserves

18    Peabody Energy

Peabody has 30 operations 
in the United States and 
Australia. We shipped a 
record 256 million tons of 
coal in 2008 through sales, 
trading and brokerage 
activities. 

Mine Type

U: Underground
S:	 Surface/Open	Cut

Type of Coal

S: Steam/Thermal
M:	 Metallurgical
P:	 Pulverized	Coal	Injection

Short tons in millions 
Results from continuing operations.
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                       Proven &
Geographic                                    2008         Mine        Type          Probable
Region/Operation                         Sales       Type       of Coal       Reserves

United States

 Trading and Brokerage                31.2

Total U.S. and Australia Sales   224.3                  

Total Coal Sales                          255.5                   9,200

Queensland 
 Burton	 2.7	 S	 S/M	  
	 Millennium	 1.3	 S	 M	
	 North	Goonyella	and	Eaglefield	 3.0	 U/S	 M	
	 Wilkie	Creek	 2.5	 S	 S
	 Total								 9.5									 	 	 630

 New South Wales
 Chain	Valley	 0.5	 U	 S	
	 Metropolitan	 1.4	 U	 M	
	 North	Wambo	 2.2	 U	 S/P	
	 Wambo	 3.0	 S	 S	
	 Wilpinjong	 7.3	 S	 S	
	 Total	 14.4									 	 	 505

Australia

Powder River Basin 
 Caballo                                      31.2  S S 
	 North	Antelope	Rochelle										97.5	 	 S	 S	
 Rawhide                                    18.4  S S 
 Total                                         147.1    3,199

 Southwest/Colorado 
 Kayenta 8.0 S S 
      Lee Ranch 3.4 S S 
      El Segundo  2.6 S S  
      Twentymile 8.6 U S 
 Total 22.6    1,214 

Midwest
      Illinois 
 Gateway	 3.2	 U	 S 
						Wildcat	Hills	Surface	 2.3	 S		 S	  
						Wildcat	Hills	Underground	 0.7	 U	 S	  
						Willow	Lake	 3.7	 U	 S	  
      Indiana  
      Air Quality 1.9 U S 
	 Farmersburg	 3.3	 S	 S	  
	 Francisco	Surface		 1.9	 S	 S	  
	 Francisco	Underground	 1.5	 U	 S	 	 	
	 Miller	Creek	 1.8	 S	 S	  
 Somerville Central 3.4 S S  
 Somerville North 2.2 S S  
 Somerville South 2.3 S S  
	 Viking	 1.6	 S		 S 
	 Other	Midwest	 0.9
	 Total	 30.7	 	 	 	 3,652

Selected Financial Data

Years Ended December 31  
(Dollars in millions, except share and per share data and tons sold) 2008  2007  2006  2005  2004

Results of Operations Data
Revenues     
 Sales $6,036.3   $4,335.1   $3,944.9   $3,516.1   $2,680.8
 Other revenues 557.1  210.0  106.0  81.8  82.2

  Total revenues 6,593.4   4,545.1   4,050.9   3,597.9   2,763.0
Costs and expenses 
 Operating costs and expenses 4,617.2   3,532.5   3,088.2   2,828.5   2,206.5
 Depreciation, depletion and amortization 406.2   352.2   284.2   244.9  205.3
 Asset retirement obligation expense 48.2   23.7   14.2   19.9   14.8
 Selling and administrative expenses 201.8   147.1   128.0   132.6   84.5
 Other operating income:
  Net gain on disposal or exchange of assets (72.9)  (88.6)  (53.5)  (44.4)  (18.1)
  Income from equity affiliates –   (14.5)  (22.8)  (15.2)  0.1

Operating profit 1,392.9   592.7   612.6   431.6   269.9
 Interest expense 226.2   235.0   139.1   98.0   90.9
 Interest income (10.1)  (7.1)  (11.3)  (9.1)  (4.0)

Income from continuing operations  
  before income taxes and minority interests 1,176.8   364.8   484.8   342.7   183.0
 Income tax provision (benefit) 185.8   (72.9)  (85.7)  62.3   0.6
 Minority interests 6.2   (2.3)  0.6   2.5   1.0

Income from continuing operations 984.8   440.0   569.9   277.9   181.4
 Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (31.3)  (175.7)  30.8   144.8   (6.1)

Net income  $ 953.5   $ 264.3   $ 600.7   $ 422.7   $ 175.3

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations  $ 3.66   $ 1.67   $ 2.16   $ 1.06   $ 0.73  
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 3.63   $ 1.63   $ 2.12   $ 1.04   $ 0.71
Weighted average shares used in calculating
 basic earnings per share 268,860,528  264,068,180  263,419,344  261,519,424  248,732,744
Weighted average shares used in calculating 
 diluted earnings per share 271,275,849  269,166,290  269,166,005  268,013,476  254,812,632
Dividends declared per share  $ 0.24   $ 0.24   $ 0.24   $ 0.17   $ 0.13
Other Data
Tons sold (in millions) 255.5  236.1  221.4  213.7  200.3
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations:
 Operating activities $1,413.9   $ 457.8   $ 606.6   $ 669.9   $ 449.2
 Investing activities (531.5)  (538.9)  (2,055.6)  (506.3)  (742.8)
 Financing activities (375.8)  44.7   1,407.5   (38.9)  577.4
Adjusted EBITDA (1) 1,847.3   968.6   911.0   696.4   490.0
Additions to property, plant, equipment  
  and mine development 266.2   438.8   391.9   440.1   96.9
Federal coal lease expenditures 178.5   178.2   178.2   118.4   114.7
Acquisitions, net 110.1  –   1,507.8  –   426.6
Balance Sheet Data (at period end)
Total assets (2) $9,822.4   $9,091.2   $9,514.1   $6,852.0   $6,178.6
Total long-term debt 3,156.2   3,273.1   3,277.0   1,332.0   1,362.7
Total stockholders’ equity 2,903.8   2,519.7   2,338.5   2,178.5   1,724.6

(1)  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as income from continuing operations before deducting net interest expense, income taxes, minority interests, asset retirement obligation expense and depreciation, depletion 
and amortization.

(2)  Our asset and liability coal trading derivative positions and other corporate hedging activities are offset on a counterparty-by-counterparty basis if the contractual agreement provides for the net settlement 
of contracts with the counterparty in the event of default or termination of any one contract in accordance with FASB Staff Position FIN 39-1, which was implemented January 1, 2008. The impact of  
netting resulted in a decrease in our total asset figure for 2007. The impact on total assets for 2006, 2005, and 2004 was immaterial.

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as follows, (unaudited): 

Income from continuing operations $ 984.8   $ 440.0   $ 569.9   $ 277.9   $ 181.4
Income tax provision (benefit) 185.8  (72.9) (85.7) 62.3  0.6
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 406.2  352.2  284.2  244.9  205.3
Asset retirement obligation expense 48.2  23.7  14.2  19.9  14.8
Interest expense 226.2  235.0  139.1  98.0  90.9
Interest income (10.1) (7.1) (11.3) (9.1) (4.0)
Minority interests 6.2  (2.3) 0.6  2.5  1.0

Adjusted EBITDA $1,847.3   $ 968.6   $ 911.0   $ 696.4   $ 490.0

All prior years adjusted to reflect continuing operations



20    Peabody Energy

Highlights | Letter to Shareholders | Essential Investment | Essential Energy | Essential Future | Green Coal | Global Operations

2008 Annual Report    21

Financial Data | Management’s Discussion | Management’s Report | Financial Statements | Notes | Board of Directors

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of  
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OveRview
We are the largest private sector coal company in the world, with majority interests in 30 coal 

operations located throughout all major U.S. coal producing regions, except Appalachia, and 
international interests in Australia and Venezuela. In 2008, we produced 223.7 million tons of coal 
and sold 255.5 million tons of coal. Our U.S. sales represented 18% of U.S. coal consumption and 
were approximately 30% greater than the sales of our closest U.S. competitor. 

U.S. coal consumption was approximately 1.1 billion tons in 2008, based on Energy Informa-
tion Administration (EIA) estimates. Coal is primarily used for baseload electricity requirements. 
In 2008, coal’s share of electricity generation was approximately 50%. Between 2007 and 2030, 
the EIA projects coal-based electricity generation to grow 19%, outpacing all other primary fuel 
sources, representing 164 million tons of additional coal demand. During that same time frame, 
new coal-to-liquids facilities for both heat and power and liquids production is projected by 
the EIA to add another 70 million tons of coal demand. Coal production is expected to shift to 
western and interior U.S. locations to offset Appalachian declines. Specifically, production from 
facilities located west of the Mississippi River is projected to provide most of the incremental 
growth, comprising a 61% share of total production in 2030 versus 58% in 2007. 

Global coal consumption has grown faster than any other fuel, averaging nearly 5% per year 
between 2000 and 2007. The International Energy Agency (IEA) projects demand for coal will rise 
more than any other fuel in absolute terms, accounting for over a third of the increase in energy 
use between 2006 and 2030. China and India combined represent 85% of the projected increase 
in world coal demand. Most of the increase in demand for coal comes from the power genera-
tion sector. Global electricity generation is projected by the IEA to rise 76% from 18,921 terawatt 
hours in 2006 to 33,265 terawatt hours in 2030. The IEA estimates 613 gigawatts of new power 
generating capacity is under construction around the world, approximately one-third of which 
is coal-based. The IEA expects coal to remain the main fuel for power generation worldwide, 
comprising 44% of the generation mix in 2030 versus 41% in 2006. In total, the IEA projects 
global primary coal demand will increase 61%, or approximately 2.6 billion tonnes by 2030.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, 82% of our total sales (by volume) were to U.S. 
electricity generators, 16% were to customers outside the U.S. and 2% were to the U.S. industrial 
sector. We typically sell coal to utility customers under long-term contracts (those with terms 
longer than one year). During 2008, approximately 90% of our worldwide sales (by volume) were 
under long-term contracts. As discussed more fully in Item 1A. Risk Factors, as filed as a part of 
the 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), 
our results of operations in the near-term could be negatively impacted by the recent economic 
downturn, poor weather conditions, unforeseen geologic conditions or equipment problems at 
mining locations and by the availability of transportation for coal shipments. On a long-term basis, 
our results of operations could be impacted by our ability to secure or acquire high-quality coal 
reserves, find replacement buyers for coal under contracts with comparable terms to existing 
contracts, or the passage of new or expanded regulations that could limit our ability to mine, 
increase our mining costs, or limit our customers’ ability to utilize coal as fuel for electricity 
generation. In the past, we have achieved production levels that are relatively consistent  
with our projections. We may adjust our production levels further in response to changes in 
market demand. 

We conduct business through four principal operating segments: Western U.S. Mining, 
Midwestern U.S. Mining, Australian Mining and Trading and Brokerage. 

The principal business of the Western and Midwestern U.S. Mining segments is the mining, 
preparation and sale of steam coal, sold primarily to electric utilities. Our Western U.S. Mining 
operations consist of our Powder River Basin, Southwest and Colorado operations and are char-
acterized by predominantly surface extraction processes, lower sulfur content and Btu of coal, 
and higher customer transportation costs (due to longer shipping distances). Geologically, the 
Western U.S. Mining operations mine bituminous and subbituminous coal deposits. 

Our Midwestern U.S. Mining operations consist of our Illinois and Indiana operations and are 
characterized by a mix of surface and underground extraction processes, higher sulfur content 
and Btu of coal and lower customer transportation costs (due to shorter shipping distances). 
Geologically, the Midwestern U.S. Mining operations mine bituminous coal deposits.

Australian Mining operations are characterized by both surface and underground extraction 
processes, mining various qualities of low-sulfur, high Btu coal (metallurgical coal) as well as 
steam coal primarily sold to an international customer base with a small portion sold to Australian 
steel producers and power generators.

We own a 25.5% interest in Carbones del Guasare, which owns and operates the Paso Diablo 
Mine in Venezuela. The Paso Diablo Mine produced approximately 4.8 million tons of steam coal 
in 2008 for export to the U.S. and Europe. During 2008, the Paso Diablo Mine contributed  
$5.7 million to segment Adjusted EBITDA in “Corporate and Other Adjusted EBITDA” and paid a  
dividend of $19.9 million. At December 31, 2008, our investment in Paso Diablo was $54.2 million.

Metallurgical coal is produced primarily from five of our Australian mines. Metallurgical coal 
is approximately 3% of our total sales volume, but represents a larger share of our revenue, 
approximately 23% in 2008. 

In addition to our mining operations, which comprised 90% of revenues in 2008, we generate 
revenues and additional cash flows from our Trading and Brokerage segment (9% of revenues) 
and other activities, including transactions utilizing our vast natural resource position (selling non-
core land holdings and mineral interests). 

We also continue to pursue development of coal-fueled generating and Btu Conversion  
projects in areas of the U.S. where electricity demand is strong and where there is access to land, 
water, transmission lines and low-cost coal. 

Coal-fueled generating projects may involve mine-mouth generating plants using our 
surface lands and coal reserves. Our ultimate role in these projects could take numerous forms, 
including, but not limited to, equity partner, contract miner or coal sales. Currently, we own  
5.06% of the 1,600-megawatt Prairie State Energy Campus that is under construction in  
Washington County, Illinois. 

The long-term demand for oil and natural gas around the world is expected to lead to an 
increase in demand for unconventional sources of transportation fuel. We are exploring Btu 
Conversion projects designed to expand the uses of coal through coal-to-liquids and coal gasifica-
tion technologies. Currently, we are pursuing development of a coal-to-gas facility in Muhlenberg 
County, Kentucky. The facility, known as Kentucky NewGas, is a planned “mine-mouth” gasifica-
tion project using ConocoPhillips proprietary E-Gas(TM) technology to produce clean synthesis 
gas with carbon storage potential. The plant, assuming all necessary permits and financing are 
obtained and following selection of partners and sale of a majority of the output of each plant, 
could be operational following a four-year construction phase. We also own a minority interest in 
GreatPoint Energy, Inc., which is commercializing its coal-to-pipeline quality natural gas technology.

We are participating in the advancement of clean coal technologies, including carbon capture 
and storage, in the U.S., China and Australia. We are a founding member of the FutureGen 
Alliance, a non-profit company working in partnership with the U.S. DOE, which under its new 
configuration, would develop multiple carbon capture and storage sites. We are the only non-
Chinese equity partner in GreenGen, a near-zero emissions coal-fueled power plant with carbon 
capture and storage. And in Australia, we made a 10-year commitment to fund the Australian 
COAL21 Fund designed to support clean coal technology demonstration projects and research  
in Australia.
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ReSulTS OF OpeRATiOnS
The results of operations for all periods presented reflect the assets, liabilities and results  

of operations from subsidiaries spun off as Patriot Coal Corporation (Patriot) as discontinued 
operations. We also have classified as discontinued operations certain non-strategic mining 
assets held for sale where we have committed to the divestiture of such assets and operations 
recently divested.

Adjusted EBITDA
The discussion of our results of operations below includes references to and analysis of our 

segments’ Adjusted EBITDA results. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as income from continuing oper-
ations before deducting net interest expense, income taxes, minority interests, asset retirement 
obligation expense and depreciation, depletion and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA is used by 
management to measure our segments’ operating performance, and management also believes 
it is a useful indicator of our ability to meet debt service and capital expenditure requirements. 
Because Adjusted EBITDA is not calculated identically by all companies, our calculation may not 
be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Adjusted EBITDA is reconciled to 
its most comparable measure, under generally accepted accounting principles, in Note 22 to our 
consolidated financial statements.

YeAR enDeD DeCeMbeR 31, 2008 COMpAReD TO YeAR enDeD  
DeCeMbeR 31, 2007

Summary
Higher average sales prices and volumes across all operating regions, particularly in Australia, 

contributed to a 45.1% increase in revenues to $6.59 billion. Segment Adjusted EBITDA rose 
94.3% to $2.09 billion primarily on the higher pricing mentioned above and favorable results from 
Trading and Brokerage operations. Increases in sales prices and volumes were partially offset by 
higher commodity, material, supply, sales-related and labor costs in all operating regions. Income 
from continuing operations was $984.8 million in 2008, or $3.63 per diluted share, 123.8% above 
2007 income from continuing operations of $440.0 million, or $1.63 per diluted share.

Tons Sold
The following table presents tons sold by operating segment for the years ended December 31, 

2008 and 2007:

      Increase

(Tons in millions) 2008 2007 Tons %

Western U.S. Mining 169.7   161.4   8.3  5.1%

Midwestern U.S. Mining 30.7   29.6   1.1  3.7%

Australian Mining 23.9   21.0   2.9  13.8%

Trading and Brokerage 31.2   24.1   7.1  29.5%

 Total tons sold 255.5   236.1   19.4  8.2%

Revenues 
The following table presents revenues for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

      Increase (Decrease) to Revenues

(Dollars in millions) 2008 2007 $  %

Western U.S. Mining $2,533.1   $2,063.2   $ 469.9  22.8%

Midwestern U.S. Mining 1,154.6   987.1   167.5  17.0%

Australian Mining 2,275.2   1,138.9   1,136.3  99.8%

Trading and Brokerage 601.8   320.7   281.1  87.7%

Other  28.7   35.2   (6.5) (18.5%)

 Total revenues $6,593.4   $4,545.1   $2,048.3  45.1%

Total revenues increased in 2008 compared to the prior year across all operating segments. 
The primary drivers of the increases included the following:

•	 	An	increase	in	average	sales	price	at	our	Australian	Mining	operations	(75.6%),	primarily	
driven by the strength of metallurgical coal prices on our Australia contracts that reprice 
annually in the second quarter of each year. 

•	 	U.S.	Mining	operations’	average	sales	price	increased	over	the	prior	year	(15.2%)	driven	
by the benefit of higher priced coal supply agreements signed in recent years.

•	 	Australia’s	volumes	increased	over	the	prior	year	(13.8%)	from	strong	demand	during	
the first three quarters of 2008 and additional production from recently completed 
mines. Year-over-year increases were partially offset by heavy rainfall and flooding in 
Queensland during the first quarter of 2008 and customer shipment deferrals in the 
fourth quarter of 2008 due to the global economic slowdown. 

•	 	Increased	demand	also	led	to	higher	volumes	across	our	U.S.	operating	segments,	
which overcame slightly lower volumes at some of our Midwestern U.S. Mining surface 
operations due to poor weather in that operating region that impacted production 
during the first and second quarters. The volume increase of 5.1% at our Western  
U.S. Mining operations resulted from greater throughput from capital improvements 
and contributions from our new El Segundo Mine, partially offset by the flooding in the 
midwestern U.S. that impacted railroad shipping performance related to western  
U.S. production during the second quarter of 2008.

•	 	Trading	and	Brokerage	operations’	revenues	increased	over	the	prior	year	due	to	
increased trading positions allowing us to capture market movements derived from the 
volatility of both domestic and international coal markets.

•	 	Also	impacting	year-over-year	revenues	in	our	Western	U.S.	Mining	operations	was	an	
agreement to recover previously recognized postretirement healthcare and reclamation 
costs of $56.9 million in the second quarter of 2008. The agreement is discussed in 
Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Segment Adjusted EBITDA
The following table presents segment Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 

2008 and 2007: 

      Increase (Decrease) to  
      Segment Adjusted EBITDA

(Dollars in millions) 2008 2007 $  %

Western U.S. Mining  $ 681.3   $ 595.4   $ 85.9  14.4%  

Midwestern U.S. Mining 177.3   200.0   (22.7) (11.4%)

Australian Mining 1,017.0   166.1   850.9  512.3%

Trading and Brokerage 218.9   116.6   102.3  87.7%

 Total Segment Adjusted EBITDA $2,094.5   $1,078.1   $1,016.4  94.3%

Adjusted EBITDA from our Western U.S. Mining operations increased in 2008 over the prior 
year primarily driven by an overall increase in average sales prices per ton across the region 
($2.10) and higher volumes in the region due to increased demand and greater throughput as 
a result of capital improvements. Also contributing to the increase was the recovery of postre-
tirement healthcare and reclamation costs discussed above. Partially offsetting the pricing and 
volume contributions were higher per ton costs ($1.78). The cost increases were primarily due to 
higher sales related costs, higher material, supply and labor costs, higher repair and maintenance 
costs in the Powder River Basin and increased commodity costs, net of hedging activities, driven 
by higher average fuel and explosives pricing. 

Midwestern U.S. Mining operations’ Adjusted EBITDA decreased in 2008 as increases in 
average sales price per ton ($4.22) were offset by cost increases resulting from higher costs for 
commodities, net of hedging activities, driven by higher average fuel and explosives prices, as 
well as higher material, supply and labor costs. Heavy rains and flooding in the midwestern U.S. 
affected sales volume at some of our mines, particularly in the first half of the year. Also affecting 
the Midwestern U.S. Mining segment was the decrease in revenues from coal sold to synthetic 
fuel plants in the prior year ($28.9 million) due to the producers exiting the synthetic fuel market 
after expiration of federal tax credits at the end of 2007. 

Our Australian Mining operations’ Adjusted EBITDA increased in 2008 primarily due to higher 
pricing negotiated in the second quarter of 2008 ($40.86 per ton), higher overall volumes as a 
result of strong export demand and contributions from our recently completed mines, and lower 
demurrage costs. These favorable impacts were partially offset by higher fuel costs, an increase 
in labor and overburden removal expenses and higher contractor costs (five of ten Australian 
mines are managed utilizing contract miners). 

Trading and Brokerage operations’ Adjusted EBITDA increased in 2008 over the prior year due 
to increased trading volumes and higher coal price volatility. 

Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Minority Interests
The following table presents income before income taxes and minority interests for the years 

ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

      Increase (Decrease) to Income

(Dollars in millions) 2008  2007  $  %

Total Segment Adjusted EBITDA $2,094.5   $1,078.1   $1,016.4  94.3%

Corporate and Other Adjusted EBITDA (247.2)  (109.5)  (137.7) (125.8%)

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (406.2)  (352.2)  (54.0) (15.3%)

Asset retirement obligation expense (48.2)  (23.7)  (24.5) (103.4%)

Interest expense (226.2)  (235.0)  8.8  3.7%

Interest income 10.1   7.1   3.0  42.3%

Income from continuing operations 
  before income taxes and minority interests $1,176.8   $ 364.8   $ 812.0  222.6%

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interests increased 
over the prior year primarily due to the higher Total Segment Adjusted EBITDA discussed above, 
partially offset by lower Corporate and Other Adjusted EBITDA, higher depreciation, depletion 
and amortization, and higher asset retirement obligation expense. 

Corporate and Other Adjusted EBITDA results include selling and administrative expenses, 
equity income from our joint ventures, net gains on asset disposals, costs associated with past 
mining obligations and revenues and expenses related to our other commercial activities such as 
generation development and Btu Conversion development costs. The decrease in Corporate and 
Other Adjusted EBITDA during 2008 compared to 2007 was due to the following: 

•	 	Higher	selling	and	administrative	expenses	($54.7	million)	primarily	driven	by	an	
increase in performance-based incentive costs and legal expenses;

•	 	Cost	reimbursement	and	partner	fees	received	in	the	prior	year	for	the	Prairie	State	
project, primarily related to the entrance of new project partners ($29.5 million);

•	 	Lower	net	gains	on	disposals	or	exchanges	of	assets	($15.7	million).	2008	activity	
included a gain of $54.0 million on the sale of approximately 58 million tons of non- 
strategic coal reserves and surface lands located in Kentucky. 2007 activity included 
a gain of $50.5 million on the exchange of oil and gas rights and assets in more than 
860,000 acres in the Illinois Basin, West Virginia, New Mexico and the Powder River 
Basin for coal reserves in West Virginia and Kentucky and cash proceeds. The prior year 
also included a gain of $26.4 million on the sale of approximately 172 million tons of 
coal reserves and surface lands to the Prairie State equity partners; and

•	 	Lower	equity	income	($15.5	million)	from	our	25.5%	interest	in	Carbones	del	Guasare	
(owner and operator of the Paso Diablo Mine in Venezuela) and higher costs associated 
with Btu Conversion activities of $14.3 million in 2008.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization was higher in 2008 compared to the prior year 
because of increased depletion across our operating platform resulting from the volume 
increases and the impact of mining higher value coal reserves. In addition, depreciation and 
depletion increases resulted from our recently completed Australian mines and depletion at our 
El Segundo Mine. 

Asset retirement obligation expense increased in 2008 as compared to the prior year due to 
an increase in the ongoing and closed mine reclamation rates that reflect higher fuel, labor and 
re-vegetation costs, as well as an overall increase in the number of acres disturbed. The addition 
of the El Segundo Mine, which was completed in June 2008, also contributed to higher asset 
retirement obligation expense.
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Net Income
The following table presents net income for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

      Increase (Decrease) to Income

(Dollars in millions) 2008  2007  $  %

Income before income taxes and minority interests $1,176.8   $364.8   $812.0  222.6%

Income tax (provision) benefit (185.8)  72.9   (258.7) (354.9%)

Minority interests (6.2)  2.3   (8.5) (369.6%)

 Income from continuing operations 984.8   440.0   544.8  123.8%

Loss from discontinued operations (31.3)  (175.7)  144.4  82.2%

 Net income  $ 953.5   $264.3   $689.2  260.8%

Net income increased in 2008 compared to the prior year due to the increase in income from 
continuing operations before incomes taxes and minority interests discussed above. The tax 
provision increase over the prior year is the result of the current year increased pre-tax earnings 
($292.6 million) combined with the valuation allowance release against federal net operating loss 
credits recognized into income in the prior year ($197.8 million). These increases were partially 
offset by the non-cash tax benefit from the remeasurement of non-U.S. dollar denominated 
income tax accounts as a result of the strengthening of the Australian dollar in 2007 as compared 
to weakening of the Australian dollar in 2008 ($121.3 million), the favorable rate difference 
resulting from higher foreign generated income ($110.8 million) and the release of a valuation 
allowance against a portion of our Australia net operating loss carryforwards in the current year 
($45.3 million) as a result of significantly higher earnings resulting from the higher contract pricing 
that was secured during 2008. Net income for 2008 was also impacted by a lower loss from 
discontinued operations as compared to the prior year due primarily to losses incurred for Patriot 
operations in 2007. The loss from discontinued operations for 2008 related to operating losses, 
net of a gain on sale of assets previously held for sale ($19.6 million) and an $11.7 million write-
off of an excise tax refund receivable (net of tax) as a result of an April 2008 U.S. Supreme Court 
ruling (see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements). 

YeAR enDeD DeCeMbeR 31, 2007 COMpAReD TO YeAR enDeD  
DeCeMbeR 31, 2006 

Summary
Higher average sales prices across all U.S. regions and increased volumes, primarily from 

Australian Mining operations, contributed to a 12.2% increase in revenues to $4.55 billion 
compared to 2006. Segment Adjusted EBITDA increased 3.8% to $1.08 billion primarily on higher 
prices in the Western U.S. Mining operations and increased results from Trading and Brokerage 
operations. Increases in sales volumes and prices in our U.S. mining operations were partially 
offset by challenges experienced during the period such as ongoing shipping constraints from 
port congestion in Australia; geologic and equipment issues, higher commodity costs, as well 
as a weaker U.S. dollar against the Australian Dollar. Also, negatively impacting Australian Mining 
results was lower metallurgical coal prices associated with annual contracts that began in April 
2007. Income from continuing operations was $440.0 million in 2007, or $1.63 per diluted share, 
a decrease of 22.8% from 2006 income from continuing operations of $569.9 million, or  
$2.12 per diluted share.

Tons Sold
The following table presents tons sold by operating segment for the years ended December 31, 

2007 and 2006:

      Increase

(Tons in millions) 2007 2006 Tons %

Western U.S. Mining 161.4   160.5   0.9  0.6%

Midwestern U.S. Mining 29.6   28.7   0.9  3.1%

Australian Mining 21.0   10.8   10.2  94.4%

Trading and Brokerage 24.1   21.4   2.7  12.6%

 Total tons sold 236.1   221.4   14.7  6.6%

Revenues
The table below presents revenues for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

      Increase (Decrease) to Revenues

(Dollars in millions) 2007 2006 $  %

Western U.S. Mining $2,063.2   $1,703.4   $359.8  21.1%

Midwestern U.S. Mining 987.1   858.5   128.6  15.0%

Australian Mining 1,138.9   833.0   305.9  36.7%

Trading and Brokerage 320.7   652.0   (331.3) (50.8%)

Other  35.2   4.0   31.2  780.0%

 Total revenues $4,545.1   $4,050.9   $494.2  12.2%

Total revenues increased in 2007 compared to 2006 across all mining operations. The primary 
drivers of the increases included the following:

•	 	Prices	in	our	Western	U.S.	Mining	operations	increased	due	to	a	sales	realization	
increase of approximately 29% for our premium Powder River Basin product and an 
average increase across all U.S. regions of 16%. 

•	 	Midwestern	U.S.	Mining	revenues	increased	due	to	higher	revenues	from	coal	sold	to	
synthetic fuel plants as those plants were idled for part of 2006.

•	 	Increased	volumes	from	our	Australian	Mining	operations.	Volumes	related	to	opera-
tions acquired in the October 2006 Excel acquisition accounted for 10.9 million tons 
of the increase to tons sold. Offsetting this increase was lower average sales prices in 
our Australian Mining operations related to lower metallurgical contract pricing and a 
significant change in sales mix resulting in higher thermal export and domestic product 
sales. Volumes were unfavorably impacted at some of our Australian Mining operations 
as a result of damaged rails and further amplified port and rail congestion throughout 
the year, in addition to adverse weather events that affected production.

•	 	Partially	offsetting	sales	price	and	volume	increases	was	the	continued	shift	towards	
trading contracts versus brokerage contracts in our Trading and Brokerage operations. 
Trading and Brokerage operations’ sales decreased during 2007 as the amount of 
brokerage business was reduced and replacement business was in the form of traded 
contracts. Contracts for trading activity are recorded at net margin in other revenues, 
whereas contracts for brokerage activity are recorded at gross sales price to revenues 
and operating costs.
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Segment Adjusted EBITDA
The following table presents segment Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 

2007 and 2006:

      Increase (Decrease) to  
      Segment Adjusted EBITDA

(Dollars in millions) 2007 2006 $  %

Western U.S. Mining $ 595.4   $ 473.1   $122.3  25.9%  

Midwestern U.S. Mining  200.0   186.2   13.8  7.4%  

Australian Mining  166.1   286.8   (120.7) (42.1%)

Trading and Brokerage 116.6   92.6   24.0  25.9%

 Total Segment Adjusted EBITDA  $1,078.1   $1,038.7   $ 39.4  3.8%  

Adjusted EBITDA from our Western U.S. Mining operations increased in 2007 over 2006 
primarily related to the overall increase in average sales prices from our Powder River Basin 
operations. Partially offsetting higher average sales prices were higher costs associated with 
equipment repairs and maintenance and higher add-on taxes and royalties driven by higher sales 
prices compared to the prior year, mine shutdown for maintenance in our Colorado mine, higher 
fuel costs and adverse weather conditions in the Powder River Basin and capital project delays. 

Midwestern U.S. Mining operations’ Adjusted EBITDA increased in 2007 over 2006 as both 
volumes and prices per ton saw moderate increases. Results improved compared to 2006 
as benefits of higher volumes and sales prices were offset by higher costs for commodities, 
including fuel. The 2007 results were also positively impacted by higher revenues from coal sold 
to synthetic fuel facilities of $12.5 million as customers idled their synthetic fuel plants for a 
portion of 2006. 

Our Australian Mining operations’ Adjusted EBITDA decreased in 2007 from 2006 primarily 
due to approximately $31 million of higher costs resulting from the weakening U.S. dollar (higher 
costs of approximately $112 million were offset by hedging gains of $81 million); higher conges-
tion-related demurrage costs (approximately $50 million); lower pricing on annually repriced 
metallurgical coal contracts; and, rail and port congestion at Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal and the 
Port of Newcastle. Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal had been experiencing queues of over 41 vessels 
(approximately a 24-day load time) down from 50 vessels in the second quarter (approximately a 
34-day delay). Partially offsetting these decreases were the full year contributions from our mines 
acquired in the Excel acquisition and a $6.3 million insurance recovery on a business interruption 
claim in the first half of 2007. Our Australian mines acquired in 2006 experienced shipping difficul-
ties and damaged rail lines resulting from a storm late in 2007. The Port of Newcastle was closed 
for several days in 2007 due to a storm, with up to 79 vessels in the queue (a 35 – 40 day wait). 

Trading and Brokerage operations’ Adjusted EBITDA increased in 2007 over 2006 as the 
results reflected higher international trading gains, resulting from higher volumes and pricing 
due to expanded global trading activities, strong supply/demand fundamentals and tightened 
seaborne market conditions.

Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Minority Interests
The following table presents income before income taxes and minority interests for the years 

ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

      Increase (Decrease) to Income

(Dollars in millions) 2007  2006  $  %

Total Segment Adjusted EBITDA $1,078.1   $1,038.7   $ 39.4  3.8%

Corporate and Other Adjusted EBITDA (109.5)  (127.7)  18.2  14.3%

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (352.2)  (284.2)  (68.0) (23.9%)

Asset retirement obligation expense (23.7)  (14.2)  (9.5) (66.9%)

Interest expense (235.0)  (139.1)  (95.9) (68.9%)

Interest income 7.1   11.3   (4.2) (37.2%)

Income from continuing operations 
  before income taxes and minority interests $ 364.8   $ 484.8   $(120.0) (24.8%)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interests in 2007 was 
lower than 2006 primarily due to higher interest expense and higher depreciation, depletion and 
amortization related to the acquisition of Excel in late 2006.

Corporate and Other Adjusted EBITDA results include selling and administrative expenses, 
equity income from our joint ventures, net gains on asset disposals or exchanges, costs associ-
ated with past mining obligations and revenues and expenses related to our other commercial 
activities such as generation development, Btu Conversion development and resource manage-
ment. The improvement in Corporate and Other Adjusted EBITDA in 2007 compared to 2006 
includes the following:

•	 	Higher	gains	on	asset	disposals	and	exchanges	of	$35.1	million.	The	2007	activity	
included a gain of $26.4 million on the sale of approximately 172 million tons of coal 
reserves to the Prairie State equity partners. Our 2007 activity also included a gain of 
$50.5 million on the exchange of our coalbed methane and oil and gas rights in the 
Illinois Basin, West Virginia, New Mexico and the Powder River Basin for high-Btu coal 
reserves located in West Virginia and Kentucky and cash proceeds. In comparison, the 
2006 activity included a $39.2 million gain on an exchange with the Bureau of Land 
Management of approximately 63 million tons of leased coal reserves at our Caballo 
mining operation for approximately 46 million tons of coal reserves contiguous with our 
North Antelope Rochelle mining operation and other gains on asset disposals totaling 
$14.3 million; 

•	 	Higher	past	mining	obligation	expenses	of	$15.5	million	resulting	from	increased	retiree	
healthcare costs due to higher than anticipated healthcare utilization by retirees, particu-
larly related to prescription drugs;

•	 	Higher	selling	and	administrative	expenses	of	$19.1	million	primarily	resulting	from	
the implementation of a new enterprise resource planning system and other corporate 
development initiatives; and

•	 	Lower	equity	income	of	$6.8	million	from	our	25.5%	interest	in	Carbones	del	Guasare	
(owner and operator of the Paso Diablo Mine in Venezuela), which primarily resulted 
from trucking issues experienced earlier in the year, a temporary shortage of explosives 
and delays in receiving equipment, which impacted operations.
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Depreciation, depletion and amortization increased $68.0 million primarily related to the  
addition of the Australian operations acquired in late 2006.

Interest expense increased $95.9 million primarily due to approximately $1.8 billion in new 
debt issued or assumed as part of the Excel acquisition in the second half of 2006.

Net Income
The following table presents net income for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

      Increase (Decrease) to Income

(Dollars in millions) 2007  2006  $  %

Income before income taxes and minority interests $364.8   $484.8   $(120.0) (24.8%)

Income tax benefit 72.9   85.7   (12.8) (14.9%)

Minority interests 2.3   (0.6)  2.9  483.3%

 Income from continuing operations 440.0   569.9   (129.9) (22.8%)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (175.7)  30.8   (206.5) (670.5%)

Net income  $264.3   $600.7   $(336.4) (56.0%)

Income from continuing operations decreased in 2007 compared to prior year due to the 
decrease in income before income taxes and minority interests discussed above and a lower 
income tax benefit compared to 2006. The decrease in the income tax benefit for the year ended 
2007 related primarily to a $56.0 million foreign currency impact on deferred taxes as a result 
of increases in Australian dollar/U.S. dollar exchange rates and $33.2 million lower tax reserves 
than in 2006. This decrease was partially offset by lower pre-tax income, a $10.3 million increase 
in released valuation allowances and $24.3 million of additional tax credits. Minority interests 
increased primarily from the absorption of losses in excess of the minority interest capital contri-
bution at one of our mines, partially offset by lower earnings allocable to partners. 

OuTlOOk 

Near-Term Outlook
The current global financial slowdown has reduced gross domestic product expectations for 

U.S., China and other major world economies, which is expected to temper the growth of coal 
demand in the near term. As a result, we expect our 2009 prices to be lower than 2008 levels 
for our unpriced 2009 Australian-based metallurgical and thermal coal (see further discussion of 
unpriced coal below).

Fourth quarter 2008 global steel production declined 19% compared to fourth quarter 2007 
due to the softening worldwide economies. Steel production in 2009 is anticipated to be as much 
as 20% lower than 2008. We estimate lower steel production will reduce 2009 seaborne metal-
lurgical coal demand up to 40 million metric tonnes. In response to expected declines in demand, 
met coal producers have been reducing planned production levels. As of January 2009, approxi-
mately 30 million metric tonnes of seaborne met coal production cuts have been announced. 

In January 2009, we announced planned production cuts of up to 2 million tons of Australian-
based metallurgical coal to match expected changes in demand due to the global recession. 
As of January 2009, we have 4 to 5 million tons of expected Australian-based metallurgical coal 
production available to be priced for the last three quarters of 2009.

By the end of 2008, published thermal coal prices in most major markets declined from their 
mid-2008 highs, largely reversing gains from the first half of 2008. The decline was initiated by 
the accelerated liquidation of positions by financial counterparties that was followed by mild 
weather across the northern hemisphere during the third quarter of 2008 and the onset of the 
global economic downturn over the second half of the year. 

As of January 2009, we have 5 to 6 million tons of Australian-based thermal coal available to 
be priced for the last three quarters of 2009. 

In the U.S., declining gross domestic product is expected to lead to reduced electricity 
demand for 2009. In addition, higher-than-normal stockpiles, low natural gas prices and lower  
U.S. exports could dampen 2009 U.S. coal demand by up to 60 to 70 million tons. U.S. coal 
production is adjusting to anticipated changes in demand, with approximately 40 million tons  
of announced production cuts from 50% of the U.S. production base as of January 2009. 

In January 2009, we announced planned reductions in 2009 Powder River Basin production of 
10 million tons to better match production with expected demand. Our U.S. production is largely 
sold out for 2009. 

We are targeting full-year 2009 production of 190 to 195 million tons in the U.S. and 22 to  
24 million tons in Australia with total sales in the range of 230 to 250 million tons. 

We rely on ongoing access to the worldwide financial markets for capital, insurance, hedging 
and investments through a wide variety of financial instruments and contracts. To the extent 
these markets are not available or increase significantly in cost, this could have a negative impact 
on our ability to meet our business goals. Similarly many of our customers and suppliers rely 
on the availability of the financial markets to secure the necessary financing and financial surety 
(letters of credit, performance bonds, etc.) to complete transactions with us. To the extent 
customers and suppliers are not able to secure this financial support, it could have a negative 
impact on our results of operations and/or counterparty credit exposure.

We continue to manage costs and operating performance to mitigate external cost  
pressures, geologic conditions and potentially adverse port and rail performance. We have 
experienced increases in operating costs related to fuel, explosives, steel, tires, contract mining 
and healthcare, and have taken measures to mitigate the increases in these costs, including a 
company-wide initiative to instill best practices at all operations. We may also encounter poor 
geologic conditions, lower third-party contract miner or brokerage performance or unforeseen 
equipment problems that limit our ability to produce at forecasted levels. To the extent upward 
pressure on costs exceeds our ability to realize sales increases, or if we experience unanticipated 
operating or transportation difficulties, our operating margins would be negatively impacted.  
See Cautionary Notice Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Item 1A., of the 2008 Annual 
Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC, for additional considerations regarding our outlook.

Long-Term Outlook
Given the current global economic conditions, the near-term is less certain. However, our long-

term outlook remains positive. Coal has been the fastest-growing fuel for each of the past five 
years, with consumption growing nearly twice as fast as total energy use.

The IEA’s World Energy Outlook estimates world primary energy demand will grow 45% 
between 2006 and 2030, with demand for coal rising more than any other fuel and comprising 
more than a third of the expected increase in energy use. China and India alone account for more 
than half of the expected incremental energy demand. Currently, 200 gigawatts of coal-fueled  
electricity generating plants are under construction around the world, representing nearly  
700 million tons of annual coal demand expected to come online in the next several years.  
In the U.S., 30 units are currently under construction in 19 states, representing more than  
16 gigawatts of capacity and approximately 70 million tons of annual coal demand.
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We believe that Btu Conversion applications such as coal-to-gas (CTG) and coal-to-liquids 
(CTL) plants represent a significant avenue for potential long-term industry growth. The EIA 
continues to project an increase in demand for unconventional sources of transportation fuel, 
including CTL, which is estimated to add 70 million tons of annual U.S. coal demand by 2030.  
In addition, China and India are developing CTG and CTL facilities.

Enactment of laws and passage of regulations regarding greenhouse gas emissions by the 
U.S. or some of its states or by other countries, or other actions to limit carbon dioxide emissions, 
could result in electricity generators switching from coal to other fuel sources. We continue to 
support clean coal technology development and voluntary initiatives addressing global climate 
change through our participation as a founding member of the FutureGen Alliance and the  
Australian COAL21 Fund, and through our participation in the Power Systems Development 
Facility, the PowerTree Carbon Company LLC, the Midwest Geological Sequestration Consortium 
and the Asia-Pacific Partnership for Clean Development and Climate. In addition, we are the only 
non-Chinese equity partner in GreenGen, a planned near-zero emissions coal-fueled power plant 
with carbon capture and storage which is under development in China.

CRiTiCAl ACCOunTing pOliCieS AnD eSTiMATeS 
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and 

capital resources is based upon our financial statements, which have been prepared in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. Generally accepted accounting 
principles require that we make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates. We base our estimates on historical 
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circum-
stances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

Employee-Related Liabilities 
We have long-term liabilities for our employees’ postretirement benefit costs and defined 

benefit pension plans. Detailed information related to these liabilities is included in Notes 14  
and 15 to our consolidated financial statements. Liabilities for postretirement benefit costs  
and workers’ compensation obligations are not funded. Our pension obligations are funded in 
accordance with the provisions of federal law. Expense for the year ended December 31, 2008  
for the pension and postretirement liabilities totaled $74.4 million, while funding payments were  
$89.5 million.

Each of these liabilities are actuarially determined and we use various actuarial assumptions, 
including the discount rate and future cost trends, to estimate the costs and obligations for these 
items. Our discount rate is determined by utilizing a hypothetical bond portfolio model which 
approximates the future cash flows necessary to service our liabilities.

We make assumptions related to future trends for medical care costs in the estimates of 
retiree health care and work-related injuries and illnesses obligations. Our medical trend assump-
tion is developed by annually examining the historical trend of our cost per claim data. In addition, 
we make assumptions related to future compensation increases and rates of return on plan 
assets in the estimates of pension obligations.

If our assumptions do not materialize as expected, actual cash expenditures and costs that 
we incur could differ materially from our current estimates. Moreover, regulatory changes could 
increase our obligation to satisfy these or additional obligations. For our postretirement health 
care liability, assumed discount rates and health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on 
the expense and liability amounts reported for health care plans. Below we have provided two 
separate sensitivity analyses to demonstrate the significance of these assumptions in relation to 
reported amounts.

      One Percentage-  One Percentage-  
(Dollars in millions)    Point Increase  Point Decrease

Healthcare cost trend rate:

Effect on total service and interest cost components (1)    $ 6.6   $ (5.7)

Effect on total postretirement benefit obligation (1)    $ 79.7   $(68.5)

      One-Half  One-Half  
      Percentage-  Percentage-  
(Dollars in millions)    Point Increase  Point Decrease

Discount rate: 

Effect on total service and interest cost components (1)    $ 0.8   $ (0.8)

Effect on total postretirement benefit obligation (1)    $(39.1)  $ 41.1

(1)   In addition to the effect on total service and interest cost components of expense, changes in trend and discount rates would also increase or 
decrease the actuarial gain or loss amortization expense component. The gain or loss amortization would approximate the increase or decrease in 
the obligation divided by 10.68 years at December 31, 2008.

Asset Retirement Obligations
Our asset retirement obligations primarily consist of spending estimates for surface land recla-

mation and support facilities at both surface and underground mines in accordance with federal 
and state reclamation laws in the U.S. and Australia as defined by each mining permit. Asset 
retirement obligations are determined for each mine using various estimates and assumptions 
including, among other items, estimates of disturbed acreage as determined from engineering 
data, estimates of future costs to reclaim the disturbed acreage and the timing of these cash 
flows, discounted using a credit-adjusted, risk-free rate. As changes in estimates occur (such 
as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated costs, or changes in timing of the reclamation 
activities), the obligation and asset are revised to reflect the new estimate after applying the 
appropriate credit-adjusted, risk-free rate. If our assumptions do not materialize as expected, 
actual cash expenditures and costs that we incur could be materially different than currently esti-
mated. Moreover, regulatory changes could increase our obligation to perform reclamation and 
mine closing activities. Asset retirement obligation expense for the year ended December 31,  
2008 was $48.2 million, and payments totaled $11.4 million. See Note 13 to our consolidated 
financial statements for additional details regarding our asset retirement obligations.

Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income 

Taxes” (SFAS No. 109), which requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using 
enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the book and tax bases of 
recorded assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 109 also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced 
by a valuation allowance if it is “more likely than not” that some portion or all of the deferred tax 
asset will not be realized. In our annual evaluation of the need for a valuation allowance, we take 
into account various factors, including the expected level of future taxable income and available 
tax planning strategies. If actual results differ from the assumptions made in our annual evalua-
tion of our valuation allowance, we may record a change in valuation allowance through income 
tax expense in the period such determination is made. 

Interpretation No. 48 (FIN No. 48) “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpreta-
tion of FASB Statement No. 109”) prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute 
for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected 
to be taken in a tax return. FIN No. 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. We adopted this 
interpretation effective January 1, 2007. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for 
additional details regarding the effect of income taxes.
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Revenue Recognition
In general, we recognize revenues when they are realizable and earned. We generated 92% of 

our revenue in 2008 from the sale of coal to our customers. Revenue from coal sales is realized 
and earned when risk of loss passes to the customer. Under the typical terms of our coal supply 
agreements, title and risk of loss transfer to the customer at the mine or port, where coal is 
loaded to the rail, barge, ocean-going vessel, truck or other transportation source(s) that delivers 
coal to its destination. 

With respect to other revenues, other operating income, or gains on asset sales recognized in 
situations unrelated to the shipment of coal, we carefully review the facts and circumstances of 
each transaction and apply the relevant accounting literature as appropriate, and do not recog-
nize revenue until the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; 
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or 
determinable; and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Trading Activities 
We engage in the buying and selling of coal, freight and emissions allowances, both in over-

the-counter markets and on exchanges. Under the provision of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” all derivative coal trading contracts are accounted 
for on a fair value (as defined by SFAS No. 157) basis, except those that qualify for and the 
Company has elected to apply a normal purchases and normal sales exception. For certain of our 
derivative coal trading contracts, we establish fair values using bid/ask price quotations obtained 
from multiple, independent third-party brokers to value coal, freight and emission allowance posi-
tions from the over-the-counter market. Prices from these sources are then averaged to obtain 
trading position values. We could experience difficulty in valuing our market positions if the 
number of third-party brokers should decrease or market liquidity is reduced. For our exchange-
based positions, we utilize published settlement prices. Non-derivative coal contracts, including 
those that qualify for and the Company has elected to apply a normal purchases and normal sales 
exception, are accounted for on an accrual basis. 

As of December 31, 2008, 94% of the contracts in our trading portfolio were valued utilizing 
prices from over-the-counter market sources, adjusted for coal quality and traded transportation 
differentials. As of December 31, 2008, 75% of the estimated future value of our trading portfolio 
was scheduled to be realized by the end of 2009 and 88% within 24 months. See Note 3 and 
Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements for additional details regarding assets and liabili-
ties from our coal trading activities.

Fair Value Measurements
We use various methods to determine the fair value of financial assets and liabilities using 

market-quoted inputs for valuation or corroboration as available. We utilize market data or 
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the particular asset or liability, 
including assumptions about inherent risk. We primarily apply the market approach for recurring 
fair value measurements utilizing the best available information. 

We consider credit and nonperformance risk in the fair value measurement by analyzing  
the counterparty’s exposure balance, credit rating and average default rate, net of any counter-
party credit enhancements (e.g., collateral), as well as our own credit rating for financial  
derivative liabilities. 

We evaluate the quality and reliability of the assumptions and data used to measure fair value 
in the three hierarchy levels, Level 1, 2 and 3, as prescribed by SFAS No. 157 (see Note 3 and 
Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information). Commodity swaps 
and options and physical commodity purchase/sale contracts transacted in less liquid markets 
or contracts, such as long-term arrangements, with limited price availability were classified in 
Level 3. Indicators of less liquid markets are those which our positions extend out to periods 
where there is low trade activity or where broker quotes reflect wide pricing spreads. Generally, 
these instruments or contracts are valued using internally generated models that include quotes 
from one to three reputable brokers where forward pricing curves are projected. Our valuation 
techniques also include basis adjustments for heat rate, sulfur and ash content, port and freight 
costs, and credit and nonperformance risk. We validate our valuation inputs with third-party infor-
mation and settlement prices from other sources where available.

We have consistently applied these valuation techniques in all periods presented, and believe 
we have obtained the most accurate information available for the types of derivative contracts 
held. Valuation changes from period to period for each level will increase or decrease depending 
on: (i) the relative change in fair for positions held, (ii) new positions added, (iii) realized amounts 
for completed trades, and (iv) transfers between levels. Our coal trading strategies utilize various 
swaps and derivative physical contracts, which are categorized by level in the table below. 
Periodic changes in fair value for purchase and sale positions, which are executed to lock in coal 
trading spreads, occur in each level and therefore the overall change in value of our coal-trading 
platform requires consideration of valuation changes across all levels.

Net assets (liabilities) related to coal trading activities at December 31, 2008 and 2007 are  
as follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2008  2007   Increase (Decrease)

Level 1 $ (17.0)  $ 5.9    $ (22.9)

Level 2  337.8   (86.6)   424.4  

Level 3  37.8   128.7    (90.9)

Total   $358.6  $ 48.0    $310.6  

Our coal-trading platform includes positions designed to secure forward pricing for some of 
our production (i.e. cash flow hedges wherein the effective portion of the change in the fair value 
is recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity until the hedged transaction occurs) 
as well as positions designed to generate current period trading results. Overall pricing increases 
since December 31, 2007 and higher trading volumes, particularly from our international trading 
activities, have increased the value of our coal-trading portfolio during 2008. As a result, segment 
Adjusted EBITDA from our Trading and Brokerage segment totaled $218.9 million compared to 
$116.6 million in 2007. The fair value of coal trading positions designated as cash flow hedges of  
anticipated future sales was an asset of $220.4 million as of December 31, 2008 and a liability of  
$44.1 million as of December 31, 2007 (primarily classified as Level 2). The estimated realization  
of our aggregate coal trading portfolio of $358.6 million is 75% in 2009 and 88% within two years.
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Level 3 Net Financial Asset (Liability) Detail
The Level 3 net financial assets (liabilities) as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

(Dollars in millions)    Net financial assets (liabilities)

Physical commodity purchase/sale contracts – coal trading activities    $ 38.9

Commodity swaps and options – coal trading activities     (1.1)

 Total net Level 3 financial assets     $ 37.8  

Total net financial assets (liabilities) measured at fair value     $(129.2)

Percent of Level 3 net financial assets to total net financial assets (liabilities) measured at fair value Not meaningful (1)

(1)   Percentage of Level 3 net financial assets compared to total net financial assets (liabilities) is not meaningful due to overall liability position as of 
December 31, 2008.

The following table summarizes the changes in our recurring Level 3 net financial assets for 
the year ended December 31, 2008:

(Dollars in millions)

Beginning of period      $128.7

Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):

 Included in earnings      (9.8)

 Included in other comprehensive income      3.4

Purchases, issuances and settlements      (58.8)

Net transfers out      (25.7)

December 31, 2008      $ 37.8

The following table summarizes the changes in unrealized gains (losses) relating to Level 3 net 
financial assets still held as January 1 and December 31, 2008:

(Dollars in millions)

Changes in unrealized losses (1)      $(34.8)

(1)   For the periods presented, unrealized gains and losses from Level 3 items are offset by unrealized gains and losses on positions classified in  
Level 1 or 2, as well as other positions that have been realized during the applicable periods.

Exploration and Drilling Costs
Exploration expenditures are charged to operating costs as incurred, including costs related to 

drilling and study costs incurred to convert or upgrade mineral resources to reserves.

Advance Stripping Costs 
Pre-production: At existing surface operations, additional pits may be added to increase 

production capacity in order to meet customer requirements. These expansions may require 
significant capital to purchase additional equipment, expand the workforce, build or improve 
existing haul roads and create the initial pre-production box cut to remove overburden (i.e., 
advance stripping costs) for new pits at existing operations. If these pits operate in a separate 
and distinct area of the mine, the costs associated with initially uncovering coal (i.e., advance 
stripping costs incurred for the initial box cuts) for production are capitalized and amortized over 
the life of the developed pit consistent with coal industry practices. 

Post-production: Advance stripping costs related to post-production are expensed as incurred. 
Where new pits are routinely developed as part of a contiguous mining sequence, we expense 
such costs as incurred. The development of a contiguous pit typically reflects the planned 
progression of an existing pit, thus maintaining production levels from the same mining area 
utilizing the same employee group and equipment.

Share-Based Compensation
We account for share-based compensation in accordance with the fair value recognition 

provisions of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)), which we 
adopted using the modified prospective option on January 1, 2006. Under SFAS No. 123(R), 
share-based compensation expense is generally measured at the grant date and recognized as 
expense over the vesting period of the award. We utilize restricted stock, nonqualified stock 
options, performance units, deferred stock units and an employee stock purchase plan as part of 
our share-based compensation program. Determining fair value requires us to make a number of 
assumptions, including items such as expected term, risk-free rate, forfeiture rate and expected 
volatility. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based awards represent 
our best estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of 
management judgment. Although we believe the assumptions and estimates we have made 
are reasonable and appropriate, changes in assumptions could materially impact our reported 
financial results.

liquiDiTY AnD CApiTAl ReSOuRCeS
Our primary sources of cash include sales of our coal production to customers, cash 

generated from our trading and brokerage activities, sales of non-core assets and financing 
transactions, including the sale of our accounts receivable (through our securitization program). 
Our primary uses of cash include our cash costs of coal production, capital expenditures, federal 
coal lease payments, interest costs and costs related to past mining obligations as well as 
acquisitions. Our ability to pay dividends, service our debt (interest and principal) and acquire 
new productive assets or businesses is dependent upon our ability to continue to generate cash 
from the primary sources noted above in excess of the primary uses. Future dividends and share 
repurchases, among other restricted items, are subject to limitations imposed in the covenants 
of our 5.875% and 6.875% Senior Notes and Debentures. We generally fund all of our capital 
expenditure requirements with cash generated from operations. 

We believe our available borrowing capacity and operating cash flows will be sufficient in the 
near term. As of December 31, 2008, we had $1.5 billion of available borrowing capacity under 
our Senior Unsecured Credit Facility, net of outstanding letters of credit. The Senior Unsecured 
Credit Facility matures on September 15, 2011.

Our two defined benefit pension plans, which have approximately 45% of their assets 
invested in equity securities, experienced negative returns in 2008 due to recent equity market 
performance. The Pension Protection Act of 2006 (the Pension Protection Act), which was effec-
tive January 1, 2008, increased the long-term funding targets for single employer pension plans 
from 90% to 100%. In addition, the Pension Protection Act restricts “at risk” (generally defined 
as under 80% funded) plans from making lump sum payments and increasing benefits unless 
they are funded immediately, and also requires that the plan give participants notice regarding 
the at-risk status of the plan. If a plan falls below 60%, lump sum payments are prohibited and 
participant benefit accruals cease.

As of December 31, 2008, our pension plans were approximately 68% funded, before consid-
ering planned 2009 contributions. Our minimum funding requirement for 2009 is approximately 
$25 million, and would result in a funded status above 70%. 
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Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations for 2008 increased 
$956.1 million compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily related to a current year 
increase in operating cash flows generated from our Australian mining operations and the timing 
of cash flows for working capital driven by an increase in income tax amounts that will be payable 
in future periods. 

Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations decreased $7.4 million in  
2008 compared to the prior year. The decrease primarily reflects lower capital spending of  
$160.5 million in 2008, mostly offset by the acquisition of minority interests of $110.1 million 
relating to our Millennium Mine, and a decrease in cash proceeds of $46.8 million, net of notes 
receivable, related to asset disposals. 

Net cash used in financing activities reflects a use of $375.8 million in 2008 compared to  
$44.7 million of cash provided by financing activities in 2007. The increase in the use of cash in 
2008 is primarily due to the repurchase of $199.8 million of our outstanding common stock,  
$97.7 million to repay the borrowings on our Revolving Credit Facility, and debt repayments of 
$32.7 million, including payments of $18.8 million on our Term Loan under the Senior Unsecured 
Credit Facility. During 2007, we repaid $37.9 million of our Term Loan and purchased in the open 
market $13.8 million face value of our 5.875% Senior Notes due 2016. We also made the final 
principal payment of $59.5 million on our 5% Subordinated Note. Our Revolving Credit Facility 
balance increased $97.7 million in 2007 as it was utilized to fund cash contributions to Patriot at 
the spin-off date.

Our total indebtedness as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

(Dollars in millions)    2008 2007

Term Loan under Senior Unsecured Credit Facility     $ 490.3   $ 509.1 

Revolving Credit Facility    – 97.7 

Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures due 2066   732.5  732.5 

7.375% Senior Notes due 2016    650.0  650.0 

6.875% Senior Notes due 2013    650.0  650.0 

7.875% Senior Notes due 2026    247.0  247.0 

5.875% Senior Notes due 2016    218.1  218.1 

6.84% Series C Bonds due 2016    43.0  43.0 

6.34% Series B Bonds due 2014    18.0  21.0 

6.84% Series A Bonds due 2014    10.0  10.0 

Capital lease obligations    81.2  92.2 

Fair value hedge adjustment    15.1  1.6 

Other     1.0  0.9 

 Total      $3,156.2   $3,273.1

We were in compliance with all of the covenants of the Senior Unsecured Credit Facility, the 
6.875% Senior Notes, the 5.875% Senior Notes, the 7.375% Senior Notes, the 7.875% Senior 
Notes and the Debentures as of December 31, 2008.

Senior Unsecured Credit Facility
In September 2006, we entered into a Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, which 

established a $2.75 billion Senior Unsecured Credit Facility and which amended and restated in 
full our then existing $1.35 billion Senior Secured Credit Facility. The Senior Unsecured Credit 
Facility provides a $1.8 billion Revolving Credit Facility and a $950.0 million Term Loan Facility. 
The Revolving Credit Facility is intended to accommodate working capital needs, letters of credit, 
the funding of capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes. The Revolving Credit 
Facility also includes a $50.0 million sub-facility available for same-day swingline loan borrowings. 

Loans under the facility are available in U.S. dollars, with a sub-facility under the Revolving 
Credit Facility available in Australian dollars, pounds sterling and euros. Letters of credit under the 
Revolving Credit Facility are available to us in U.S. dollars with a sub-facility available in Australian 
dollars, pounds sterling and euros. The interest rate payable on the Revolving Credit Facility and 
the Term Loan Facility under the Senior Unsecured Credit Facility is based on a pricing grid tied 
to our leverage ratio, as defined in the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. Currently, 
the interest rate payable on the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan Facility is LIBOR plus 
0.75%, which at December 31, 2008 was 2.2%. 

Under the Senior Unsecured Credit Facility, we must comply with certain financial covenants 
on a quarterly basis including a minimum interest coverage ratio and a maximum leverage ratio, 
as defined in the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The financial covenants also 
place limitations on our investments in joint ventures, unrestricted subsidiaries, indebtedness 
of non-loan parties, and the imposition of liens on our assets. The new facility is less restrictive 
with respect to limitations on our dividend payments, capital expenditures, asset sales or stock 
repurchases. The Senior Unsecured Credit Facility matures on September 15, 2011.

As of December 31, 2008, we had no borrowings and $245.1 million letters of credit 
outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility. Our Revolving Credit Facility is primarily used for 
standby letters of credit and short-term working capital needs. The remaining available borrowing 
capacity ($1.5 billion as of December 31, 2008) can be used to fund strategic acquisitions or meet 
other financing needs, including additional standby letters of credit. 

Other Long-Term Debt 
A description of our other debt instruments is described in Note 12 to the consolidated  

financial statements.

Third-Party Security Ratings
The ratings for our Senior Unsecured Credit Facility and our Senior Unsecured Notes are as 

follows: Moody’s has issued a Ba1 rating, Standard & Poor’s a BB+ rating, and Fitch has issued 
a BB+ rating. The ratings on our Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures are as follows: 
Moody’s has issued a Ba3 rating, Standard & Poor’s a B+ rating, and Fitch has issued a BB- 
rating. These security ratings reflected the views of the rating agency only. An explanation of  
the significance of these ratings may be obtained from the rating agency. Such ratings are not  
a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities, but rather an indication of creditworthiness.  
Any rating can be revised upward or downward or withdrawn at any time by a rating agency  
if it decides that the circumstances warrant the change. Each rating should be evaluated  
independently of any other rating.

Shelf Registration Statement
On July 28, 2006, we filed an automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-3 as a well-

known seasoned issuer with the SEC. The registration was for an indeterminate number of 
securities and is effective for three years, at which time we expect to be able to file an automatic 
shelf registration statement that would become immediately effective for another three-year 
term. Under this universal shelf registration statement, we have the capacity to offer and sell 
from time to time securities, including common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants 
and units. The Debentures, 7.375% Senior Notes due 2016 and 7.875% Senior Notes due 2026 
were issued pursuant to the shelf registration statement.
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Share Repurchase Program
In July 2005, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to 5% of the 

then outstanding shares of our common stock, approximately 13 million shares. The repurchases 
may be made from time to time based on an evaluation of our outlook and general business 
conditions, as well as alternative investment and debt repayment options. In addition, our Board 
of Directors had previously authorized our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer to repurchase 
up to $100 million of our common stock outside the repurchase program. In October 2008, our 
Board of Directors amended the share repurchase program to increase the total authorized 
amount to $1 billion. The amended repurchase program does not have an expiration date and 
may be discontinued at any time. In 2008, we repurchased 5.5 million of our common shares 
for $199.8 million under this repurchase program and in 2006, we repurchased 2.2 million of our 
common shares for $99.8 million under this repurchase program.

COnTRACTuAl ObligATiOnS
The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2008: 

   Payments Due By Year

     Less Than 2 - 3 4 - 5 More Than 
(Dollars in millions) Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Long-term debt obligations  
  (principal and interest)  $5,356.2   $198.5   $ 861.8   $1,004.1   $3,291.8

Capital lease obligations  
  (principal and interest)  99.4   19.1   30.2   38.1   12.0

Operating lease obligations  409.2   76.3   132.5   73.6   126.8 

Unconditional purchase  
  obligations (1)  38.5   38.5  – – –

Coal reserve lease and  
  royalty obligations  193.9   134.1   15.1   11.5   33.2 

Other long-term liabilities (2) 1,513.1   192.7   216.5   178.2   925.7

 Total contractual cash  
   obligations  $7,610.3   $659.2   $1,256.1   $1,305.5   $4,389.5

(1)   We have purchase agreements with approved vendors for most types of operating expenses. However, our specific open purchase orders (which 
have not been recognized as a liability) under these purchase agreements, combined with any other open purchase orders, are not material. The 
commitments in the table above relate to significant capital purchases.

(2)   Represents long-term liabilities relating to our postretirement benefit plans, work-related injuries and illnesses, defined benefit pension plans and 
mine reclamation and end of mine closure costs.

As of December 31, 2008, we had $38.5 million of purchase obligations for capital expendi-
tures and $124.6 million of obligations related to federal coal reserve lease payments due over 
the next five years. The purchase obligations for capital expenditures primarily relate to the 
replacement and improvement of equipment and facilities at existing mines. We expect to fund 
capital expenditures primarily through operating cash flow. 

We do not expect any of the $186.3 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits reported in our 
consolidated financial statements to require cash settlement within the next year. Beyond that, 
we are unable to make reasonably reliable estimates of periodic cash settlements with respect to 
such unrecognized tax benefits.

OFF-bAlAnCe SheeT ARRAngeMenTS
In the normal course of business, we are a party to certain off-balance sheet arrangements. 

These arrangements include guarantees, indemnifications, financial instruments with off-balance 
sheet risk, such as bank letters of credit and performance or surety bonds and our accounts 
receivable securitization. Liabilities related to these arrangements are not reflected in our 
consolidated balance sheets, and we do not expect any material adverse effects on our financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows to result from these off-balance sheet arrangements.

We use a combination of surety bonds, corporate guarantees (such as self bonds) and letters 
of credit to secure our financial obligations for reclamation, workers’ compensation, and coal 
lease obligations as follows as of December 31, 2008:

     Workers’   
   Reclamation Lease Compensation  
(Dollars in millions)  Obligations Obligations Obligations  Other (1) Total 

Self Bonding  $ 773.4   $ –  $ –  $ –  $ 773.4

Surety Bonds  740.6   99.2   19.3   15.2   874.3

Letters of Credit  0.1  –  54.9   199.3   254.3

   $1,514.1   $99.2   $74.2   $214.5   $1,902.0

(1)   Other includes the four letter of credit obligations described below and an additional $24.3 million in self-bonding, letters of credit and surety bonds 
related to collateral for surety companies, road maintenance, performance guarantees and other operations.

We own a 37.5% interest in a partnership that leases a coal export terminal from the  
Peninsula Ports Authority of Virginia under a 30-year lease that permits the partnership to 
purchase the terminal at the end of the lease term for a nominal amount. The partners have 
severally (but not jointly) agreed to make payments under various agreements which in the  
aggregate provide the partnership with sufficient funds to pay rents and to cover the principal  
and interest payments on the floating-rate industrial revenue bonds issued by the Peninsula  
Ports Authority, and which are supported by letters of credit from a commercial bank. As of 
December 31, 2008, our maximum reimbursement obligation to the commercial bank was in  
turn supported by two letters of credit totaling $42.8 million.

We are party to an agreement with the PBGC and TXU Europe Limited, an affiliate of our 
former parent corporation, under which we are required to make special contributions to two 
of our defined benefit pension plans and to maintain a $37.0 million letter of credit in favor of 
the PBGC. If we or the PBGC give notice of an intent to terminate one or more of the covered 
pension plans in which liabilities are not fully funded, or if we fail to maintain the letter of credit, 
the PBGC may draw down on the letter of credit and use the proceeds to satisfy liabilities under 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. The PBGC, however, is 
required to first apply amounts received from a $110.0 million guarantee in place from TXU 
Europe Limited in favor of the PBGC before it draws on our letter of credit. On November 19, 
2002 TXU Europe Limited was placed under the administration process in the United Kingdom 
(a process similar to bankruptcy proceedings in the U.S.) and continues under this process as of 
December 31, 2008. As a result of these proceedings, TXU Europe Limited may be liquidated or 
otherwise reorganized in such a way as to relieve it of its obligations under its guarantee. 

At December 31, 2008, we have a $110.4 million letter of credit for collateral for bank guaran-
tees issued with respect to certain reclamation and performance obligations related to the mines 
acquired in the Excel acquisition.
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Other Guarantees
As part of arrangements through which we obtain exclusive sales representation agreements 

with small coal mining companies (the Counterparties), we issued financial guarantees on behalf 
of the Counterparties. These guarantees facilitate the Counterparties’ efforts to obtain bonding 
or financing. In the event of default, we have multiple recourse options, including the ability to 
assume the loans and procure title and use of the equipment purchased through the loans. If 
default occurs, we have the ability and intent to exercise our recourse options, so the liability 
associated with the guarantee has been valued at zero. The aggregate amount guaranteed by us 
for all such Counterparties was $10.0 million at December 31, 2008. Our obligations under the 
guarantees extend to September 2013. 

As part of the Patriot spin-off, we agreed to maintain several letters of credit that secured 
Patriot obligations for certain employee benefits and workers’ compensation obligations. These 
letters of credit are to be released upon Patriot satisfying the beneficiaries with alternate letters  
of credit or insurance. If Patriot is unable to satisfy the primary beneficiaries by June 30, 2011, 
they are then required to provide directly to us a letter of credit in the amount of the remaining 
obligation. The amount of letters of credit maintained by us securing Patriot obligations was  
$7.0 million at December 31, 2008 and $136.8 million at December 31, 2007. 

Under our accounts receivable securitization program, undivided interests in a pool of eligible 
trade receivables contributed to our wholly-owned, bankruptcy-remote subsidiary are sold, 
without recourse, to a multi-seller, asset-backed commercial paper conduit (Conduit). Purchases 
by the Conduit are financed with the sale of highly rated commercial paper. We utilize proceeds 
from the sale of our accounts receivable as an alternative to other forms of debt, effectively 
reducing our overall borrowing costs. The funding cost of the securitization program was  
$10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 and $11.2 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2007. The securitization program and the underlying facilities will effectively expire 
in May 2009. The securitization transactions have been recorded as sales, with those accounts 
receivable sold to the Conduit removed from the consolidated balance sheets. The amount of 
undivided interests in accounts receivable sold to the Conduit was $275.0 million as of  
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 (see Note 6 to our consolidated financial  
statements for additional information on accounts receivable securitization).

newlY ADOpTeD ACCOunTing pROnOunCeMenTS AnD ACCOunTing 
pROnOunCeMenTS nOT YeT iMpleMenTeD 

See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of newly adopted 
accounting pronouncements and accounting pronouncements not yet implemented.

quAnTiTATive AnD quAliTATive DiSClOSuReS AbOuT MARkeT RiSk
The potential for changes in the market value of our coal and freight trading, emission allow-

ances, crude oil, diesel fuel, natural gas, explosives, interest rate and currency portfolios is 
referred to as “market risk.”  Market risk related to our coal trading and freight portfolio is evalu-
ated using a value at risk analysis (described below). Value at risk analysis is not used to evaluate 
our non-trading interest rate, diesel fuel, explosives or currency hedging portfolios. A description 
of each market risk category is set forth below. We attempt to manage market risks through 
diversification, controlling position sizes and executing hedging strategies. Due to lack of quoted 
market prices and the long-term, illiquid nature of the positions, we have not quantified market 
risk related to our non-trading, long-term coal supply agreement portfolio.

Coal Trading Activities and Related Commodity Price Risk 
We engage in over-the-counter and direct trading of coal and ocean freight. These activities 

give rise to commodity price risk, which represents the potential loss that can be caused by an 
adverse change in the market value of a particular commitment. We actively measure, monitor 
and adjust traded position levels to remain within risk limits prescribed by management. For 
example, we have policies in place that limit the amount of total exposure, in value at risk terms, 
that we may assume at any point in time.

We account for coal trading using the fair value method, which requires us to reflect finan-
cial instruments with third parties, such as forwards, options and swaps, at market value in 
our consolidated financial statements. Our trading portfolio included forwards and swaps as of 
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

We perform a value at risk analysis on our coal trading portfolio, which includes over-the-
counter and brokerage trading of coal. The use of value at risk allows us to quantify in dollars, on 
a daily basis, the price risk inherent in our trading portfolio. Value at risk represents the potential 
loss in value of our mark-to-market portfolio due to adverse market movements over a defined 
time horizon (liquidation period) within a specified confidence level. Our value at risk model 
is based on the industry standard variance/co-variance approach. This captures our exposure 
related to option, swap and forward positions. Our value at risk model assumes a 5 to 15-day 
holding period and a 95% one-tailed confidence interval. This means that there is a one in 20 
statistical chance that the portfolio would lose more than the value at risk estimates during the 
liquidation period. During 2008, we implemented a change to our volatility calculation by incor-
porating an exponentially weighted moving average algorithm based on the previous 60 market 
days. This algorithm makes our volatility more representative of recent market conditions, while 
still reflecting an awareness of historical price movements.

The use of value at risk allows management to aggregate pricing risks across products in the 
portfolio, compare risk on a consistent basis and identify the drivers of risk. Due to the subjec-
tivity in the choice of the liquidation period, reliance on historical data to calibrate the models and 
the inherent limitations in the value at risk methodology, we perform regular stress and scenario 
analysis to estimate the impacts of market changes on the value of the portfolio. Additionally, 
back-testing is regularly performed to monitor the effectiveness of our value at risk measure. 
The results of these analyses are used to supplement the value at risk methodology and identify 
additional market-related risks.

We use historical data to estimate price volatility as an input to value at risk and to better 
reflect current asset and liability volatilities. Given our reliance on historical data, we believe value 
at risk is effective in estimating risk exposures in markets in which there are not sudden funda-
mental changes or shifts in market conditions. An inherent limitation of value at risk is that past 
changes in market risk factors may not produce accurate predictions of future market risk. Value 
at risk should be evaluated in light of this limitation.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the combined actual low, high, and average values 
at risk for our coal trading portfolio were $8.5 million, $27.2 million, and $19.1 million, respec-
tively. Our value at risk increased over the prior year due to greater price volatility in the eastern 
U.S. and international coal markets.

As of December 31, 2008, the timing of the estimated future realization of the value of our 
trading portfolio was as follows:

Year of Expiration    Percentage of Portfolio

2009      75%

2010      13%

2011      11%

2012      1%

       100%

We also monitor other types of risk associated with our coal trading activities, including credit, 
market liquidity and counterparty nonperformance.
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Performance and Credit Risk
Our concentration of performance and credit risk is substantially with electric utilities, energy 

producers and energy marketers. Our policy is to independently evaluate each customer’s credit-
worthiness prior to entering into transactions and to regularly monitor the credit extended. If we 
engage in a transaction with a counterparty that does not meet our credit standards, we seek to 
protect our position by requiring the counterparty to provide an appropriate credit enhancement. 
These steps include obtaining letters of credit or cash collateral, requiring prepayments for ship-
ments or the creation of customer trust accounts held for our benefit to serve as collateral in the 
event of a failure to pay. In general, increases in coal price volatility and our own trading activity 
resulted in greater exposure to our coal-trading counterparties during 2008. 

In addition to credit risk, performance risk includes the possibility that a counterparty fails to 
deliver agreed production or trading volumes. When appropriate (as determined by our credit 
management function), we have taken steps to reduce our exposure to customers or counterpar-
ties whose credit has deteriorated and who may pose a higher risk of failure to perform under 
their contractual obligations. These steps include obtaining letters of credit or cash collateral, 
requiring prepayments for shipments or the creation of customer trust accounts held for our 
benefit to serve as collateral in the event of failure to pay. To reduce our credit exposure related  
to trading and brokerage activities, we seek to enter into agreements that include netting 
language with counterparties that permit us to offset trading positions, receivables, and  
payables with such counterparties. 

We conduct our various hedging activities related to foreign currency, interest rate  
management, and fuel and explosives exposures with a variety of highly-rated commercial  
banks. In light of the recent turmoil in the financial markets we continue to closely monitor  
counterparty creditworthiness. 

Foreign Currency Risk
We utilize currency forwards and options to hedge currency risk associated with antici-

pated Australian dollar expenditures. Our currency hedging program for 2009 targets hedging 
approximately 70% of our anticipated Australian dollar-denominated operating expenditures. The 
accounting for these derivatives is discussed in Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements. 
Assuming we had no hedges in place, our exposure in operating costs and expenses due to a 
five-cent change in the Australian dollar/U.S. dollar exchange rate is approximately $84.0 million 
for 2009. However, taking into consideration hedges currently in place, our net exposure to the 
same rate change is approximately $25.9 million for 2009. The chart on page 45 shows the  
notional amount of our forward contracts as of December 31, 2008.

Interest Rate Risk
Our objectives in managing exposure to interest rate changes are to limit the impact of 

interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs. To 
achieve these objectives, we manage fixed-rate debt as a percent of net debt through the use 
of various hedging instruments, which are discussed in detail in Note 12 to our consolidated 
financial statements. As of December 31, 2008, after taking into consideration the effects of 
interest rate swaps, we had $2.5 billion of fixed-rate borrowings and $691.2 million of variable-
rate borrowings outstanding. A one percentage point increase in interest rates would result in 
an annualized increase to interest expense of $6.9 million on our variable-rate borrowings. With 
respect to our fixed-rate borrowings, a one percentage point increase in interest rates would 
result in a $145.2 million decrease in the estimated fair value of these borrowings. 

OTheR nOn-TRADing ACTiviTieS – COMMODiTY pRiCe RiSk

Long-Term Coal Contracts
We manage our commodity price risk for our non-trading, long-term coal contract portfolio 

through the use of long-term coal supply agreements, rather than through the use of derivative 
instruments. We sold 90% and 87% of our worldwide sales volume under long-term coal supply 
agreements during 2008 and 2007, respectively. As of January 27, 2009, we have largely sold out 
expected 2009 U.S. production. We had 9 to 11 million tons remaining to be priced for 2009 in 
Australia at January 27, 2009. 

Diesel Fuel and Explosives Hedges
Some of the products used in our mining activities, such as diesel fuel and explosives, are 

subject to commodity price risk. To manage this risk, we use a combination of forward contracts 
with our suppliers and financial derivative contracts, which are primarily swap contracts with 
financial institutions. As of December 31, 2008, we had derivative contracts outstanding that are 
designated as cash flow hedges of anticipated purchases of fuel and explosives. 

Notional amounts outstanding under fuel-related, derivative swap contracts are noted in the 
chart below. We expect to consume 125 to 130 million gallons of fuel next year. A $10 dollar per 
barrel change in the price of crude oil (the primary component of a refined diesel fuel product) 
would increase or decrease our annual fuel costs (ignoring the effects of hedging) by approxi-
mately $31 million.

Notional amounts outstanding under explosives-related swap contracts are noted in the chart 
below. We expect to consume 335,000 to 345,000 tons of explosives per year in the U.S. Explo-
sives costs in Australia are generally included with the fees paid to our contract miners. Based on 
our expected usage, a price change in natural gas (often a key component in the production of 
explosives) of one dollar per million MMBtu (ignoring the effects of hedging) would result in an 
increase or decrease in our annual explosives costs of approximately $7 million.

    Account  
   Notional Amount by term to Maturity Classification by 

          Cash  Fair Fair Value- 
         2014 and flow value asset 
   Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 thereafter hedge hedge (liability)

Interest Rate Swaps 
Fixed-to-floating  
  (dollars in millions) $320.0   $ –  $ – $ –  $ – $220.0  $100.0  $ – $320.0   $ 12.5  

Floating-to-fixed  
  (dollars in millions) $186.0   $ – $ –  $120.0 $ – $ –  $ 66.0   $186.0 $ –  $(21.8)

Foreign Currency 
A$:US$ forwards  
  and options (A$ millions) 2,408.0  1,161.7  826.3  420.0  – – –  2,408.0  – (283.8)

Commodity Contracts 
Diesel fuel hedge contracts  
  (million gallons)  189.4  98.4  64.4  26.6  – – –  189.4 – (176.5) 

U.S. explosives hedge contracts  
  (million MMbtu) 6.5  3.6  2.9  – – – –  6.5  –  (18.2)
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OveRview
Management of Peabody Energy Corporation is responsible for the preparation and presenta-

tion of the financial statements included in this annual report. Management is also responsible 
for the reasonableness of estimates and judgments inherent in the preparation of the financial 
statements. These statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles and include amounts based on management’s best estimates and judgments.

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered 
public accounting firm. Their audit was conducted in accordance with generally accepted  
auditing standards. Ernst & Young also audited the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting.

Management maintains a strong awareness of the importance of full and open presentation  
of our financial position and results of operations and utilizes a system of disclosure controls  
and procedures to ensure such presentation. To facilitate this, the Company maintains a  
Disclosure Committee, which includes senior executives who possess in-depth knowledge  
of the Company’s business.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed of independent directors, meets 
periodically with the independent registered public accountants, our internal auditors and 
management to review accounting, auditing, internal accounting controls and financial reporting 
matters. The independent certified public accountants and our internal auditors have access to 
and separately meet on a periodic basis with the Audit Committee.

evAluATiOn OF DiSClOSuRe COnTROlS AnD pROCeDuReS 
Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to, among other things, provide reason-

able assurance that material information, both financial and non-financial, and other information 
required under the securities laws to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to senior 
management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, on a timely 
basis. As of December 31, 2008, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 
10-K, we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclo-
sure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of December 31, 2008, 
and concluded that such controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance 
that the desired control objectives were achieved.

ChAngeS in inTeRnAl COnTROl OveR FinAnCiAl RepORTing 
We periodically review our internal control over financial reporting as part of our efforts to 

ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. In 
addition, we routinely review our system of internal control over financial reporting to identify 
potential changes to our processes and systems that may improve controls and increase effi-
ciency, while ensuring that we maintain an effective internal control environment. Changes may 
include such activities as implementing new systems, consolidating the activities of acquired 
business units, migrating certain processes to our shared services organizations, formalizing 
and refining policies and procedures, improving segregation of duties, and adding monitoring 
controls. In addition, when we acquire new businesses, we incorporate our controls and proce-
dures into the acquired business as part of our integration activities. There have been no  
changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended 
December 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,  
our internal control over financial reporting.

MAnAgeMenT’S RepORT On inTeRnAl COnTROl OveR  
FinAnCiAl RepORTing 

Management is responsible for maintaining and establishing adequate internal control over 
financial reporting. Our internal control framework and processes were designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our 
consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles.

Because of inherent limitations, any system of internal control over financial reporting may not 
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting using the criteria set by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on this assess-
ment, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting were 
effective to provide reasonable assurance that the desired control objectives were achieved as of 
December 31, 2008. 

Our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has audited our internal  
control over financial reporting, as stated in their unqualified opinion report included herein.

Gregory H. Boyce
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Michael C. Crews
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 27, 2009

Management Report
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The bOARD OF DiReCTORS AnD STOCkhOlDeRS 
peAbODY eneRgY CORpORATiOn

We have audited Peabody Energy Corporation’s (the Company’s) internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(the COSO criteria). Peabody Energy Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reason-
able assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assur-
ance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures 
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or 
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Peabody Energy Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Peabody Energy Corpora-
tion as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2008, and our report dated February 26, 2009, expressed an unqualified  
opinion thereon.

St. Louis, Missouri 
February 26, 2009

The bOARD OF DiReCTORS AnD STOCkhOlDeRS 
peAbODY eneRgY CORpORATiOn

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Peabody Energy Corpora-
tion (the Company) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements 
of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in 
the period ended December 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting  
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the  
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis  
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of Peabody Energy Corporation at December 31, 2008 and 
2007, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three  
years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2008, the 
Company changed its method of accounting for the recognition of derivative positions with the 
same counterparty, on January 1, 2007, the Company changed its method of accounting for 
uncertain tax positions, on December 31, 2006, the Company changed its method for accounting 
for defined pension benefit and other postretirement plans, and on January 1, 2006, the Company 
change its method of accounting for stripping costs. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States), Peabody Energy Corporation’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, 
and our report dated February 26, 2009, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

St. Louis, Missouri
February 26, 2009

Reports of independent Registered public Accounting Firm
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 
(Dollars in millions, except share and per share data)    2008  2007

Assets
Current assets
 Cash and cash equivalents    $ 449.7    $ 45.3
 Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $24.8 and $11.9  
   at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively    383.6  256.9
 Inventories    277.7  264.7
 Assets from coal trading activities, net    662.8  349.8
 Deferred income taxes    1.7  58.8
 Other current assets     195.8  335.0

  Total current assets    1,971.3  1,310.5
Property, plant, equipment and mine development
 Land and coal interests     7,354.7  7,175.4
 Buildings and improvements    861.3  658.1
 Machinery and equipment    1,265.8  1,256.2
 Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization    (2,166.6) (1,791.8)

Property, plant, equipment and mine development, net    7,315.2  7,297.9
Deferred income taxes    118.4  –  
Investments and other assets    417.5  482.8

  Total assets    $9,822.4   $9,091.2

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
 Current maturities of long-term debt    $ 17.0   $ 134.4
 Liabilities from coal trading activities, net    304.2  301.8
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses    1,535.0  1,134.0

  Total current liabilities    1,856.2  1,570.2
Long-term debt, less current maturities    3,139.2  3,138.7
Deferred income taxes    –  354.8
Asset retirement obligations    422.6  362.8
Accrued postretirement benefit costs    766.1  785.7
Other noncurrent liabilities    733.1  358.6

  Total liabilities    6,917.2  6,570.8
Minority interests    1.4  0.7
Stockholders’ equity
 Preferred Stock – $0.01 per share par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding  
   as of December 31, 2008 or 2007    –  –  
   Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock – 1,500,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding  
    as of December 31, 2008 or 2007    –  –
  Perpetual Preferred Stock – 750,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding as of December 31, 2008 or 2007 –  –
 Series Common Stock – $0.01 per share par value; 40,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding  
   as of December 31, 2008 or 2007    –  –
 Common Stock – $0.01 per share par value; 800,000,000 shares authorized, 275,211,240 shares issued and  
   266,644,979 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and 800,000,000 shares authorized, 272,911,564 shares  
     issued and 270,066,621 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2007   2.8  2.7
 Additional paid-in capital    1,804.8  1,750.7
 Retained earnings    1,803.5  941.4
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (388.5) (67.1)
 Treasury shares, at cost: 8,566,261 shares as of December 31, 2008 and 2,844,943 shares as of December 31, 2007 (318.8) (108.0)

  Total stockholders’ equity    2,903.8  2,519.7

   Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    $9,822.4   $9,091.2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31 
(Dollars in millions, except share and per share data)   2008  2007  2006

Revenues

 Sales   $6,036.3   $4,335.1   $3,944.9

 Other revenues   557.1  210.0  106.0

  Total revenues   6,593.4   4,545.1   4,050.9

Costs and Expenses

 Operating costs and expenses   4,617.2   3,532.5   3,088.2

 Depreciation, depletion and amortization   406.2   352.2   284.2

 Asset retirement obligation expense   48.2   23.7   14.2

 Selling and administrative expenses   201.8   147.1   128.0

 Other operating income:

  Net gain on disposal or exchange of assets   (72.9)  (88.6)  (53.5)

  Income from equity affiliates   –   (14.5)  (22.8)

Operating Profit   1,392.9   592.7   612.6

 Interest expense   226.2   235.0   139.1

 Interest income   (10.1)  (7.1)  (11.3)

Income From Continuing Operations Before

  Income Taxes and Minority Interests   1,176.8   364.8   484.8

 Income tax provision (benefit)   185.8   (72.9)  (85.7)

 Minority interests   6.2   (2.3)  0.6

Income From Continuing Operations   984.8   440.0   569.9

 Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax   (31.3)  (175.7)  30.8

Net Income   $ 953.5   $ 264.3   $ 600.7

Basic Earnings Per Share

 Income from continuing operations   $ 3.66   $ 1.67   $ 2.16

 Income (loss) from discontinued operations   (0.11) (0.67) 0.12

  Net income   $ 3.55   $ 1.00   $ 2.28

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding – Basic   268,860,528  264,068,180  263,419,344

Diluted Earnings Per Share

 Income from continuing operations   $ 3.63   $ 1.63   $ 2.12

 Income (loss) from discontinued operations   (0.12) (0.65) 0.11

  Net income   $ 3.51   $ 0.98   $ 2.23

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding – Diluted   271,275,849  269,166,290  269,166,005

Dividends Declared Per Share   $ 0.24   $ 0.24   $ 0.24

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

        Accumulated     
       Additional Other    Total  
      Common Paid-in Comprehensive  Retained   Treasury   Stockholders’   
(Dollars in millions)     Stock Capital Loss  Earnings  Stock  Equity

December 31, 2005    $2.6   $1,497.5   $ (47.0)  $ 729.1   $ (3.9)  $2,178.3
 Comprehensive income: 
  Net income     – – –  600.7  –  600.7
  Increase in fair value of cash flow hedges  
    (net of $16.2 tax provision)     – – 24.3  –  –  24.3
  Minimum pension liability adjustment  
    (net of $16.8 tax provision)     – – 22.5  –  –  22.5

 Comprehensive income          647.5

 Postretirement plans and workers’ compensation obligations  
   (net of $149.5 tax benefit):
  Accumulated actuarial loss, net of tax    – – (242.0) –  –
  Prior service cost, net of tax    – – (7.0) –  –  
        (249.0)   (249.0)
 Dividends paid     – – –  (63.5) –  (63.5)
 Stock options exercised     0.1  15.5  –  –  –  15.6
 Share-based compensation    – 21.9  –  –  –  21.9
 Income tax benefits from stock options exercised    – 33.2  –  –  –  33.2
 Employee stock purchases     – 4.5  –  –  –  4.5
 Change in accounting for advanced stripping (net of $95.2 tax benefit)   – – –  (150.4) –  (150.4)
 Common stock repurchased      – – –  –  (99.8) (99.8)

December 31, 2006     $2.7   $1,572.6   $(249.2)  $1,115.9   $(103.7)  $2,338.3
 Comprehensive income: 
  Net income     – – –  264.3  –  264.3
  Increase in fair value of cash flow hedges    – – 21.9  –  –  21.9
  Postretirement plans and workers’ compensation  
    obligations (net of $50.2 tax provision)     – – 87.2  –  –  87.2

 Comprehensive income         373.4

 Dividends paid    – – –  (63.7) –  (63.7)
 Patriot Coal Corporation spin-off    – – 73.0  (375.1) –  (302.1)
 Stock options exercised     – 26.2  –  –  –  26.2
 Income tax benefits from stock options exercised    – 96.7  –  –  –  96.7
 Employee stock purchases     – 6.4  –  –  –  6.4
 Share-based compensation     – 48.8  –  –  –  48.8
 Shares relinquished     – – –  –  (4.3) (4.3)

December 31, 2007    $2.7   $1,750.7   $ (67.1)  $ 941.4   $(108.0)  $2,519.7
 Comprehensive income:     
  Net income      – – –   953.5  –   953.5
  Decrease in fair value of cash flow hedges  
    (net of $178.2 tax benefit)     – –  (217.9) –  –   (217.9)
  Postretirement plans and workers’ compensation  
    obligations (net of $59.3 tax benefit)     – –  (103.5) –  –   (103.5)

 Comprehensive income           632.1

 Dividends paid     – – –   (64.9) –   (64.9)
 Patriot Coal Corporation spin-off adjustment    – – –   (26.5) –   (26.5)
 Stock options exercised      0.1  14.0  –  –  –   14.1
 Employee stock purchases     –  5.2  –  –  –   5.2
 Share-based compensation     –  34.9  –  –  –   34.9
 Common stock repurchased    – – –  –   (199.8)  (199.8)
 Shares relinquished     – – –  –   (11.0)  (11.0)

December 31, 2008     $2.8   $1,804.8   $(388.5)  $1,803.5   $(318.8)  $2,903.8

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31 
(Dollars in millions)    2008   2007   2006

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income    $ 953.5   $ 264.3   $ 600.7
  (Income) loss from discontinued operations   31.3  175.7  (30.8)
  Income from continuing operations    984.8  440.0  569.9
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations    
  to net cash provided by operating activities:
 Depreciation, depletion and amortization   406.2  352.2  284.2
 Deferred income taxes   (32.9) (196.2) (191.2)
 Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs   6.7  7.2  7.4
 Net gain on disposal or exchange of assets   (72.9) (88.6) (53.5)
 Income from equity affiliates   –  (14.5) (22.8)
 Revenue recovery on coal supply agreements   (56.9) –  –
 Minority interest expense (income)   6.2  (2.3) 0.6
 Stock compensation expense   34.9  20.1  17.1
 Dividends received from equity affiliates   19.9  12.9  18.1
 Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
  Accounts receivable, including securitization   (113.5) 65.2  (110.5)
  Inventories   (13.0) (62.2) (27.3)
  Net assets from coal trading activities   (43.0) (77.6) (9.0)
  Other current assets   1.7  (57.1) (20.3)
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses   225.5  53.6  103.8
 Asset retirement obligations    32.9  13.6  (3.1)
 Workers’ compensation obligations   10.3  2.7  (0.1)
 Accrued postretirement benefit costs   13.6  13.1  59.1
 Contributions to pension plans   (21.3) (5.4) (6.1)
 Other, net   24.7  (18.9) (9.7)
  Net cash provided by continuing operations   1,413.9  457.8  606.6
  Net cash used in discontinued operations    (128.2) (141.4) (23.3)
  Net cash provided by operating activities   1,285.7  316.4  583.3
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisition of Excel Coal Limited, net of cash acquired   –  –  (1,507.8)
Acquisitions of minority interests   (110.1) –  –  
Additions to property, plant, equipment and mine development   (266.2) (438.8) (391.9)
Federal coal lease expenditures   (178.5) (178.2) (178.2)
Investment in Prairie State   (40.9) (28.8) –  
Proceeds from disposal of assets, net of notes receivable   72.8  119.6  29.4
Additions to advance mining royalties   (6.0) (8.1) (5.0)
Investments in equity affiliates and joint ventures   (2.6) (4.6) (2.1)
  Net cash used in continuing operations   (531.5) (538.9) (2,055.6)
  Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations   26.0  (36.4) (88.2)
  Net cash used in investing activities   (505.5) (575.3) (2,143.8)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Change in revolving line of credit   (97.7) 97.7  –  
Proceeds from long-term debt   –  –  2,604.1
Payments of long-term debt   (32.7) (117.8) (1,046.0)
Common stock repurchase   (199.8) –  (99.8)
Dividends paid   (64.9) (63.7) (63.5)
Payment of debt issuance costs   –  (0.8) (40.6)
Excess tax benefit related to stock options exercised   –  96.7  33.2
Proceeds from stock options exercised   14.1  26.2  15.6
Proceeds from employee stock purchases   5.2  6.4  4.5
  Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations   (375.8) 44.7  1,407.5
  Net cash used in discontinued operations   –  (67.0) (23.8)
  Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   (375.8) (22.3) 1,383.7
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   404.4  (281.2) (176.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   45.3  326.5  503.3
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 449.7   $ 45.3   $ 326.5

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Years Ended December 31

(1)  Summary OF SigNiFiCaNt aCCOuNtiNg 
POliCiES

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts 

of Peabody Energy Corporation (the Company) and its affiliates. 
All intercompany transactions, profits and balances have been 
eliminated in consolidation.

Description of Business
The Company is engaged in the mining of steam coal for 

sale primarily to electric utilities and metallurgical coal for sale 
to industrial customers. The Company’s mining operations are 
located in the United States (U.S.) and Australia, and include an 
equity interest in a mining operation in Venezuela. In addition 
to the Company’s mining operations, the Company markets, 
brokers and trades coal. The Company’s other energy related 
commercial activities include the development of mine-mouth 
coal-fueled generating plants, the management of its vast coal 
reserve and real estate holdings, and the evaluation of Btu 
Conversion technologies. The Company’s Btu Conversion proj-
ects are designed to expand the uses of coal through various 
technologies such as coal-to-liquids and coal gasification.

Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In April 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

(FASB) issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) FASB Interpretation 
Number (FIN) 39-1, “Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 
39” (FSP FIN 39-1). FSP FIN 39-1 amends certain provisions of 
FIN 39, “Offsetting of Amounts Related to Certain Contracts,” 
and permits companies to offset fair value amounts recognized 
for cash collateral receivables or payables against fair value 
amounts recognized for net derivative positions executed with 
the same counterparty under the same master netting arrange-
ment. Prior to the implementation of FSP FIN 39-1, all positions 
executed with common counterparties were presented on a 
gross basis in the appropriate balance sheet line items. Effec-
tive January 1, 2008, in accordance with the provisions of FSP 
FIN 39-1, the Company offset its asset and liability coal trading 
derivative positions and other corporate hedging activities on a 
counterparty-by-counterparty basis if the contractual agreement 
provides for the net settlement of contracts with the counter-
party in the event of default or termination of any one contract. 
The December 31, 2007 balances were reclassified to conform 
with the provisions of FSP FIN 39-1. See Note 5 for a presenta-
tion of the assets and liabilities from coal trading activities on a 
gross and net basis.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, including an amend-
ment of FASB Statement No. 115” (SFAS No. 159). SFAS  
No. 159 provides all entities with an option to report selected 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value. SFAS No. 159 was 

effective for the Company for the fiscal year beginning January 1,  
2008. SFAS No. 159 did not have an impact on the accompa-
nying consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair 
Value Measurements” (SFAS No. 157). SFAS No. 157 defines  
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value 
under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and 
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS  
No. 157 applies under accounting pronouncements that require 
or permit fair value measurements, but the standard does not 
require any new fair value measurements. In February 2008, 
the FASB amended SFAS No. 157 to exclude leasing transac-
tions and to delay the effective date by one year for nonfinancial 
assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair 
value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis. The 
Company adopted SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008. In October 
2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 157-3, “Determining the Fair 
Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset Is 
Not Active” (FSP 157-3), which clarified the application of SFAS 
No. 157 in an inactive market and demonstrated how the fair 
value of a financial asset is determined when the market for 
that financial asset is inactive. FSP 157-3 was effective upon 
issuance, including prior periods for which financial statements 
had not been issued. The adoption of FSP 157-3 did not have an 
impact on the Company’s determination of fair value for finan-
cial assets. See Note 3 for additional details on fair value.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpretation 
of FASB Statement No. 109” (FIN No. 48). This interpretation 
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute 
for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a 
tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 
No. 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure 
and transition.The Company adopted the provisions of FIN No. 
48 on January 1, 2007, and as a result, reported $135.0 million 
of net unrecognized tax benefits ($144.0 million gross) in its 
consolidated financial statements. Due to the valuation allow-
ance recorded against the Company’s deferred tax asset for net 
operating loss (NOL) carryforwards as of January 1, 2007, none 
of the $135.0 million required an adjustment to retained earn-
ings upon adoption. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, 
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other 
Postretirement Plans” (SFAS No. 158). For fiscal years ending 
after December 15, 2006, SFAS No. 158 requires recognition of 
the funded status of pension and other postretirement benefit 
plans (an asset for overfunded status or a liability for under-
funded status) in a company’s balance sheet. In addition, the 
standard requires recognition of actuarial gains and losses, 
prior service cost, and any remaining transition amounts from 
the initial application of SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting 
for Pensions” (SFAS No. 87) and SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ 
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions” 

(SFAS No. 106) when determining a plan’s funded status, with 
a corresponding charge to accumulated other comprehen-
sive income (loss). The Company adopted SFAS No. 158 on 
December 31, 2006, and as a result, recorded a noncurrent 
liability of $376.1 million, which reflected the net underfunded 
status of the pension, retiree healthcare and workers’ compen-
sation plans. The funded status of each plan was measured 
as the difference between the fair value of the assets and the 
projected benefit obligation (the funded status). SFAS No. 158 
did not impact net income.

In March 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 
issued EITF Issue No. 04-6, “Accounting for Stripping Costs in 
the Mining Industry” (EITF Issue No. 04-6). EITF Issue No. 04-6 
and its interpretations require stripping costs incurred during 
a period to be attributed only to the inventory costs of the 
coal that is extracted during that same period. The Company 
adopted EITF Issue No. 04-6 on January 1, 2006 and utilized the 
cumulative effect adjustment approach whereby the cumulative 
effect adjustment reduced retained earnings by $150.4 million, 
net of tax. This non-cash item is excluded from the consolidated 
statements of cash flows. Advance stripping costs are primarily 
expensed as incurred. 

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Implemented
In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. EITF 03-6-1, “Deter-

mining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment 
Transactions Are Participating Securities” (FSP EITF 03-6-1). 
FSP EITF 03-6-1 addresses whether instruments granted in 
share-based payment awards that entitle their holders to 
receive nonforfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents before 
vesting should be considered participating securities and 
need to be included in the earnings allocation in computing 
earnings per share (EPS) under the “two-class method.” The 
two-class method of computing EPS is an earnings allocation 
formula that determines EPS for each class of common stock 
and participating security according to dividends declared (or 
accumulated) and participation rights in undistributed earn-
ings. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2008 (January 1, 2009 for the Company) with all 
prior period EPS data being adjusted retrospectively. The adop-
tion of FSP EITF 03-6-1 will not have a material effect on the 
Company’s results of operations, EPS or financial condition.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclo-
sures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities – an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (SFAS No. 161). SFAS 
No. 161 expands the disclosure requirements for derivative 
instruments and hedging activities. This statement specifically 
requires entities to provide enhanced disclosures addressing 
the following: (1) how and why an entity uses derivative instru-
ments, (2) how derivative instruments and related hedged items 
are accounted for under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Deriva-
tive Instruments and Hedging Activities” (SFAS No. 133) and its 
related interpretations, and (3) how derivative instruments and 
related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, finan-

cial performance, and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for 
fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 
2008 (January 1, 2009 for the Company). While SFAS No. 161 
will have an impact on the Company’s disclosures, it will not 
affect the Company’s results of operations or financial condition.

In May 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. APB 14-1, 
“Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be 
Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settle-
ment)” (FSP APB 14-1). FSP APB 14-1 clarifies that convertible 
debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conver-
sion, including partial cash settlement, are not considered 
debt instruments within the scope of APB Opinion No. 14, 
“Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock 
Purchase Warrants.” FSP APB 14-1 also specifies that issuers 
of such instruments should separately account for the liability 
and equity components in a manner that will reflect the issuer’s 
nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when recognizing interest 
cost in subsequent periods. FSP APB 14-1 is effective for fiscal 
years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2008 
(January 1, 2009 for the Company) and will require retrospective 
application for all periods presented. If FSP APB 14-1 had been 
applied, the estimated impact on net income for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 would have been $0.6 million of expense, 
net of tax. The Company’s current estimate of the impact on its 
consolidated balance sheet as of the date of adoption is noted 
in the table below.

(Dollars in millions) Increase (decrease) due to application of FSP APB 14-1

Investments and other assets    $ (8.4)

Deferred income taxes (long-term asset)    (139.9)

Total assets    $(148.3)

Long-term debt, less current maturities    $(362.6)

Total liabilities    (362.6)

Additional paid-in capital    215.4  

Retained earnings    (1.1)

Total stockholders’ equity    214.3  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity    $(148.3)

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncon-
trolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements – an 
amendment of ARB No. 51” (SFAS No. 160). SFAS No. 160 
establishes accounting and reporting standards for noncon-
trolling interests in partially-owned consolidated subsidiaries 
and the loss of control of subsidiaries. SFAS No. 160 requires 
noncontrolling interests (minority interests) to be reported as 
a separate component of equity. In addition, this statement 
requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income 
when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. SFAS No. 160 is effective 
for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, 
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beginning on or after December 15, 2008 (January 1, 2009 for 
the Company). Early adoption is not allowed. The adoption of 
SFAS No. 160 will not have a material effect on the Company’s 
results of operations or financial condition.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), “Busi-
ness Combinations” (SFAS No. 141(R)), which replaces SFAS 
No. 141. SFAS No. 141(R) changes the principles and require-
ments for the recognition and measurement of identifiable 
assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling 
interest of an acquiree in the financial statements of an acquirer. 
This statement also provides guidance for the recognition and 
measurement of goodwill acquired in a business combination 
and related disclosure. This statement applies prospectively  
to business combinations for which the acquisition date is  
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period  
beginning on or after December 15, 2008 (January 1, 2009 for  
the Company).

Sales
The Company’s revenue from coal sales is realized and 

earned when risk of loss passes to the customer. Under the 
typical terms of the Company’s coal supply agreements, title 
and risk of loss transfer to the customer at the mine or port, 
where coal is loaded to the rail, barge, ocean-going vessel, 
truck or other transportation source(s) that serves each of the 
Company’s mines. The Company incurs certain “add-on” taxes 
and fees on coal sales. Coal sales are reported including taxes 
and fees charged by various federal and state governmental 
bodies. Coal sales includes the freight charges on destination 
customer contracts.

Other Revenues
Other revenues include royalties related to coal lease agree-

ments, sales agency commissions, farm income, property and  
facility rentals, generation development activities, net revenues 
from coal trading activities accounted for under SFAS No. 133, as 
amended, and contract termination or restructuring payments. 
Royalty income generally results from the lease or sublease  
of mineral rights to third parties, with payments based upon  
a percentage of the selling price or an amount per ton of  
coal produced. 

Discontinued Operations and Assets Held for Sale
The Company classifies items within discontinued opera-

tions in the consolidated statements of operations when the 
operations and cash flows of a particular component (defined 
as operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, 
operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest 
of the entity) of the Company have been (or will be) eliminated 
from the ongoing operations of the Company as a result of a 
disposal transaction, and the Company will no longer have any 
significant continuing involvement in the operations of that 
component. See Note 2 for additional details related to discon-
tinued operations and assets held for sale. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approxi-

mates fair value. Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Inventories
Materials and supplies and coal inventory are valued at 

the lower of average cost or market. Raw coal represents 
coal stockpiles that may be sold in current condition or may 
be further processed prior to shipment to a customer. Coal 
inventory costs include labor, supplies, equipment, operating 
overhead and other related costs. 

Assets and Liabilities from Coal Trading Activities 
The Company’s coal trading activities are evaluated under 

SFAS No. 133, as amended. Trading contracts that meet the 
SFAS No. 133 definition of a derivative are accounted for at 
fair value, while contracts that do not qualify as derivatives are 
accounted for under the accrual method. 

The Company’s asset and liability coal trading derivative 
positions and other corporate hedging activities are offset on a 
counterparty-by-counterparty basis if the contractual agreement 
provides for the net settlement of contracts with the counter-
party in the event of default or termination of any one contract 
in accordance with FSP FIN 39-1.

The Company’s trading contracts are reflected at fair value 
and are included in “Assets and liabilities from coal trading 
activities” in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 
31, 2008 and 2007. Under EITF Issue No. 02-3, “Issues Involved 
in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes 
and Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Manage-
ment Activities,” all mark-to-market gains and losses on energy 
trading contracts (including derivatives and hedged contracts) 
are presented on a net basis in the consolidated statement of 
operations in “Other revenues,” even if settled physically. 

Property, Plant, Equipment and Mine Development
Property, plant, equipment and mine development are 

recorded at cost. Interest costs applicable to major asset addi-
tions are capitalized during the construction period, including 
$1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, and  
$3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. There was 
no capitalized interest for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Expenditures which extend the useful lives of existing plant 
and equipment assets are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs 
are charged to operating costs as incurred. Costs incurred 
to develop coal mines or to expand the capacity of operating 
mines are capitalized. Costs incurred to maintain current 
production capacity at a mine and exploration expenditures 
are charged to operating costs as incurred, including costs 
related to drilling and study costs incurred to convert or upgrade 
mineral resources to reserves. Costs to acquire computer 
hardware and the development and/or purchase of software for 
internal use are capitalized and depreciated over the estimated 
useful lives.

Coal reserves are recorded at cost, or at fair value in the case 
of acquired businesses. The net book value of coal reserves 
totaled $5.4 billion as of December 31, 2008 and $5.6 billion 
as of December 31, 2007. These coal reserves include mineral 
rights for leased coal interests and advance royalties that had  
a net book value of $4.1 billion as of December 31, 2008 and 
$3.9 billion as of December 31, 2007. The remaining net book 
value of coal reserves of $1.3 billion at December 31, 2008 and 
$1.7 billion at December 31, 2007 relates to coal reserves held 
by fee ownership. Amounts attributable to properties where  
the Company was not currently engaged in mining operations  
or leasing to third parties and, therefore, the coal reserves  
were not currently being depleted was $1.9 billion as of 
December 31, 2008 and $2.1 billion as of December 31, 2007. 

Depletion of coal reserves and amortization of advance 
royalties is computed using the units-of-production method 
utilizing only proven and probable reserves (as adjusted for 
recoverability factors) in the depletion base. Mine development 
costs are principally amortized over the estimated lives of the 
mines using the straight-line method. Depreciation of plant and 
equipment (excluding life of mine assets) is computed using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives as follows:

     Years 

Building and improvements   10 to 20

Machinery and equipment   3 to 39

Leasehold improvements   Life of Lease

In addition, certain plant and equipment assets associated 
with mining are depreciated using the straight-line method over  
the estimated life of the mine, which varies from one to 39 years.

Investments in Joint Ventures
The Company accounts for its investments in less than 

majority owned corporate joint ventures under either the equity 
or cost method. The Company applies the equity method to 
investments in joint ventures when it has the ability to exercise 
significant influence over the operating and financial policies 
of the joint venture. Investments accounted for under the 
equity method are initially recorded at cost, and any differ-
ence between the cost of the Company’s investment and the 
underlying equity in the net assets of the joint venture at the 
investment date is amortized over the lives of the related assets 
that gave rise to the difference. The Company’s pro rata share 
of earnings from joint ventures and basis difference amortiza-
tion is reported in the consolidated statements of operations 
in “Income from equity affiliates.” Included in the Company’s 
equity method investments is its 25.5% interest in Carbones 
del Guasare, which owns and operates the Paso Diablo Mine 
in Venezuela. The table below summarizes the book value of 
the Company’s equity method investments, which is reported 
in “Investments and other assets” in the consolidated balance 

sheets, the income from its equity affiliates and dividends 
received from its equity:

     Dividends received from 
   Book value Income from equity affiliates equity affiliates for the 
   at December 31, for the year ended December 31, year ended December 31, 

    2008 2007 2008  2007  2006  2008 2007 2006

Interest in Carbones  
  del Guasare   $54.2   $68.4   $5.7    $21.2   $28.0   $19.9   $12.9   $18.1 

Other equity method  
  investments   7.0   8.3   (5.7)  (6.7)  (5.2) – – –   

 Total equity  
   method investments   $61.2   $76.7   $ –   $14.5   $22.8   $19.9   $12.9   $18.1

Generation Development Costs
The Company owns a 5.06% interest in the Prairie State 

Energy Campus (Prairie State), which is currently under 
construction. The Company has capitalized development costs 
of $69.7 million and $28.8 million that were recorded as part 
of “Investments and other assets” in the consolidated balance 
sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Asset Retirement Obligations
SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” 

(SFAS No. 143) addresses financial accounting and reporting 
for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-
lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. The 
Company’s asset retirement obligation (ARO) liabilities primarily 
consist of spending estimates related to reclaiming surface land 
and support facilities at both surface and underground mines in 
accordance with applicable reclamation laws as defined by each 
mining permit. 

The Company estimates its ARO liabilities for final recla-
mation and mine closure based upon detailed engineering 
calculations of the amount and timing of the future cash 
spending for a third-party to perform the required work. 
Spending estimates are escalated for inflation and then 
discounted at the credit-adjusted, risk-free rate. The Company 
records an ARO asset associated with the discounted liability 
for final reclamation and mine closure. The obligation and 
corresponding asset are recognized in the period in which the 
liability is incurred. The ARO asset is amortized on the units-of-
production method over its expected life and the ARO liability 
is accreted to the projected spending date. As changes in esti-
mates occur (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated 
costs or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation 
activities), the revisions to the obligation and asset are recog-
nized at the appropriate credit-adjusted, risk-free rate. The 
Company also recognizes an obligation for contemporaneous 
reclamation liabilities incurred as a result of surface mining. 
Contemporaneous reclamation consists primarily of grading, 
topsoil replacement and re-vegetation of backfilled pit areas.
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Environmental Liabilities
Included in “Other noncurrent liabilities” are accruals for 

other environmental matters that are recorded in operating 
expenses when it is probable that a liability has been incurred 
and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. 
Accrued liabilities are exclusive of claims against third parties 
and are not discounted. In general, costs related to environ-
mental remediation are charged to expense.

Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using a balance sheet 

approach in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for 
Income Taxes.” The Company accounts for deferred income 
taxes by applying statutory tax rates in effect at the date of the 
balance sheet to differences between the book and tax basis of 
assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is established if it 
is “more likely than not” that the related tax benefits will not be 
realized. In determining the appropriate valuation allowance, the 
Company considers projected realization of tax benefits based 
on expected levels of future taxable income, available tax plan-
ning strategies, and the overall deferred tax position.

FIN No. 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measure-
ment attribute for the financial statement recognition and 
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in 
a tax return. FIN No. 48 also provides guidance on derecogni-
tion, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim 
periods, disclosure and transition. The Company adopted this 
interpretation effective January 1, 2007.

Postretirement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits
The Company accounts for postretirement benefits other 

than pensions in accordance with SFAS No. 106, which requires 
the costs of benefits to be provided to be accrued over the 
employees’ period of active service. These costs are determined  
on an actuarial basis. As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 158  
on December 31, 2006, the Company’s consolidated balance 
sheet reflects the funded status of postretirement benefits.

Pension Plans 
The Company sponsors non-contributory defined benefit 

pension plans accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 87, 
which requires that the cost to provide the benefits be accrued 
over the employees’ period of active service. These costs are 
determined on an actuarial basis. SFAS No. 158 amended SFAS 
No. 87 and as a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 158 on 
December 31, 2006, the Company’s consolidated balance sheet 
reflects the funded status of the defined benefit pension plans.

Postemployment Benefits
The Company provides postemployment benefits to 

qualifying employees, former employees and dependents and 
accounts for these benefits on the accrual basis in accordance 
with SFAS No. 112 “Employers’ Accounting for Postemploy-
ment Benefits.” Postemployment benefits include workers’ 
compensation occupational disease, which is accounted for 

on the actuarial basis over the employees’ period of active 
service; workers’ compensation traumatic injury claims, which 
are accounted for based on estimated loss rates applied to 
payroll and claim reserves determined by independent actuaries 
and claims administrators; disability income benefits, which 
are accrued when a claim occurs; and continuation of medical 
benefits, which are recognized when the obligation occurs. As a 
result of the adoption of SFAS No. 158 on December 31, 2006, 
the Company’s consolidated balance sheet reflects the funded 
status of postemployment benefits.

Derivatives
SFAS No. 133, as amended, requires the recognition at fair 

value of all derivatives as assets or liabilities on the consoli-
dated balance sheets. Gains or losses from derivative financial 
instruments designated as fair value hedges are recognized 
immediately in the consolidated statements of operations, 
along with the offsetting gain or loss related to the underlying 
hedged item.

Gains or losses on derivative financial instruments desig-
nated as cash flow hedges are recorded as a separate 
component of stockholders’ equity until settlement (or until 
hedge ineffectiveness is determined), whereby gains or losses 
are reclassified to the consolidated statements of operations in 
conjunction with the recognition of the underlying hedged item. 
To the extent that the periodic changes in the fair value of the 
derivatives are not effective, or if the hedge ceases to qualify for 
hedge accounting, the ineffective portion of the periodic non-
cash changes are recorded in the consolidated statement of 
operations in the period of the change. The potential for hedge 
ineffectiveness is present in the design of the Company’s cash 
flow hedge relationships (see Note 3 for additional details). 

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company records impairment losses on long-lived 

assets used in operations when events and circumstances indi-
cate that assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash 
flows estimated to be generated by those assets under various 
assumptions are less than the carrying amounts of the assets. 
Impairment losses are measured by comparing the estimated 
fair value of the impaired asset to its carrying amount. There 
were no impairment losses recorded during the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. 

Fair Value 
SFAS No. 157 defines fair value as the price that would 

be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measure-
ment date. The Company adopted SFAS No. 157 effective 
January 1, 2008. Although the adoption of SFAS No. 157 did not 
materially impact the Company’s financial condition, results of 
operations or cash flows, additional disclosures related to fair 
value measurements are now required. See Note 3 for addi-
tional information.

Foreign Currency 
The Company’s foreign subsidiaries utilize the U.S. dollar 

as their functional currency. As such, monetary assets and 
liabilities are remeasured at year-end exchange rates while non-
monetary items are remeasured at historical rates. Income and 
expense accounts are remeasured at the average rates in effect 
during the year, except for those expenses related to balance 
sheet amounts that are remeasured at historical exchange 
rates. Gains and losses from foreign currency remeasurement 
related to tax balances are included as a component of income 
tax expense while all other remeasurement gains and losses are 
included in operating costs and expenses. The foreign currency 
remeasurement gain for the year ended December 31, 2008, 
was $69.9 million. The foreign currency remeasurement loss 
for the year end December 31, 2007 was $60.4 million and for 
December 31, 2006 was $12.8 million.

Share-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for share-based compensation in 

accordance with the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 
No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS 123(R)), 
which the Company adopted using the modified prospective 
option on January 1, 2006. Under SFAS No. 123(R), share-based 
compensation expense is generally measured at the grant date  
and recognized as expense over the vesting period of the award.

Exploration and Drilling Costs
Exploration expenditures are charged to operating costs 

as incurred, including costs related to drilling and study costs 
incurred to convert or upgrade mineral resources to reserves.

Advance Stripping Costs 
Pre-production: At existing surface operations, additional 

pits may be added to increase production capacity in order to 
meet customer requirements. These expansions may require 
significant capital to purchase additional equipment, expand 
the workforce, build or improve existing haul roads and create 
the initial pre-production box cut to remove overburden (i.e., 
advance stripping costs) for new pits at existing operations. If 
these pits operate in a separate and distinct area of the mine, 
the costs associated with initially uncovering coal (i.e., advance 
stripping costs incurred for the initial box cuts) for production 
are capitalized and amortized over the life of the developed pit 
consistent with coal industry practices. 

Post-production: Advance stripping costs related to post-
production are expensed as incurred. Where new pits are 
routinely developed as part of a contiguous mining sequence, 
the Company expenses such costs as incurred. The devel-
opment of a contiguous pit typically reflects the planned 
progression of an existing pit, thus maintaining production 
levels from the same mining area utilizing the same employee 
group and equipment.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to 

conform with the presentation of 2008, with no effect on previ-
ously reported net income or stockholders’ equity.

(2)  DiSCONtiNuED OPEratiONS

Patriot Coal Corporation
On October 31, 2007, the Company spun off portions of 

its formerly Eastern U.S. Mining segment through a dividend 
of all outstanding shares of Patriot Coal Corporation (Patriot), 
which is now an independent public company traded on the 
New York Stock Exchange (symbol PCX). The spin-off included 
eight company-operated mines, two joint venture mines and 
numerous contractor operated mines serviced by eight coal 
preparation facilities along with 1.2 billion tons of proven and 
probable coal reserves. Revenues, pretax income (loss) and the 
income tax provision (benefit) related to the spun off operations 
were as follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2008  2007  2006

Revenues  $431.2   $1,024.5   $1,147.9

Income (loss) before income taxes 
  and minority interests  (23.0) (235.2) 67.9 

Income tax provision (benefit)  (8.9) (81.5) 8.6

Revenues from the spun-off operations are the result of 
supply agreements the Company entered into with Patriot 
to meet commitments under non-assignable, pre-existing 
customer agreements sourced from Patriot mining operations. 
The Company makes no profit as part of these arrangements 
and only sources coal from Patriot to meet customer obliga-
tions. Included in the loss from discontinued operations for the 
year ended December 31, 2008 was the first quarter write-off of 
a $19.4 million receivable related to coal excise taxes previously 
paid on export shipments produced from discontinued opera-
tions. As part of the Patriot spin-off, the Company retained a 
receivable for coal excise tax refunds on export shipments that 
had previously been ruled unconstitutional by the appellate 
court. The U.S. Supreme Court reversed the appellate court’s 
ruling on April 15, 2008, and the Company recorded a charge to 
discontinued operations. 
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In October 2008, the Energy Improvement and Extension Act 
of 2008 was enacted, which contained provisions that allow for 
the refund of coal excise tax collected on coal exported from 
the U.S. between January 1, 1990 and the date of the legisla-
tion. The Company has resubmitted a claim for refund, and that 
claim is subject to approval of the Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS). By statute, the IRS has 180 days to approve the refund 
claims and another 180 days to pay the refund with interest. 
Once the Company is notified of an approved amount, the final 
refund will be recorded to discontinued operations. 

The Company had also entered into a transition services 
agreement, which expired in 2008, to provide certain adminis-
trative and other services to Patriot. Under this agreement,  
the Company billed $1.4 million for services during 2008 and 
$0.9 million for services during 2007.

The assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Patriot 
related discontinued operations as of December 31, 2008 and 
2007 are shown below.

(Dollars in millions)  2008  2007 

Assets

Current assets

Other current assets   $51.0   $113.9 

 Total current assets   51.0   113.9 

Noncurrent assets

Investments and other assets   4.9   39.6 

 Total assets   $55.9   $153.5 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $69.1   $180.4 

 Total current liabilities   69.1   180.4 

Noncurrent liabilities

Other noncurrent liabilities   12.8   33.2 

 Total liabilities   $81.9   $213.6

Other current assets included receivables from customers 
in relation to the supply agreements with Patriot, and accounts 
payable and accrued expenses included the amounts due to 
Patriot on these pass-through transactions. Also included in 
other current assets is the current portion of deferred taxes 
related to these operations. Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses include an accrual for charges related to losses on 
firm purchase commitments that extend through 2010.

During 2008, the Company recognized an additional dividend 
to Patriot of $26.5 million related to the true-up of deferred tax 
assets associated with Patriot.

Other
In December 2008, the Company sold its Baralaba Mine, 

a non-strategic Australian mine, for $25.8 million of cash 
proceeds and an Australian dollar note receivable valued at 
approximately $8.7 million on December 31, 2008, resulting in 
a gain of $26.2 million. The non-cash portion of this transaction 
was excluded from the investing section of the consolidated 
statement of cash flows. Revenues related to these operations 
for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were 
$18.8 million, $22.1 million and $10.2 million, respectively. Loss  
before income taxes and minority interests related to these 
operations was $15.7 million, $10.6 million and $10.6 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. Income tax benefits for all periods presented were 
completely offset by valuation allowances recorded against the 
deferred tax assets created by the operating losses. 

In December 2008, the Company committed to the divesti-
ture of certain non-strategic Midwestern U.S. mining assets. At 
December 31, 2008, the carrying amount of assets held for sale 
totaled $12.6 million, which was included in “Investments and 
other assets.” The carrying amount of liabilities associated with 
assets held for sale totaled $9.4 million, which was included in 
“Other noncurrent liabilities.” Revenues related to these opera-
tions for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 
were $30.6 million, $39.5 million and $47.3 million, respectively. 
Loss, net of tax, related to these operations was $27.7 million, 
$8.2 million and $6.5 million for the years ended December 31, 
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(3)  riSk maNagEmENt aND  
Fair ValuE mEaSurEmENtS

Employees
As of December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately 

7,200 employees. As of December 31, 2008, approximately 
28% of the Company’s hourly employees were represented 
by organized labor unions and generated 10% of the 2008 coal 
production. Relations with its employees and, where applicable, 
organized labor are important to the Company’s success.

United States Labor Relations
Hourly workers at the Company’s Kayenta Mine in Arizona 

are represented by the United Mine Workers of America 
(UMWA) under the Western Surface Agreement, which is 
effective through September 2, 2013. This agreement covers 
approximately 7% of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries’ hourly 
employees, who generated 4% of the Company’s U.S. produc-
tion during the year ended December 31, 2008. 

Hourly workers at the Company’s Willow Lake Mine in Illinois 
are represented by the International Brotherhood of Boiler-
makers under a labor agreement that expires April 15, 2011. 
This agreement covers approximately 8% of the Company’s 
U.S. subsidiaries’ hourly employees, who generated approxi-
mately 2% of the Company’s U.S. production during the year 
ended December 31, 2008.

Australia Labor Relations
The Australian coal mining industry is unionized and the 

majority of workers employed at the Company’s Austra-
lian Mining operations are members of trade unions. The 
Construction Forestry Mining and Energy Union represents 
the Company’s Australian subsidiary’s hourly production 
employees, including those employed through contract mining 
relationships. The labor agreements at the Company’s Austra-
lian subsidiary’s Millennium Mine were renewed in 2007 
and expire in 2010. The labor agreements at the Company’s 
Australian subsidiary’s Chain Valley Mine and Wambo Mine coal 
handling plant were renewed in 2008 and expire in 2011. The 
labor agreements for the Company’s Australian subsidiary’s 
Wambo Underground Mine and North Goonyella Mine are under 
negotiation. The Wambo Underground Mine agreement expired 
in November 2008 while the North Goonyella Mine’s existing 
agreement expires in May 2009.

Risk Management
The Company is exposed to various types of risk in the 

normal course of business, including fluctuations in commodity 
prices, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. 
These risks are actively monitored in an effort to ensure compli-
ance with the risk management policies of the Company. In 
most cases, commodity price risk (excluding coal trading 
activities) related to the sale of coal is mitigated through the use 
of long-term, fixed-price contracts rather than financial instru-
ments, while commodity price risk related to materials used 
in production is managed through the use of fixed price and 
cost plus contracts and derivatives. Interest rate and foreign 
currency exchange risk are managed through the use of forward 
contracts, swaps and options. The following summarizes the 
Company’s interest rate, currency and commodity positions at 
December 31, 2008:

    Account  
   Notional Amount by term to maturity Classification by 

          Cash Fair Fair Value- 
         2014 and flow value asset 
   Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 thereafter hedge hedge (liability)

Interest Rate Swaps

Fixed-to-floating  
  (dollars in millions) $320.0  $ –  $ –  $ – $ –  $220.0   $100.0   $ –   $320.0  $ 12.5  

Floating-to-fixed  
  (dollars in millions) $186.0  $ –  $ –    $120.0  $ –  $ –  $ 66.0   $186.0   $ –   $(21.8)

Foreign Currency

A$:US$ forwards and  
  options (A$ millions) 2,408.0   1,161.7   826.3   420.0  – – –   2,408.0  –   (283.8)

Commodity Contracts

Diesel fuel hedge contracts  
  (million gallons)  189.4   98.4   64.4   26.6  – – –  189.4  –  (176.5) 

U.S. explosives hedge contracts  
  (million MMbtu)  6.5   3.6   2.9  – – – –  6.5  –  (18.2)

Interest Rate Swaps
The Company’s usage of interest rate swaps is discussed in 

Note 12.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Company utilizes currency forwards and options to 

hedge currency risk associated with anticipated Australian  
dollar expenditures. 

Diesel Fuel and Explosives Hedges
The Company uses a combination of forward contracts 

with its suppliers and financial derivative contracts, which are 
primarily swap contracts with financial institutions, to manage 
commodity risk associated with diesel fuel in the U.S. and 
Australia (non-contractor mines) and explosives in the  
U.S. Explosives costs in Australia are generally included in  
the fees paid to the Company’s contract miners.

Hedge Ineffectiveness
The Company assesses both at inception and at least 

quarterly thereafter, whether the derivatives used in hedging 
activities are highly effective at offsetting the changes in 
the anticipated cash flows of the hedged item. The effective 
portion of the change in the fair value is recorded as a separate 
component of stockholders’ equity until the hedged transac-
tion occurs, whereby gains and losses are reclassified to the 
consolidated statement of operations in conjunction with the 
recognition of the underlying hedged item. The ineffective 
portion of the derivative’s change in fair value is recorded in the 
consolidated statement of operations. In addition, if the hedging 
relationship ceases to be highly effective, or it becomes prob-
able that a forecasted transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, gains and losses on the derivative are recorded to the 
consolidated statements of operations. 

A measure of ineffectiveness is inherent in hedging future 
diesel fuel purchases with derivative positions based on crude 
oil or other mid-distillate commodities, especially given the 
recent volatility in the prices of refined products. 

The Company’s hedging of future explosives purchases 
is primarily through the use of derivative positions based on 
natural gas, which closely matches the contractual purchase 
price of explosives since price changes occur in a constant ratio 
of MMBtu per ton in the manufacture of explosives and gener-
ally carry a fixed surcharge.

In some instances, the Company has designated an existing 
derivative as a hedge and, thus, the derivative has a non-zero 
fair value at hedge inception. The “off-market” nature of these 
derivatives, which is best described as an embedded financing 
element within the derivative, is a source of ineffectiveness. In 
other instances, the Company uses a derivative that settles at a 
time later than the occurrence of the cash flow being hedged. 
The hedge yields ineffectiveness to the extent the fair value of 
the hedged item and the derivative hedge contract do not move 
by identical amounts. 
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For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company recog-
nized $5.0 million of higher operating costs related to hedge 
ineffectiveness. During 2007 and 2006, the Company did not 
recognize any hedge ineffectiveness.

Performance and Credit Risk
The Company’s concentration of performance and credit 

risk is substantially with electric utilities, energy producers and 
energy marketers. The Company’s policy is to independently 
evaluate each customer’s creditworthiness prior to entering 
into transactions and to regularly monitor the credit extended. 
If the Company engages in a transaction with a counterparty 
that does not meet its credit standards, the Company seeks to 
protect its position by requiring the counterparty to provide an 
appropriate credit enhancement. These steps include obtaining 
letters of credit or cash collateral, requiring prepayments for 
shipments or the creation of customer trust accounts held for 
the Company’s benefit to serve as collateral in the event of a 
failure to pay. In general, increases in coal price volatility and the 
Company’s trading activity resulted in greater exposure to its 
coal-trading counterparties during 2008.

In addition to credit risk, performance risk includes the possi-
bility that a counterparty fails to deliver agreed production or 
trading volumes. When appropriate (as determined by its credit 
management function), the Company has taken steps to reduce 
its exposure to customers or counterparties whose credit 
has deteriorated and who may pose a higher risk of failure to 
perform under their contractual obligations. These steps include 
obtaining letters of credit or cash collateral, requiring prepay-
ments for shipments or the creation of customer trust accounts 
held for the Company’s benefit to serve as collateral in the 
event of a failure to pay. To reduce its credit exposure related  
to trading and brokerage activities, the Company seeks to  
enter into netting agreements with counterparties that  
permit the Company to offset receivables and payables with  
such counterparties. 

The Company conducts its various hedging activities related 
to foreign currency, interest rate management and fuel and 
explosives exposures with a variety of highly-rated commercial 
banks. In light of the recent turmoil in the financial markets  
the Company continues to closely monitor counterparty  
creditworthiness. 

Fair Value Measurements – Risk Management  
and Coal Trading

The following table summarizes the income statement  
classification for the Company’s financial instruments for  
which fair value is measured on a recurring basis:

   Income Statement Classification

Financial Instrument Gains/Losses - Realized Gains/Losses - Unrealized (1)

Commodity swaps and options –  
  coal trading activities Other revenues Other revenues

Commodity swaps and options –  
  other than coal Operating costs and expenses –

Physical commodity purchase/sale contracts –  
  coal trading activities Other revenues Other revenues

Interest rate swaps Interest expense –

Foreign currency forwards and options Operating costs and expenses –

(1)   Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges are 
recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity until settlement of underlying 
transaction (or until the hedge ineffectiveness is determined).

As discussed in Note 1, the Company adopted SFAS No. 157 
effective January 1, 2008. Although the adoption of SFAS No. 
157 did not materially impact the Company’s financial condi-
tion, results of operations or cash flows, additional disclosures 
related to fair value measurements are now required. SFAS  
No. 157 establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that 
categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value based 
on the observability of the inputs utilized in the valuation. 
These levels include: Level 1, inputs are quoted prices in active 
markets for the identical assets or liabilities; Level 2, inputs 
other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are directly or 
indirectly observable through market-corroborated inputs; and 
Level 3, inputs are unobservable, or observable but cannot be 
market-corroborated, requiring the Company to make assump-
tions about pricing by market participants. 

The following table sets forth as of December 31, 2008 the 
hierarchy of the Company’s net financial asset (liability) posi-
tions for which fair value is measured on a recurring basis:

(Dollars in millions) Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total

Commodity swaps and options –  
  coal trading activities $(17.0) $ 233.7   $ (1.1)  $ 215.6  

Commodity swaps and options –  
  other than coal –   (194.7) –   (194.7)

Physical commodity purchase/sale  
  contracts – coal trading activities –   104.1    38.9   143.0

Interest rate swaps –   (9.3) –   (9.3)

Foreign currency forwards and options –   (283.8) –   (283.8)

 Total net financial assets  
   (liabilities)  $(17.0)  $(150.0)  $37.8   $(129.2)

For Level 1 and 2 financial assets and liabilities, the Company 
utilizes both direct and indirect observable price quotes, 
including LIBOR yield curves, New York Mercantile Exchange 
indices and other market quotes. Below is a summary of the 
Company’s valuation techniques for Level 1 and 2 financial 
assets and liabilities:

•	 	Commodity	swaps	and	options	–	coal	trading	activi-
ties: generally valued based on unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets (Level 1) or a valuation that is 
corroborated by the use of market-based pricing  
(Level 2). 

•	 	Commodity	swaps	and	options	–	other	than	coal:	
generally valued based on a valuation that is corrobo-
rated by the use of market-based pricing (Level 2).

•	 	Physical	commodity	purchase/sale	contracts	–	coal	
trading activities: purchases and sales at locations 
with significant market activity corroborated by market-
based information (Level 2). 

•	 	Interest	rate	swaps:	valued	based	on	quoted	inputs	
from counterparties corroborated with observable 
market data (Level 2).

•	 	Foreign	currency	forwards	and	options:	valued	utilizing	
inputs obtained in quoted public markets (Level 2). 

Commodity swaps and options and physical commodity 
purchase/sale contracts transacted in less liquid markets or 
contracts, such as long-term arrangements with limited price 
availability were classified in Level 3. These instruments or 
contracts are valued based on quoted inputs from brokers or 
counterparties, or reflect methodologies that consider historical 
relationships among similar commodities to derive the Compa-
ny’s best estimate of fair value. The Company has consistently 
applied these valuation techniques in all periods presented, and 
believes it has obtained the most accurate information available 
for the types of derivative contracts held. 

The following table summarizes the changes in the  
Company’s recurring Level 3 net financial assets as of 
December 31, 2008:

(Dollars in millions)   2008

Beginning of period    $128.7

Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):

 Included in earnings   (9.8)

 Included in other comprehensive income   3.4  

Purchases, issuances and settlements    (58.8)

Net transfers out    (25.7)

December 31, 2008    $ 37.8

The following table summarizes the changes in unrealized 
losses relating to Level 3 net financial assets held both as of 
January 1 and December 31, 2008:

(Dollars in millions)   2008

Changes in unrealized losses (1)    $(34.8)

(1)   For the periods presented, unrealized gains and losses from Level 3 items are offset by 
unrealized gains and losses on positions classified in Level 1 or 2, as well as other positions that 
have been realized during the applicable periods.

Fair Value – Other Financial Instruments
The following methods and assumptions were used by the 

Company in estimating its fair value disclosures for other finan-
cial instruments as of December 31, 2008 and 2007:

•	 	Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	accounts	receivable	and	
accounts payable and accrued expenses have carrying 
values which approximate fair value due to the short 
maturity or the financial nature of these instruments.

•	 	Long-term	debt	fair	value	estimates	are	based	on	
observed prices for securities with an active trading 
market when available, and otherwise on estimated 
borrowing rates to discount the cash flows to their 
present value. The 7.875% Senior Notes due 2026 are 
net of unamortized note discount. 

•	 	Interest	rate	swaps	are	valued	based	on	quoted	inputs	
from counterparties corroborated with observable 
market data (Level 2).

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the 
Company’s debt are summarized as follows:

    2008 2007

   Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated 
(Dollars in millions) Amount Fair Value  Amount  Fair Value

Long-term debt $3,156.2   $2,734.8   $3,273.1   $3,471.6

(4)  rESOurCE maNagEmENt aND  
OthEr COmmErCial EVENtS 

In 2008, the Company sold approximately 58 million tons 
of non-strategic coal reserves and surface lands located in 
Kentucky for $21.5 million cash proceeds and a note receivable 
of $54.9 million and recognized a gain of $54.0 million. The  
note receivable is being paid in two installments, $30.0 million 
of which was received in December 2008. The balance is to  
be paid in June 2009. The non-cash portion of this transaction 
was excluded from the investing section of the consolidated 
statement of cash flows. 
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In 2007, the Company sold approximately 172 million tons of 
coal reserves and surface lands to the Prairie State equity part-
ners. The Company recognized a gain totaling $26.4 million and 
received $114.3 million in cash proceeds associated with this 
transaction. See Note 19 for additional information regarding 
Prairie State.

In 2007, the Company exchanged oil and gas rights and 
assets in more than 860,000 acres in the Illinois Basin, West 
Virginia, New Mexico and the Powder River Basin for coal 
reserves in West Virginia and Kentucky and $15.0 million in  
cash proceeds. The Company’s subsidiaries, including one 
subsidiary now owned by Patriot, received approximately  
40 million tons of coal reserves. Based on the fair value of the 
coal reserves received, the Company recognized a $50.5 million 
gain on the exchange. The non-cash portion of this transaction 
was excluded from the investing section of the consolidated 
statement of cash flows. 

In 2006, the Company exchanged approximately 63 million 
tons of coal reserves at its Caballo mining operation for 
approximately 46 million tons of coal reserves contiguous with 
the Company’s North Antelope Rochelle mining operation. 
Based on the fair value of the coal reserves exchanged, the 
Company recognized a gain totaling $39.2 million. This non-
cash transaction was excluded from the investing section of the 
consolidated statement of cash flows.

In 2006, the Company recognized $35.8 million in gains 
related to the settlement of commitments by a third-party coal 
producer following a brokerage contract restructuring. The gains 
are included in “Other revenues” in the consolidated statements 
of operations. 

(5)  aSSEtS aND liaBilitiES FrOm  
COal traDiNg aCtiVitiES

The fair value of assets and liabilities from coal trading activi-
ties is set forth below:

   2008 2007

(Dollars in millions) Gross Basis  Net Basis  Gross Basis  Net Basis

Assets from coal trading activities  $1,969.7    $ 662.8    $ 967.1   $ 349.8

Liabilities from coal trading activities  (1,548.5)  (304.2)  (918.6)  (301.8)

Subtotal  421.2    358.6    48.5    48.0

Margin held (1)  (62.6) –   (0.5) –

Net assets from coal trading activities  $ 358.6    $ 358.6    $ 48.0    $ 48.0

(1)   Represents margin held from counterparties that was netted in accordance with FSP FIN 39-1 
and does not represent the Company’s total margin held or posted.

The increase in pricing since December 31, 2007 and higher 
trading volumes have significantly increased the value of the 
Company’s trading portfolio in 2008. As of December 31, 2008, 
forward contracts made up 50% and 77% of the Company’s 
trading assets and liabilities, respectively; financial swaps 

represent most of the remaining balances. The fair value of coal 
trading positions designated as cash flow hedges of anticipated 
future sales was an asset of $220.4 million as of December 31, 
2008 and a liability of $44.1 million as of December 31, 2007. 
The net value of trading positions, including those designated 
as hedges of future cash flows, represents the fair value of the 
trading portfolio. 

Of the coal trading derivatives and related hedge contracts 
in the Company’s trading portfolio as of December 31, 2008, 
94% were valued utilizing prices from over-the-counter market 
sources, adjusted for coal quality and traded transportation 
differentials and 6% of the Company’s contracts were valued 
based on similar market transactions.

As of December 31, 2008, the estimated future realization of 
the value of the Company’s trading portfolio was as follows:

Year of Expiration  Percentage of Portfolio

2009    75%

2010    13%

2011    11%

2012    1%

     100%

At December 31, 2008, 66% of the Company’s credit exposure  
related to coal trading activities with investment grade counter- 
parties and 34% with non-investment grade counterparties. The 
Company’s coal trading operations traded 192.9 million tons, 
166.5 million tons and 79.1 million tons for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

(6)  aCCOuNtS rECEiVaBlE SECuritizatiON
The Company has an accounts receivable securitization 

program through its wholly-owned, bankruptcy-remote subsid-
iary (Seller). Under the program, the Company contributes 
undivided interests in a pool of eligible trade receivables to 
the Seller, which then sells, without recourse, to a multi-seller, 
asset-backed commercial paper conduit (Conduit). Purchases by 
the Conduit are financed with the sale of highly rated commer-
cial paper. The Company utilizes proceeds from the sale of  
its accounts receivable as an alternative to other forms of  
debt, effectively reducing its overall borrowing costs. The 
funding cost of the securitization program was $10.8 million,  
$11.2 million and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The securitization program 
and the underlying facilities will effectively expire in May 2009.

The securitization transactions have been recorded as sales, 
with those accounts receivable sold to the Conduit removed 
from the consolidated balance sheets. The amount of undivided 
interests in accounts receivable sold to the Conduit was  
$275.0 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 and  
$219.2 million as of December 31, 2006. 

The Seller is a separate legal entity whose assets are avail-
able first and foremost to satisfy the claims of its creditors. 
Eligible receivables, as defined in the securitization agreement, 
consist of trade receivables from most of the Company’s U.S. 
subsidiaries, and are reduced for certain items such as past 
due balances and concentration limits. Of the eligible pool of 
receivables contributed to the Seller, undivided interests in only 
a portion of the pool are sold to the Conduit. The Company 
(the Seller) continues to own $75.6 million of receivables as of 
December 31, 2008, which represents collateral supporting the 
securitization program. The Seller’s interest in these receivables 
is subordinate to the Conduit’s interest in the event of default 
under the securitization agreement. If the Company defaulted 
under the securitization agreement or if its pool of eligible trade 
receivables decreased significantly, the Company could be 
prohibited from selling any additional receivables in the future 
under the agreement. 

(7)  EarNiNgS PEr SharE 
A reconciliation of weighted-average shares outstanding 

follows: 

   2008 2007 2006

Weighted-average shares  
  outstanding – basic 268,860,528 264,068,180 263,419,344

Dilutive impact of stock options,  
  restricted stock units, employee  
  stock purchase plan, and  
  performance units 2,415,321 5,098,110 5,746,661

Weighted-average shares  
  outstanding – diluted 271,275,849 269,166,290 269,166,005

(8)  iNVENtOriES
Inventories consisted of the following:

(Dollars in millions)  2008 2007

Materials and supplies   $110.2   $ 90.2 

Raw coal  24.0  45.5 

Saleable coal  143.5  129.0 

 Total  $277.7   $264.7

(9)  lEaSES
The Company leases equipment and facilities under various 

noncancelable lease agreements. Certain lease agreements 
require the maintenance of specified ratios and contain restric-
tive covenants which limit indebtedness, subsidiary dividends, 
investments, asset sales and other Company actions.  
Rental expense under operating leases was $108.7 million,  
$104.7 million and $78.5 million for the years ended  

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The  
gross value of property, plant, equipment and mine develop-
ment assets under capital leases was $99.4 million and  
$116.9 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respec-
tively, related primarily to the leasing of mining equipment. The 
accumulated amortization for these items was $18.2 million and 
$24.7 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Company also leases coal reserves under agreements 
that require royalties to be paid as the coal is mined. Certain 
agreements also require minimum annual royalties to be paid 
regardless of the amount of coal mined during the year. Total 
royalty expense was $508.2 million, $343.1 million and  
$285.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2008,  
2007 and 2006, respectively.

A substantial amount of the coal mined by the Company 
is produced from mineral reserves leased from the owner. 
One of the major lessors is the U.S. government, from which 
the Company leases substantially all of the coal it mines in 
Wyoming and Colorado under terms set by Congress and 
administered by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management. These 
leases are generally for an initial term of ten years but may be 
extended by diligent development and mining of the reserves 
until all economically recoverable reserves are depleted. The 
Company has met the diligent development requirements for 
substantially all of these federal leases either directly through 
production or by including the lease as a part of a logical mining 
unit with other leases upon which development has occurred. 
Annual production on these federal leases must total at least 
1.0% of the original amount of coal in the entire logical mining 
unit. In addition, royalties are payable monthly at a rate of 12.5% 
of the gross realization from the sale of the coal mined using 
surface mining methods and at a rate of 8.0% of the gross real-
ization for coal produced using underground mining methods. 
The Company also leases coal reserves in Arizona from The 
Navajo Nation and the Hopi Tribe under leases that are adminis-
tered by the U.S. Department of the Interior. These leases expire 
upon exhaustion of the leased reserves or upon the perma-
nent ceasing of all mining activities on the related reserves 
as a whole. The royalty rates are also generally based upon a 
percentage of the gross realization from the sale of coal. These 
rates are subject to redetermination every ten years under the 
terms of the leases. The remainder of the leased coal is gener-
ally leased from state governments, land holding companies 
and various individuals. The duration of these leases varies 
greatly. Typically, the lease terms are automatically extended as 
long as active mining continues. Royalty payments are gener-
ally based upon a specified rate per ton or a percentage of the 
gross realization from the sale of the coal.
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Future minimum lease and royalty payments as of  
December 31, 2008, are as follows:

     Coal Lease 
   Capital Operating and Royalty 
(Dollars in millions) Leases Leases Obligations

2009   $19.1   $ 76.3   $134.1 

2010   15.1   73.3   8.0 

2011   15.1   59.2   7.1 

2012   15.1   41.2   6.2 

2013   23.0   32.4   5.3 

2014 and thereafter  12.0   126.8   33.2 

Total minimum lease payments  $99.4   $409.2   $193.9 

Less interest  18.2   

Present value of minimum  
  capital lease payments  $81.2 

As of December 31, 2008, certain of the Company’s lease 
obligations were secured by outstanding surety bonds totaling 
$99.2 million. 

(10)  aCCOuNtS PayaBlE aND aCCruED ExPENSES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of  

the following:

(Dollars in millions)  2008 2007

Trade accounts payable   $ 427.9   $ 393.5 

Accrued taxes other than income  170.7  152.2 

Accrued payroll and related benefits  120.1  76.1 

Accrued health care  82.5  83.5 

Workers’ compensation obligations  8.7  6.2 

Other accrued benefits  4.1  3.1 

Accrued royalties  77.7  35.4 

Accrued environmental  7.6  7.1 

Income taxes payable – Australia  142.7  27.6 

Accrued interest  31.1  30.9 

Other accrued expenses  131.7  131.8 

Commodity and foreign currency hedge contracts  261.1  1.5 

Liabilities associated with discontinued operations  69.1  180.4 

Current liabilities associated with assets held for sale – 4.7 

 Total accounts payable and accrued expenses   $1,535.0   $1,134.0

(11) iNCOmE taxES 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and 

minority interests consisted of the following:

(Dollars in millions) 2008 2007 2006

U.S.   $ 186.1   $297.0   $235.3 

Non U.S.  990.7  67.8  249.5 

 Total  $1,176.8   $364.8   $484.8

Total income tax provision (benefit) consisted of the following:

(Dollars in millions) 2008  2007  2006

Current:

 U.S. federal  $ –  $ –   $ 4.3  

 Non U.S.  218.7   26.4   67.6  

 State –  0.2   0.4  

  Total current  218.7   26.6   72.3  

Deferred:

 U.S. federal  47.5   (136.5) (161.0)

 Non U.S.  (81.7) 44.2   4.1  

 State  1.3   (7.2) (1.1)

  Total deferred  (32.9) (99.5) (158.0)

  Total provision (benefit)  $185.8    $ (72.9)  $(85.7)

The income tax rate differed from the U.S. federal statutory 
rate as follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2008  2007  2006

Federal statutory rate  $411.9   $ 127.7    $ 169.7  

Excess depletion  (40.1) (55.3) (52.3)

Foreign earnings rate differential  (124.4) (17.3) (20.4)

Remeasurement of foreign deferred taxes  (65.2) 56.0   –    

State income taxes, net of  
  U.S. federal tax benefit  (1.6) 0.8   5.6  

Tax credits  (12.6) (24.3) –    

Changes in valuation allowance  (44.2) (175.7) (165.5)

Changes in tax reserves  34.4  3.3   (28.7)

Other, net  27.6  11.9   5.9  

 Total provision (benefit)  $185.8   $ (72.9)  $ (85.7)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to 
significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities 
consisted of the following:

(Dollars in millions)  2008  2007

Deferred tax assets:   

 Tax credits and loss carryforwards   $ 785.9    $ 680.9  

 Postretirement benefit obligations   403.9   350.1  

 Intangible tax asset and purchased contract rights 58.1   83.6  

 Accrued reclamation and mine closing liabilities   46.2   32.4  

 Accrued long-term workers’ compensation liabilities 12.6   15.6  

 Employee benefits   56.2   35.9  

 Financial guarantee   23.8   24.4  

 Others   56.5   39.5  

  Total gross deferred tax assets   1,443.2   1,262.4  

Deferred tax liabilities:

  Property, plant, equipment and mine development,  
  leased coal interests and advance 
  royalties, principally due to differences 
  in depreciation, depletion and asset writedowns 1,154.2   1,357.8  

 Hedge activities   35.3   43.1  

 Investments and other assets   76.6   64.9  

  Total gross deferred tax liabilities   1,266.1   1,465.8  

Valuation allowance   (57.0) (92.6)

  Net deferred tax asset (liability)   $ 120.1    $ (296.0)

Deferred taxes are classified as follows:

 Current deferred income taxes  1.7   58.8  

 Noncurrent deferred income taxes  118.4   (354.8)

  Net deferred tax asset (liability)   $ 120.1    $ (296.0)

The Company’s tax credits and loss carryforwards included 
alternative minimum tax (AMT) and general business credits 
of $62.4 million and $49.8 million, U.S. NOL carryforwards of 
$653.5 million and $574.3 million and foreign loss carryforwards 
of $70.0 million and $56.8 million as of December 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively. The AMT credits and foreign NOL and capital 
loss carryforwards have no expiration date and the U.S. NOL 
carryforwards begin to expire in the year 2020. The Company 
evaluated and assessed the expected near-term utilization of 
NOLs, future book and taxable income, available tax strategies 
and the overall deferred tax position to determine the appro-
priate amount and timing of valuation allowance adjustments. 
The largest component of the 2008 assessment was a  
$45.3 million reduction of a valuation allowance on foreign 

NOL’s. Significant reductions of valuation allowance on U.S. 
NOL carryforwards arose during the 2007 and 2006 assess-
ments. The remaining valuation allowance at December 31, 
2008 of $57.0 million represents a reserve for AMT credits, 
certain foreign deferred tax assets and state loss carryforwards 
due to uncertainty of their ultimate realization.

The total amount of the net unrecognized tax benefits was 
$176.9 million ($186.3 million gross) at December 31, 2008 
and was $143.2 million ($152.6 million gross) at December 31, 
2007. The amount of the Company’s gross unrecognized tax 
benefits has increased by $33.7 million since January 1, 2008. 
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross 
unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (dollars in millions):

Balance at January 1, 2008    $152.6 

Additions based on tax positions related to current year   30.3 

Additions to tax positions of prior years    3.4 

Balance at December 31, 2008    $186.3

The amount of the net unrecognized tax benefits that, if 
recognized, would directly affect the effective tax rate is  
$176.9 million. However, $27.0 million would generate a 
deferred tax asset for state NOL carryforwards that would more 
likely than not be offset by a valuation allowance. The Company 
does not expect any significant changes to its net unrecognized 
tax benefits within 12 months of this reporting date.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued 
related to unrecognized tax benefits in its income tax  
provision. The Company has recognized $1.3 million of interest 
for the year ended December 31, 2008. The Company had  
$3.6 million and $2.3 million of accrued interest related to uncer-
tain tax positions at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
The Company has considered the application of penalties on its 
unrecognized tax benefits and determined, based upon several 
factors, including the existence of NOL carryforwards, that no 
accrual of penalties is required.

The Company’s federal income tax returns for the tax years 
2005 and 2006 are currently under examination by the IRS while 
the Company’s federal income tax returns for 1999 through 
2001, 2003 through 2004 and 2007 through 2008 remain subject 
to examination by the IRS. The Company’s state income tax 
returns for the tax years 1991 and beyond remain subject to 
examination by various state taxing authorities. The Company’s 
foreign income tax returns for the tax years 2003 and beyond 
remain subject to examination by various foreign taxing  
authorities. 

The total amount of undistributed earnings of foreign  
subsidiaries for income tax purposes was approximately  
$1.2 billion at December 31, 2008 and $303.6 million at 
December 31, 2007. The Company has not provided deferred 
taxes on foreign earnings of $1.1 billion for 2008 and of  
$264.5 million for 2007 because such earnings were intended to 
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be indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. Should the Company 
repatriate all of these earnings, a one-time income tax charge 
to the Company’s consolidated results of operations of up to 
$387.0 million could occur.

The following table summarizes the Company’s tax payments:

(Dollars in millions) 2008 2007 2006

U.S. – federal  $ –  $ 3.0   $ 3.9 

U.S. – state and local –  1.2   0.5 

Non U.S.  65.8  80.0  23.1 

 Total tax payments  $65.8   $84.2   $27.5

(12)  lONg-tErm DEBt
The Company’s total indebtedness as of December 31, 2008 

and 2007, consisted of the following:

(Dollars in millions)  2008 2007

Term Loan under Senior Unsecured Credit Facility   $ 490.3  $ 509.1 

Revolving Credit Facility  – 97.7 

Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures due 2066 732.5  732.5 

7.375% Senior Notes due 2016  650.0  650.0 

6.875% Senior Notes due 2013  650.0  650.0 

7.875% Senior Notes due 2026  247.0  247.0 

5.875% Senior Notes due 2016  218.1  218.1 

6.84% Series C Bonds due 2016  43.0  43.0 

6.34% Series B Bonds due 2014  18.0  21.0 

6.84% Series A Bonds due 2014  10.0  10.0 

Capital lease obligations  81.2  92.2 

Fair value hedge adjustment  15.1  1.6 

Other   1.0  0.9 

 Total  $3,156.2   $3,273.1

Senior Unsecured Credit Facility
On September 15, 2006, the Company entered into a 

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the Agree-
ment), which established a $2.75 billion Senior Unsecured 
Credit Facility (the Senior Unsecured Credit Facility) and which 
amended and restated in full the Company’s then existing  
$1.35 billion Senior Secured Credit Facility (the Senior Secured 
Credit Facility). The Senior Unsecured Credit Facility provides a 
$1.8 billion Revolving Credit Facility (the Revolver) and a  
$950.0 million Term Loan Facility (the Term Loan Facility).

The Revolver is intended to accommodate working capital 
needs, letters of credit, and other general corporate purposes. 
The Revolver also includes a $50.0 million sub-facility available 
for same-day swingline loan borrowings. As of  
December 31, 2008, the Company had no borrowings and 
$245.1 million letters of credit outstanding under the Revolver, 
with a remaining available borrowing capacity of $1.5 billion. 

The Term Loan Facility, which was fully drawn in October 
2006 in connection with the Excel Coal Limited (Excel) acquisi-
tion was paid down ($403.0 million) from a portion of the net 
proceeds from the Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures 
due 2066 (the Debentures). In conjunction with the establish-
ment of the Senior Unsecured Credit Facility, the Company 
incurred $8.6 million in financing costs, of which $5.6 million 
related to the Revolver and $3.0 million related to the Term 
Loan. These debt issuance costs are being amortized to interest 
expense over five years, the term of the Senior Unsecured 
Credit Facility. 

Loans under the facility are available to the Company in U.S. 
dollars, with a sub-facility under the Revolver available in Austra-
lian dollars, pounds sterling and euros. Letters of credit under 
the Revolver are available to the Company in U.S. dollars with a 
sub-facility available in Australian dollars, pounds sterling and 
euros. The interest rate payable on the Revolver and the Term 
Loan is based on a pricing grid tied to the Company’s leverage 
ratio, as defined in the Agreement. The interest rate payable on 
the Revolver and the Term Loan is currently LIBOR plus 0.75%, 
which was 2.2% at December 31, 2008. 

Under the Senior Unsecured Credit Facility, the Company 
must comply with certain financial covenants on a quarterly 
basis including a minimum interest coverage ratio and a 
maximum leverage ratio, as defined in the Agreement. The 
financial covenants also place limitations on the Company’s 
investments in joint ventures, unrestricted subsidiaries, 
indebtedness of non-loan parties and the imposition of liens on 
Company assets. The new facility is less restrictive with respect 
to limitations on the Company’s dividend payments, capital 
expenditures, asset sales and stock repurchases. The Senior 
Unsecured Credit Facility matures on September 15, 2011.

Convertible Junior Subordinated Debentures 
As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $732.5 million 

aggregate principal of 4.75% Convertible Junior Subordi-
nated Debentures outstanding, which are due 2066, including 
$57.5 million issued pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of 
their over-allotment option. The Debentures generally require 
interest to be paid semiannually at a rate of 4.75% per year. The 
Company may elect to, and if and to the extent that a manda-
tory trigger event (as defined in the indenture governing the 
Debentures) has occurred and is continuing will be required 
to, defer interest payments on the Debentures. After five years 
of deferral at the Company’s option, or upon the occurrence 
of a mandatory trigger event, the Company generally must sell 
warrants or preferred stock with specified characteristics and 

use the funds from that sale to pay deferred interest, subject 
to certain limitations. In no event may the Company defer 
payments of interest on the Debentures for more than 10 years. 

The Debentures are convertible at any time on or prior to 
December 15, 2036 if any of the following conditions occur: 
(i) the Company’s closing common stock price exceeds 140% 
of the then applicable conversion price for the Debentures 
(currently $81.81 per share) for at least 20 of the final 30 trading 
days in any quarter; (ii) a notice of redemption is issued with 
respect to the Debentures; (iii) a change of control, as defined 
in the indenture governing the Debentures; (iv) satisfaction 
of certain trading price conditions; and (v) other specified 
corporate transactions described in the indenture governing 
the Debentures. In addition, the Debentures are convertible at 
any time after December 15, 2036 to December 15, 2041, the 
scheduled maturity date. In the case of conversion following 
a notice of redemption or upon a non-stock change of control, 
as defined in the indenture governing the Debentures, holders 
may convert their Debentures into cash in the amount of 
the principal amount of their Debentures and shares of the 
Company’s common stock for any conversion value in excess 
of the principal amount. In all other conversion circumstances, 
holders will receive perpetual preferred stock (see Note 16) with 
a liquidation preference equal to the principal amount of their 
Debentures, and any conversion value in excess of the principal 
amount will be settled with the Company’s common stock.  
As a result of the Patriot spin-off, the conversion rate was 
adjusted. The current conversion rate is 17.1125 shares of 
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures 
effective November 23, 2007. This adjusted conversion rate 
represents a conversion price of approximately $58.44.

The Debentures are not subject to redemption prior 
to December 20, 2011. Between December 20, 2011 and 
December 19, 2036 the Company may redeem the Debentures, 
in whole or in part, if for at least 20 out of the 30 consecutive 
trading days immediately prior to the date on which notice of 
redemption is given, the Company’s closing common stock 
price has exceeded 130% of the then applicable conversion 
price for the Debentures. On or after December 20, 2036, 
whether or not the redemption condition is satisfied, the 
Company may redeem the Debentures, in whole or in part. The 
Company may not redeem any Debentures unless (i) all accrued 
and unpaid interest on the Debentures has been paid in full on 
or prior to the redemption date and (ii) if any perpetual preferred 
stock is outstanding, the Company has first given notice to 
redeem the perpetual preferred stock in the same proportion 
as the redemption of the Debentures. Any redemption of the 
Debentures will be at a cash redemption price of 100% of 
the principal amount of the Debentures to be redeemed, plus 
accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption.

On December 15, 2041, the scheduled maturity date, the 
Company will use commercially reasonable efforts, subject 
to the occurrence of a market disruption event, as defined in 
the indenture governing the Debentures, to issue securities 

of equivalent equity content in an amount sufficient to pay the 
principal amount of the Debentures, together with accrued and 
unpaid interest. The final maturity date of the Debentures is 
December 15, 2066, on which date the entire principal amount 
of the Debentures will mature and become due and payable, 
together with accrued and unpaid interest.

In connection with the issuance of the Debentures, the 
Company entered into a Capital Replacement Covenant (the 
CRC). Pursuant to the CRC, the Company covenanted for the 
benefit of holders of covered debt, as defined in the CRC 
(currently the Company’s 7.875% Senior Notes due 2026, 
issued in the aggregate principal amount of $250.0 million), 
that neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries shall repay, 
redeem or repurchase all or any part of the Debentures on 
or after December 15, 2041 and prior to December 15, 2046, 
except to the extent that the total repayment, redemption or 
repurchase price does not exceed the sum of: (i) 400% of the 
Company’s net cash proceeds from the sale of its common 
stock and rights to acquire its common stock (including 
common stock issued pursuant to the Company’s dividend rein-
vestment plan or employee benefit plans); (ii) the Company’s 
net cash proceeds from the sale of its mandatorily convertible 
preferred stock, as defined in the CRC, or debt exchangeable  
for equity, as defined in the CRC; and (iii) the Company’s net 
cash proceeds from the sale of other replacement capital secu-
rities, as defined in the CRC, in each case, during the six months 
prior to the notice date for the relevant payment, redemption  
or repurchase.

The Debentures are unsecured obligations of the Company, 
ranking junior to all existing and future senior and subordinated 
debt (excluding trade accounts payable or accrued liabilities 
arising in the ordinary course of business) except for any future 
debt that ranks equal to or junior to the Debentures. The Deben-
tures will rank equal in right of payment with the Company’s 
obligations to trade creditors. Substantially all of the Company’s 
existing indebtedness is senior to the Debentures. In addition, 
the Debentures will be effectively subordinated to all indebted-
ness of the Company’s subsidiaries. The indenture governing 
the Debentures places no limitation on the amount of additional 
indebtedness that the Company or any of the Company’s 
subsidiaries may incur.

7.375% Senior Notes Due November 2016 and 7.875% 
Senior Notes Due November 2026

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $650.0 million 
of 7.375% 10-year Senior Notes outstanding, which are due 
2016 and $250.0 million of 7.875% 20-year Senior Notes 
outstanding, which are due 2026. The notes are general unse-
cured obligations of the Company and rank senior in right of 
payment to any subordinated indebtedness of the Company; 
equally in right of payment with any senior indebtedness of 
the Company; effectively junior in right of payment to the 
Company’s existing and future secured indebtedness, to the 
extent of the value of the collateral securing that indebtedness; 
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and effectively junior to all the indebtedness and other liabili-
ties of the Company’s subsidiaries that do not guarantee the 
notes. Interest payments are scheduled to occur on May 1 and 
November 1 of each year. The first interest payment occurred 
on May 1, 2007. 

The notes are guaranteed by the Company’s Subsidiary 
Guarantors, as defined in the note indenture. The note inden-
ture contains covenants that, among other things, limit the 
Company’s ability to create liens and enter into sale and lease-
back transactions. The notes are redeemable at a redemption 
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being 
redeemed plus a make-whole premium, if applicable, and any 
accrued unpaid interest to the redemption date. Net proceeds 
from the offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and 
expenses, were $886.1 million.

6.875% Senior Notes Due March 2013
At December 31, 2008, the Company had $650.0 million of 

6.875% Senior Notes outstanding, which are due March 2013. 
The notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and 
rank equally with all of the Company’s other senior unsecured 
indebtedness. Interest payments are scheduled to occur on 
March 15 and September 15 of each year. The notes are guaran-
teed by the Company’s Subsidiary Guarantors as defined in the 
note indenture. The note indenture contains covenants which, 
among other things, limit the Company’s ability to incur addi-
tional indebtedness and issue preferred stock, pay dividends or 
make other distributions, make other restricted payments and 
investments, create liens, sell assets and merge or consolidate 
with other entities. The notes are redeemable at fixed redemp-
tion prices as set forth in the indenture.

5.875% Senior Notes Due March 2016
As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $218.1 million 

of 5.875% Senior Notes outstanding, which are due March 
2016. The notes are senior unsecured obligations of the 
Company and rank equally with all of the Company’s other 
senior unsecured indebtedness. Interest payments are sched-
uled to occur on April 15 and October 15 of each year, and 
commenced on April 15, 2004. The notes are guaranteed by the 
Company’s Subsidiary Guarantors as defined in the note inden-
ture. The note indenture contains covenants which, among 
other things, limit the Company’s ability to incur additional 
indebtedness and issue preferred stock, pay dividends or make 
other distributions, make other restricted payments and invest-
ments, create liens, sell assets and merge or consolidate with 
other entities. The notes are redeemable prior to April 15, 2009, 
at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount 
plus a make-whole premium (as defined in the indenture) and on 
or after April 15, 2009, at fixed redemption prices as set forth in 
the indenture. Net proceeds from the offering, after deducting 
underwriting discounts and expenses, were $244.7 million. 

Series Bonds
As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $71.0 million 

in Series Bonds outstanding, which were assumed as part of 
the Excel acquisition. The 6.84% Series A Bonds have a balloon 
maturity in December 2014. The 6.34% Series B Bonds mature 
in December 2014 and are payable in installments with the 
first scheduled payment made in December 2008. The 6.84% 
Series C Bonds mature in December 2016 and are payable in 
installments beginning December 2012. Interest payments are 
scheduled to occur in June and December of each year. 

Interest Rate Swaps
As of December 31, 2008, the Company had a series of 

fixed-to-floating (fair value hedges) and floating-to-fixed interest 
rate swaps. The following table details the swaps:

   Notional Benefit  Termination  
(Dollars in millions) Amount Received Amount Paid Date Fair Value

Fixed to Floating
     3M LIBOR +  
6 7/8 $650M Senior Notes $120.0  6.875% sa 196.9 bps qt 3/15/13 $ 6.0  

     6M LIBOR +  
6 7/8 $650M Senior Notes $ 25.0  6.875% sa 299.75 bps sa 3/15/13 $ 0.8  

     6M LIBOR +  
6 7/8 $650M Senior Notes $ 25.0  6.875% sa 307 bps sa 3/15/13 $ 0.8  

     6M LIBOR +  
6 7/8 $650M Senior Notes $ 25.0  6.875% sa 316 bps sa 3/15/13 $ (0.5)

     6M LIBOR +  
6 7/8 $650M Senior Notes $ 25.0  6.875% sa 307.5 bps sa 3/15/13 $ 0.8  

     6M LIBOR +  
5 7/8 $250M Senior Note $100.0  5.875% sa 25.3 bps sa 4/15/16 $ 4.6  

Floating to Fixed
    3M LIBOR + 
Senior Unsecured Term Loan A $120.0  100 bps qt 6.25% sa 9/15/11 $(12.8)

Shovel Construction Financing $ 22.0  3M LIBOR qt 4.812% sa 7/1/14 $ (4.0)

Shovel Construction Financing $ 22.0  3M LIBOR qt 4.6525% sa 8/26/14 $ (2.5)

Shovel Construction Financing $ 22.0  3M LIBOR qt 4.758% sa 12/29/14 $ (2.5)

Legend:  M = millions;  bps = basis points; qt = quarterly;  sa = semi-annually

In addition, the Company had three additional swaps, with a 
combined notional amount of $200.0 million that were termi-
nated during the first half of 2008. The combined settlement 
amount of $6.9 million was recorded as an adjustment to the 
fair value hedge adjustment and will be amortized to interest 
expense over the remaining maturity period of the 6.875% 
Senior Notes.

Because the critical terms of the swaps and the respective 
debt instruments they hedge coincide, there was no hedge 
ineffectiveness recognized in the consolidated statements of 
operations during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 
2007. At December 31, 2007 there was a net unrealized gain  
on the fair value hedges of $1.6 million. The fair value hedge  
is reflected as an adjustment to the carrying value of the  
5.875% and 6.875% Senior Notes.

Capital Lease Obligations and Other
Capital lease obligations include obligations assumed  

from the Excel acquisition, primarily for mining equipment  
(see Note 9 for additional information on the Company’s capital 
lease obligations).

Other long-term debt, which consists principally of notes 
payable, is due in installments through 2016. The weighted-
average effective interest rate of this debt was 5.59% as of 
December 31, 2008.

The aggregate amounts of long-term debt maturities subse-
quent to December 31, 2008, including capital lease obligations, 
were as follows:

Year of Maturity   
(Dollars in millions)

2009     $ 17.0 

2010     14.2 

2011     505.0 

2012     23.9 

2013     706.6 

2014 and thereafter     1,889.5 

 Total    $3,156.2

Interest paid on long-term debt was $226.0 million,  
$191.9 million and $114.6 million for the years ended  
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The  
Company paid interest expense of $5.8 million, $1.5 million  
and $3.3 million on the Revolver in 2008, 2007 and 2006. 

Shelf Registration Statement
On July 28, 2006, the Company filed an automatic shelf 

registration statement on Form S-3 as a well-known seasoned 
issuer with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). 
The registration was for an indeterminate number of securities 
and is effective for three years, at which time the Company 
expects to be able to file an automatic shelf registration state-
ment that would become immediately effective for another 
three-year term. Under this universal shelf registration state-
ment, the Company has the capacity to offer and sell from time 
to time securities, including common stock, preferred stock, 
debt securities, warrants and units. The Debentures, 7.375% 
Senior Notes due 2016 and 7.875% Senior Notes due 2026 
were issued pursuant to the shelf registration statement.

(13)  aSSEt rEtirEmENt OBligatiONS 
Reconciliations of the Company’s asset retirement obligation 

liability are as follows:

(Dollars in millions)  2008  2007

Balance at beginning of year, 
  including discontinued operations   $362.8    $ 418.8  

 Liabilities incurred or acquired  –   27.0  

 Liabilities settled or disposed   (6.4)  (16.2)

 Accretion expense   20.5    27.5  

 Revisions to estimates   45.7    29.6  

  Consolidated asset retirement obligations   422.6    486.7  

 Liabilities related to the Patriot spin-off   –   (123.9)

Balance at end of year   $422.6    $ 362.8  

Balance at end of year – active locations   $387.2    $ 331.9  

Balance at end of year – closed or inactive locations   $ 35.4    $ 30.9

The credit-adjusted, risk-free interest rates were 7.91% at 
December 31, 2008 and 7.85% and 6.60% at January 1, 2008 
and 2007, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had 
$740.6 million and $418.3 million, respectively, in surety bonds 
outstanding to secure reclamation obligations or activities. The 
amount of reclamation self-bonding in certain states in which 
the Company qualifies was $773.4 million and $640.6 million  
as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Additionally, 
the Company had $0.1 million and $1.6 million of letters of 
credit in support of reclamation obligations or activities as of 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

(14)  PENSiON aND SaViNgS PlaNS
One of the Company’s subsidiaries, Peabody Investments 

Corp. (PIC), sponsors a defined benefit pension plan covering 
certain U.S. salaried employees and eligible hourly employees 
at certain PIC subsidiaries (the Peabody Plan). A PIC subsid-
iary also has a defined benefit pension plan covering eligible 
employees who are represented by the UMWA under the 
Western Surface Agreement (the Western Plan). PIC also spon-
sors an unfunded supplemental retirement plan to provide 
senior management with benefits in excess of limits under the 
federal tax law. 

During the period ended March 31, 1999, the Company 
made an amendment to phase out the Peabody Plan. Effective 
January 1, 2001, certain employees no longer accrue future 
service under the plan while other employees accrue reduced 
service under the plan based on their age and years of service 
as of December 31, 2000. For plan benefit calculation purposes, 
employee earnings are also frozen as of December 31, 2000. 
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The Company has adopted an enhanced savings plan contribu-
tion structure in lieu of benefits formerly accrued under the 
defined benefit pension plan.

Annual contributions to the plans are made as determined 
by consulting actuaries based upon the Employee Retirement 
Income Security Act of 1974 minimum funding standard. In May 
1998, the Company entered into an agreement with the Pension 
Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC) which requires the 
Company to maintain certain minimum funding requirements. 
Beginning on January 1, 2008, new minimum funding standards 
were required by the Pension Protection Act of 2006. Assets of 
the plans are primarily invested in various marketable securities, 
including U.S. government bonds, corporate obligations and 
listed stocks.

Net periodic pension costs included the following components:

(Dollars in millions) 2008  2007  2006

Service cost for benefits earned  $ 2.0    $ 12.7    $ 12.2  

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation  51.0    49.0    46.0  

Expected return on plan assets  (60.6) (57.4) (54.6)

Amortization of prior service cost  1.3    0.4   –

Amortization of actuarial (gains) losses  (0.5)  15.3    22.7  

Net periodic pension costs  (6.8)  20.0    26.3

Curtailment gain  (0.6)  (0.4) –

Total net periodic pension (benefit) cost $ (7.4)  $ 19.6    $ 26.3

In 2007, benefits were frozen for certain participants of the 
Company’s Western U.S. Mining operations and those partici-
pants impacted by the Patriot spin-off under the Peabody Plan 
resulting in actuarially determined curtailment gains of  
$0.6 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively. 

The following includes amounts recognized in accumulated 
other comprehensive income:

(Dollars in millions)   2008

Net actuarial loss arising during year    $199.2

Amortizations:

 Actuarial gain    0.5

 Prior service cost/curtailment    (0.7)

Total recognized in other comprehensive income    199.0

Net periodic pension costs    (6.8)

Total recognized in net periodic pension costs  
  and other comprehensive income    $192.2

The Company amortizes actuarial gains and losses using a 
5% corridor with a five-year amortization period. The estimated 
net actuarial gain and prior service cost that will be amortized 
from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into net 
periodic pension costs during the year ended December 31, 
2009 are $1.7 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

The following summarizes the change in benefit obligation, 
change in plan assets and funded status of the Company’s plans:

(Dollars in millions)  2008  2007

Change in benefit obligation:

 Projected benefit obligation at beginning of period  $ 778.2    $832.8  

 Service cost   2.0    12.7  

 Interest cost   51.0    49.0  

 Plan amendments  –   7.9  

 Curtailments  –   (20.5)

 Benefits paid   (46.7)  (42.6)

 Actuarial gain   (15.9)  (61.1)

 Projected benefit obligation at end of period   768.6   778.2

Change in plan assets:

 Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period   732.4   704.2  

 Actual return on plan assets   (154.4)  65.4  

 Employer contributions   21.3   5.4  

 Benefits paid   (46.7)  (42.6)

 Fair value of plan assets at end of period   552.6   732.4  

Funded status at end of year   (216.0)  (45.8)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

 Intangible asset (included in Investments  
   and other assets)  –   0.2  

 Current obligation (included in Accounts payable  
   and accrued expenses)   (1.6)  (1.3)

 Noncurrent obligation (included in Other  
   noncurrent liabilities)   (214.4)  (44.7)

Net amount recognized   $(216.0)  $ (45.8)

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the 
benefit obligations as of the end of each year were as follows:

    2008 2007

Discount rate  6.90% 6.75%

Rate of compensation increase  N/A N/A

Measurement date  Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net 
periodic benefit cost were as follows:

   2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 6.75% 6.00% 5.90%

Expected long-term return  
  on plan assets 8.75% 8.75% 8.75%

Rate of compensation increase N/A 3.50% 3.50%

Measurement date Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2005

The expected rate of return on plan assets is determined by 
taking into consideration expected long-term returns associated 
with each major asset class (net of inflation) based on long-term 
historical ranges, inflation assumptions and the expected net 
value from active management of the assets based on  
actual results.

The projected benefit obligation and the accumulated benefit 
obligation exceeded plan assets for all plans as of December 31,  
2008 and 2007. The accumulated benefit obligation for all 
pension plans was $768.6 million and $681.1 million as of 
December 31, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

Plan Assets
Assets of the Peabody Plan and the Western Plan are 

commingled in the Peabody Investment Corporation Master 
Trust (the Master Trust) and are invested in accordance with 
investment guidelines that have been established by the 
Company’s Retirement Committee (the Retirement Committee) 
after consultation with outside investment advisors and actuaries.

Master Trust assets totaled $552.6 million at December 31,  
2008 and $732.4 million at December 31, 2007 and were 
invested in the following major asset categories:

   2008 2007

   Percentage  Percentage 
   Allocation of Target Allocation of Target 
   Total Assets Allocation Total Assets Allocation

Equity securities 32.6% 40.0% 38.5% 40.0%

Fixed income 43.2% 35.0% 36.6% 35.0%

International equity 12.8% 15.0% 15.5% 15.0%

Real estate 11.4% 10.0% 9.4% 10.0%

Total  100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The asset allocation targets have been set with the expecta-
tion that the plan’s assets will fund the plan’s expected liabilities 
with an appropriate level of risk. To determine the appropriate 
target asset allocations, the Retirement Committee considers 
the demographics of the plan participants, the funding status of 
the plan, the business and financial profile of the Company and 
other associated risk preferences. These allocation targets are 
reviewed by the Retirement Committee on a regular basis and 
revised as necessary. Periodically, assets are rebalanced among 
major asset categories. During 2008, management allocated 
a substantial amount of Master Trust assets to fixed income 
securities to reduce exposure to variability in light of current 
economic conditions. However, management and the Retire-
ment Committee believes this to be a temporary measure and 
the Company is currently reevaluating its target allocations.

Plan assets are either under active management by third-
party investment advisors or in index funds, all selected and 
monitored by the Retirement Committee. The Retirement 
Committee has established specific investment guidelines for 
each major asset class including performance benchmarks, 
allowable and prohibited investment types and concentra-
tion limits. In general, the plan investment guidelines do not 
permit leveraging the Master Trust’s assets. Equity investment 
guidelines do not permit entering into put or call options (except 
as deemed appropriate to manage currency risk), and futures 
contracts are permitted only to the extent necessary to equitize 
cash holdings.

Contributions
The Pension Protection Act of 2006 (the Pension Protection 

Act), which was effective January 1, 2008, increased the long-
term funding targets for single employer pension plans from 
90% to 100%. In addition, the Pension Protection Act restricts 
“at risk” (generally defined as under 80% funded) plans from 
making lump sum payments and increasing benefits unless they 
are funded immediately, and also requires that the plan give 
participants notice regarding the at-risk status of the plan. If a 
plan falls below 60%, lump sum payments are prohibited and 
benefit accruals cease.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company’s pension plans 
were approximately 68% funded, before considering planned 
2009 contributions. The Company’s minimum funding require-
ment for 2009 is approximately $25 million, and would result in 
a funded status above 70%. 
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments 
The following benefit payments (net of retiree contribu-

tions), which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are 
expected to be paid by the Master Trust:

(Dollars in millions)   Pension Benefits

2009     $48.0

2010     49.6

2011     51.6

2012     53.5

2013     55.6

Years 2014-2018    314.0

Defined Contribution Plans
The Company sponsors employee retirement accounts 

under three 401(k) plans for eligible salaried U.S. employees. 
The Company matches voluntary contributions to each plan  
up to specified levels. The expense for these plans was  
$50.5 million, $21.7 million and $12.7 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. A 
performance contribution feature allows for additional contri-
butions from the Company based upon meeting specified 
Company performance targets. Performance contributions 
related to the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 
were $18.7 million, $4.9 million and $7.3 million, respectively.

Multi-Employer Pension Plan – Discontinued 
Operations

Certain subsidiaries that were part of the Patriot spin-off 
participate in multi-employer pension plans (the 1950 Plan and 
the 1974 Plan), which provide defined benefits to substantially 
all hourly coal production workers represented by the UMWA 
under the 2007 NBCWA. During 2007, contributions of  
$5.9 million made to the 1974 Plan were expensed as paid, 
and are reflected in “Discontinued operations.” There were no 
contributions to the multi-employer pension plans during the 
years ended December 31, 2008 or 2006.

(15)  POStrEtirEmENt hEalth CarE aND liFE 
iNSuraNCE BENEFitS 

The Company currently provides health care and life insur-
ance benefits to qualifying salaried and hourly retirees and 
their dependents from defined benefit plans established by the 
Company. Plan coverage for health and life insurance benefits is 
provided to future hourly retirees in accordance with the appli-
cable labor agreement. 

Net periodic postretirement benefit costs included the 
following components:

(Dollars in millions) 2008 2007  2006

Service cost for benefits earned  $10.1   $ 9.4   $ 7.6  

Interest cost on accumulated  
  postretirement benefit obligation  54.0   50.6   43.5  

Amortization of prior service cost  0.4   (0.2)  (2.2)

Amortization of actuarial losses  17.3   22.8   18.1  

Net periodic postretirement benefit costs  $81.8   $82.6   $67.0

Net periodic postretirement benefit costs related to the spin-
off of Patriot for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
were $46.6 million and $41.4 million, respectively, and were 
included in “Discontinued operations.” The Company amortizes 
actuarial gains and losses using a 0% corridor with an amortiza-
tion period that covers the average remaining service period of 
active employees (10.68 years and 8.92 years at January 1, 2008 
and 2007, respectively). 

The following includes amounts recognized in accumulated 
other comprehensive income:

(Dollars in millions)   2008

Net actuarial gain arising during year    $(18.3)

Amortizations: 

 Actuarial loss    (17.3)

 Prior service cost    (0.4)

Total recognized in other comprehensive income    (36.0)

Net periodic postretirement benefit costs    81.8

Total recognized in net periodic postretirement 
  benefit costs and other comprehensive income    $ 45.8

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service cost that 
will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) into net periodic postretirement benefit costs 
during the year ended December 31, 2009 are $14.0 million and 
$1.5 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth the plans’ combined funded 
status reconciled with the amounts shown in the consolidated 
balance sheets:

(Dollars in millions)  2008  2007

Change in benefit obligation:

  Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation  
  at beginning of period   $ 855.8   $ 872.7  

 Service cost   10.1   9.4  

 Interest cost   54.0   50.6  

 Participant contributions   1.5   0.9  

 Plan amendments  –   13.9  

 Benefits paid   (69.7)  (67.2)

 Actuarial gain   (18.3)  (24.5)

  Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation  
  at end of period   833.4   855.8  

Change in plan assets:

 Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period  –   –

 Employer contributions   68.2   66.3  

 Participant contributions   1.5   0.9  

  Benefits paid and administrative fees  
  (net of Medicare Part D reimbursements)   (69.7)  (67.2)

 Fair value of plan assets at end of period  –  –

Funded status at end of year   (833.4)  (855.8)

Less current portion (included in Accounts payable  
  and accrued expenses)   67.3    70.1  

Noncurrent obligation (included in Accrued  
  postretirement benefit costs)   $(766.1)  $(785.7)

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the 
benefit obligations as of the end of each year were as follows:

    2008 2007

Discount rate  6.85% 6.60%

Rate of compensation increase  3.50% 3.50%

Measurement date  Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net 
periodic benefit cost were as follows:

   2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 6.60% 6.00% 5.90%

Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%

Measurement date Dec. 31, 2007 Dec. 31, 2006 Dec. 31, 2005

The following presents information about the assumed 
health care cost trend rate:

    2008 2007

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year  7.50% 7.50%

Rate to which the cost trend is assumed to decline  
  (the ultimate trend rate)  4.75% 4.75%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate  2014 2013

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant 
effect on the amounts reported for health care plans. A one-
percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend 
would have the following effects:

    One Percentage- One Percentage- 
(Dollars in millions)  Point Increase Point Decrease 

Effect on total service and interest cost components  $ 6.6   $ (5.7)

Effect on total postretirement benefit obligation   $79.7   $(68.5)

Plan Assets
The Company’s postretirement benefit plans are unfunded. 

Estimated Future Benefit Payments 
The following benefit payments (net of retiree contributions), 

which reflect expected future service as appropriate, are 
expected to be paid by the Company: 

(Dollars in millions)  Postretirement Benefits

2009     $67.3

2010     68.9

2011     71.3

2012     74.1

2013     74.8

Years 2014-2018    373.9

Medicare 
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, 

Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act) was 
signed into law. The Company elected not to defer the effects 
of the Act as discussed in FSP 106-1, “Accounting and Disclo-
sure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription 
Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” which 
was superseded by FSP 106-2. Additionally, the Company 
did not elect the federal subsidy provisions of the Act; rather 
the Company coordinated benefits with available Medicare 
coverage considered the primary payer, whether or not the 
beneficiary enrolled and paid the required premiums.
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The Company recognized a reduction in the benefit obli-
gation on two distinct components. For plans that required 
amendment to incorporate the Act, the Company recognized a 
liability reduction of $19.1 million. This reduction was treated as 
a negative plan amendment and is being amortized to income 
over six years beginning December 15, 2003. For plans that 
did not require amendment, the Company recognized a liability 
reduction of $162.4 million. The reduction was treated as a 
change in the estimated cost to provide benefits to Medicare 
eligible beneficiaries constituting a component of the cumula-
tive actuarial gain or loss subject to amortization in accordance 
with the Company’s amortization method.

Multi-Employer Benefit Plans – Discontinued 
Operations

Multi-employer benefit obligations related to the Combined 
Fund, the 1992 Benefit Plan and 1993 Benefit Plan became the 
responsibility of Patriot in conjunction with the spin-off. The 
Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act Amendments of 
2006 amended the federal laws establishing the Combined 
Fund and the 1992 Benefit Plan and include the 1993 Benefit 
Plan. To the extent that (i) the annual federal funding exceeds 
a specified amount, (ii) Congress does not allocate additional 
funds to cover the shortfall and (iii) Patriot’s subsidiaries do 
not pay for their share of the shortfall, some of the Company’s 
subsidiaries would be responsible for the additional costs.

The total expense for the Combined Fund, the 1992 Benefit 
Plan and 1993 Benefit Plan was $14.5 million and $8.2 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, 
and was included in “Discontinued operations.” 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Coal Act and the 1992 
Benefit Plan, the Company was required to provide a specified 
amount of security. In accordance with the 1992 Benefit Plan, 
the Company had outstanding letters of credit of $41.4 million 
as of October 31, 2007 and $119.4 million as of December 31, 
2006, to secure the Company’s obligation.

(16)  StOCkhOlDErS’ Equity

Common Stock
The Company has 800.0 million authorized shares of $0.01 

par value common stock. Holders of common stock are entitled 
to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the 
stockholders. The holders of common stock do not have 
cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. Holders of 
common stock are entitled to receive ratably dividends if, as and 
when dividends are declared from time to time by the Board 
of Directors out of funds legally available for that purpose, 
after payment of dividends required to be paid on outstanding 
preferred stock or series common stock. Upon liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up, any business combination or a sale 
or disposition of all or substantially all of the assets, the holders 
of common stock are entitled to receive ratably the assets 
available for distribution to the stockholders after payment of 
liabilities and accrued but unpaid dividends and liquidation pref-

erences on any outstanding preferred stock or series common 
stock. The common stock has no preemptive or conversion 
rights and is not subject to further calls or assessment by the 
Company. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions 
applicable to the common stock.

Effective February 22, 2006, the Company implemented a 
two-for-one stock split on all shares of its common stock. The 
Company had a similar two-for-one stock split on March 30, 
2005. All share and per share amounts in these consolidated 
financial statements and related notes reflect the stock splits.

The following table summarizes common stock activity from 
December 31, 2005 to December 31, 2008:

     Shares Outstanding  

December 31, 2005    263,357,402

Stock options exercised    1,940,539  

Stock grants to employees    566,631  

Employee stock purchases    156,785  

Stock grants to non-employee directors    10,440  

Shares repurchased    (2,184,958)

December 31, 2006    263,846,839  

Stock options exercised    5,222,074  

Stock grants to employees    937,795  

Employee stock purchases    185,646  

Stock grants to non-employee directors    11,892  

Shares relinquished    (137,625)

December 31, 2007   270,066,621  

Stock options exercised    1,388,174  

Stock grants to employees    788,895  

Employee stock purchases    119,737  

Stock grants to non-employee directors    2,870  

Shares repurchased    (5,524,574)

Shares relinquished    (196,744)

December 31, 2008   266,644,979

Preferred Stock and Series Common Stock
In addition to the common stock, the Board of Directors is 

authorized to issue up to 10.0 million shares of preferred stock 
and up to 40.0 million shares of series common stock. The 
Board of Directors is authorized to determine the terms and 
rights of each series, including the number of authorized shares, 
whether dividends (if any) will be cumulative or non-cumulative 
and the dividend rate of the series, redemption or sinking fund 
provisions, conversion terms, prices and rates, and amounts 
payable on shares of the series in the event of any voluntary or 
involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs 

of the Company. The Board of Directors may also determine 
restrictions on the issuance of shares of the same series or of 
any other class or series, and the voting rights (if any) of the  
holders of the series. There were no outstanding shares of preferred 
stock or series common stock as of December 31, 2008. 

Perpetual Preferred Stock
As discussed in Note 12, the Company had $732.5 million 

aggregate principal amount of Debentures outstanding as of 
December 31, 2008. Perpetual preferred stock issued upon a 
conversion of the Debentures will be fully paid and non-assess-
able, and holders will have no preemptive or preferential right to 
purchase any of the Company’s other securities. The perpetual 
preferred stock has a liquidation preference of $1,000 per share, 
is not convertible and is redeemable at the Company’s option 
at any time at a cash redemption price per share equal to the 
liquidation preference plus any accumulated dividends. Holders 
are entitled to receive cumulative dividends at an annual rate 
of 3.0875% if and when declared by the Company’s Board of 
Directors. If the Company fails to pay dividends on the perpetual 
preferred stock for five years, or upon the occurrence of a 
mandatory trigger event, as defined in the certificate of desig-
nations governing the perpetual preferred stock, the Company 
generally must sell warrants or preferred stock with specified 
characteristics and use the funds from that sale to pay accumu-
lated dividends after the payment in full of any deferred interest 
on the Debentures, subject to certain limitations. In the event of 
a mandatory trigger event, the Company may not declare divi-
dends on the perpetual preferred stock other than those funded 
through the sale of warrants or preferred stock as described 
above. Any deferred interest on the Debentures at the time of 
notice of conversion will be reflected as accumulated dividends 
on the perpetual preferred stock at issuance. Additionally, 
holders of the perpetual preferred stock are entitled to elect 
two additional members to serve on the Company’s Board of 
Directors if (i) prior to any remarketing of the perpetual preferred 
stock, the Company fails to declare and pay dividends with 
respect to the perpetual stock for 10 consecutive years or (ii) 
after any successful remarketing or any final failed remarketing 
of the perpetual preferred stock, the Company fails to declare 
and pay six dividends thereon, whether or not consecutive. The 
perpetual preferred stock may be remarketed at the holder’s 
election after December 15, 2046 or earlier, upon the first occur-
rence of a change of control if the Company does not redeem 
the perpetual preferred stock. There were no outstanding 
shares of perpetual preferred stock as of December 31, 2008.

Preferred Share Purchase Rights Plan and Series A 
Junior Participating Preferred Stock

Each outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.01 
per share, of the Company carries one preferred share purchase 
right (a Right). The Rights are governed by a plan that expires in 
August 2012. 

The Rights have certain anti-takeover effects. The Rights will 
cause substantial dilution to a person or group that attempts to 

acquire the Company on terms not approved by the Company’s 
Board of Directors, except pursuant to any offer conditioned 
on a substantial number of Rights being acquired. The Rights 
should not interfere with any merger or other business combi-
nation approved by the Board of Directors since the Rights may 
be redeemed by the Company at a redemption price of $0.001 
per Right prior to the time that a person or group has acquired 
beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the common stock of 
the Company. In addition, the Board of Directors is authorized to 
reduce the 15% threshold to not less than 10%. 

Each Right entitles the holder to purchase one quarter 
of one-hundredth of a share of series A junior participating 
preferred stock from the Company at an exercise price of 
$27.50, which in turn provides rights to receive the number 
of common stock shares having a market value of two times 
the exercise price of the Right. The Right is exercisable only 
if a person or group acquires 15% or more of the Company’s 
common stock. The Board of Directors is authorized to issue 
up to 1.5 million shares of series A junior participating preferred 
stock. There were no outstanding shares of series A junior 
participating preferred stock as of December 31, 2008. 

Treasury Stock
In July 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized  

a share repurchase program of up to 5% of the then outstanding  
shares of its common stock, or approximately 13 million shares. 
The repurchases may be made from time to time based on 
an evaluation of the Company’s outlook and general business 
conditions, as well as alternative investment and debt repay-
ment options. In addition, the Company’s Board of Directors 
had previously authorized the Company’s Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer to repurchase up to $100 million of 
the Company’s common stock outside the share repurchase 
program. In October 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors 
amended the share repurchase program to increase the total 
authorized amount to $1 billion. The amended repurchase 
program does not have an expiration date and may be discon-
tinued at any time. During the year ended December 31,  
2008, the Company repurchased 5.5 million of its common shares  
at a cost of $199.8 million. During the year ended December 31,  
2006, the Company repurchased 2.2 million of its common 
shares at a cost of $99.8 million. There were no share repurchases  
under this program for the year ended December 31, 2007.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company 
received 196,744 shares of common stock as consideration 
for employees’ exercise of stock options and to pay estimated 
taxes at the vesting date of restricted stock. The value of the 
common stock tendered by employees to exercise stock 
options and to settle taxes on restricted stock was based upon 
the closing price on the dates of the respective transactions. 
The common stock tenders were in accordance with the provi-
sions of the 1998 Stock Purchase and Option Plan, which was 
previously approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. 
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(17)  SharE-BaSED COmPENSatiON
The Company recognizes share-based compensation 

expense in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), which it adopted 
on January 1, 2006, and utilizes restricted stock, nonquali-
fied stock options, performance units, and an employee 
stock purchase plan as part of its share-based compensation 
program. The Company has four equity incentive plans for 
employees and non-employee directors that in the aggregate 
allow for the issuance of share-based compensation in the 
form of stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance 
awards, incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options and 
stock units. Members of the Company’s Board of Directors are 
eligible for stock option and restricted stock grants at the date 
of their election and annually in January. These plans made 
47.4 million shares of the Company’s common stock avail-
able for grant, with 16.2 million shares available for grant as of 
December 31, 2008. Additionally, in 2001, the Company estab-
lished an employee stock purchase plan that provided for the 
purchase of up to 6.0 million shares of the Company’s common 
stock. In 2008, the Company amended the employee stock 
purchase plan and reduced the number of shares authorized for 
purchase under the plan to 5.0 million shares. The 1.0 million 
shares were allocated from this plan to create a new employee 
stock purchase plan for the Company’s Australian employees. 

For share-based payment instruments excluding restricted 
stock, the Company recognized $11.1 million (or $0.04 per 
diluted share), $6.6 million (or $0.02 per diluted share) and 
$17.7 million (or $0.07 per diluted share) of expense, net of 
taxes, for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. Share-based compensation expense is recorded 
in “Selling and administrative expenses” in the consolidated 
statements of operations. As of December 31, 2008, the total 
unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested awards 
was $27.8 million, net of taxes, which is expected to be recog-
nized over 4.2 years with a weighted-average period of  
0.9 years.

The Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
to determine the fair value of stock options and employee 
stock purchase plan share-based payments made before and 
after the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The Company utilized 
U.S. Treasury yields as of the grant date for its risk-free interest 
rate assumption, matching the treasury yield terms to the 
expected life of the option or vesting period of the performance 
unit awards. The Company utilized historical company data 
to develop its dividend yield, expected volatility and expected 
option life assumptions. 

Restricted Stock Awards
The Company began utilizing restricted stock as part of 

its equity-based compensation strategy in January 2005. 
Accounting for restricted stock awards was not changed by  
the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The Company recognized  
$10.3 million, $10.6 million and $4.2 million of expense, net of 

taxes, for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively, related to restricted stock.

A summary of restricted stock award activity is as follows:

      Weighted  
     Average 
     Grant-Date 
    2008  Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2008   1,532,859    $36.01 

 Granted   434,137   46.94 

 Vested   (68,184)  41.79 

 Forfeited   (110,479)  41.05 

Nonvested at December 31, 2008   1,788,333   $38.13

Stock Options
Employee and director stock options granted since the 

Company’s initial public offering (IPO) of common stock in May 
2001 generally vest ratably over three years and expire after  
10 years from the date of the grant, subject to earlier termina-
tion upon discontinuation of an employee’s service. Options 
granted prior to the IPO generally cliff vest in 2010 and repre-
sented 0.9 million options of the 3.3 million options outstanding 
at December 31, 2008. Option grants are typically made in 
January of each year or following the inception of employ-
ment for employees hired during the year who are eligible to 
participate in the plan. The fair value of each option grant is 
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The Company recognized expense, net of taxes, 
of $4.0 million, $3.7 million and $4.7 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, related to 
stock option grants to employees and non-employee directors.

A summary of outstanding option activity under the plans is 
as follows:

     Weighted  
    Weighted Average Aggregate 
    Average Remaining Intrinsic 
    Exercise Contractual Value 
    2008  Price Life (in millions)

Beginning balance 4,804,934    $12.46 

 Granted  289,300   64.31 

 Exercised  (1,388,174)  10.16 

 Forfeited  (455,203)  13.95 

Outstanding 3,250,857   $17.84   4.7   $36.4 

Vested and Exercisable 1,636,390   $13.09   4.9   $19.0

During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
the total intrinsic value of options exercised, defined as the 
excess fair value of the underlying stock over the exercise  
price of the options, was $72.8 million, $248.7 million and  
$84.2 million, respectively. The weighted-average fair values 
of the Company’s stock options and the assumptions used 
in applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model (for grants 
during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006) 
were as follows:

   2008 2007 2006

Weighted-average fair value  $64.31   $37.93   $16.52 

Risk-free interest rate 3.3% 4.6% 4.3%

Expected option life 5.0 years 5.0 years 6.0 years

Expected volatility 40% 43% 36%

Dividend yield 0.5% 0.6% 0.8%

Performance Units
Performance units, which are typically granted annually in 

January, vest over a three-year measurement period subject to 
the achievement of performance goals and relative stock price 
performance at the conclusion of the vesting term. Three perfor-
mance unit grants were outstanding during 2008 (the 2006, 
2007 and 2008 grants), 2007 (the 2005, 2006 and 2007 grants) 
and 2006 (the 2004, 2005 and 2006 grants). The payouts related 
to all active grants will be settled in the Company’s common 
stock. Payouts for the 2004 through 2007 grants are based 50% 
on stock price performance compared to both an industry peer 
group and a S&P index (a “market condition” under SFAS No. 
123(R)) and 50% on a return on capital target (a “performance 
condition” under SFAS No. 123(R)). The Company granted 0.1 
million performance units during the year ended December 31, 
2008 and 0.2 million performance units in each of the years 
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

A summary of performance unit activity is as follows:

      Weighted 
     Average 
     Remaining 
     Contractual 
    2008  Life

Nonvested at January 1, 2008   345,708   1.5 

 Granted   129,191

 Forfeited   (68,806)

 Vested   (155,402)

Nonvested at December 31, 2008   250,691   1.5

As of December 31, 2008, there were 155,402 performance 
units vested that had an aggregate intrinsic value of $3.2 million 
and a conversion price per share of $22.51.

Under SFAS No. 123(R), the awards settled are accounted for 
based on their grant date fair value. The performance condi-
tion awards were valued utilizing the grant date fair values of 
the Company’s stock adjusted for dividends foregone during 
the vesting period. The market condition awards were valued 
utilizing a Monte Carlo simulation which incorporates the total 
shareholder return hurdles set for each grant. The Company 
recognized expense, net of taxes, of $5.7 million, $1.6 million 
and $11.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 
2007 and 2006, respectively, related to performance units. The 
assumptions used in the valuations for grants during the years 
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

    2008 2007

Risk-free interest rate  2.9% 4.7%

Expected volatility  40% 43%

Dividend yield  0.5% 0.6%

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Based on the Company’s employee stock purchase plans, 

eligible full-time and part-time employees are able to contribute 
up to 15% of their base compensation into this plan, subject 
to a limit of $25,000 per person per year. Employees are able 
to purchase Company common stock at a 15% discount to the 
lower of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock 
on the initial or final trading dates of each six-month offering 
period. Offering periods begin on January 1 and July 1 of each 
year. The fair value of the six-month “look-back” option in the 
Company’s employee stock purchase plan is estimated by 
adding the fair value of 0.15 of one share of stock to the fair 
value of 0.85 of an option on one share of stock. The Company 
recognized expense, net of taxes, of $0.9 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2008 related to its employee stock 
purchase plan. Shares purchased under the plan were 0.1 
million for the year ended December 31, 2008 and 0.2 million 
for each of the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.
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(18)  aCCumulatED OthEr COmPrEhENSiVE 
iNCOmE (lOSS)

The following table sets forth the after-tax components of 
comprehensive income (loss):

     Net Actuarial     
     Loss     
     Associated with  Prior Service    
     Postretirement  Cost   Total  
   Foreign Minimum  Plans and  Associated   Accumulated  
   Currency Pension  Workers’  with   Other  
   Translation Liability  Compensation  Postretirement  Cash Flow  Comprehensive  
(Dollars in millions) Adjustment Adjustment  Obligations  Plans  Hedges  Loss

December 31, 2005 $3.1   $(69.3) $ –  $ –  $ 19.2  $ (47.0)

Net increase in value of  
  cash flow hedges – –  –  –   45.8   45.8  

Reclassification from other 
  comprehensive income  
  to earnings – –  –  –   (21.5)  (21.5)

Current period change –  22.5   –   –  –   22.5  

Adjustment to initially apply  
  SFAS No. 158 –  46.8   (288.8)  (7.0) –   (249.0)

December 31, 2006  3.1  –   (288.8)  (7.0)  43.5   (249.2)

Net increase in value of  
  cash flow hedges – –  –  –   83.7   83.7  

Reclassification from other  
  comprehensive income  
  to earnings:

 Continuing operations – –   24.3   (0.1)  (61.8)  (37.6)

 Discontinued operations – –   17.9   (6.1) –   11.8  

Current period change – –   64.2   (13.0) –   51.2  

Patriot spin-off – –   65.7   7.3  –   73.0  

December 31, 2007  3.1  –   (116.7)  (18.9)  65.4   (67.1)

Net decrease in value of  
  cash flow hedges – –  –  –   (202.1)  (202.1)

Reclassification from other  
  comprehensive income  
  to earnings: – –   14.1   0.2   (15.8)  (1.5)

Current period change – –   (117.8) –  –   (117.8)

December 31, 2008  $3.1  $ –   $(220.4)  $(18.7)  $(152.5)  $(388.5)

Comprehensive income differs from net income by the 
amount of unrealized gain or loss resulting from valuation 
changes of the Company’s cash flow hedges (which include 
fuel and explosives hedges, currency forwards, traded coal 
index contracts and interest rate swaps) during the periods 
and the amortization of actuarial loss and prior service cost for 
the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. The values of 
the Company’s cash flow hedging instruments are affected by 
changes in interest rates, crude oil, diesel fuel, natural gas and 
coal prices and the U.S. dollar/Australian dollar exchange rate. 

The decline in value of these instruments during 2008 was due 
to significant price decline in crude oil, diesel fuel, natural gas 
and coal, and the weakening of the Australian dollar against the 
U.S. dollar.

(19)  guaraNtEES aND FiNaNCial iNStrumENtS 
With OFF-BalaNCE-ShEEt riSk

In the normal course of business, the Company is a party 
to guarantees and financial instruments with off-balance-sheet 
risk, such as bank letters of credit, performance or surety bonds 
and other guarantees and indemnities, which are not reflected 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Such finan-
cial instruments are valued based on the amount of exposure 
under the instrument and the likelihood of required perfor-
mance. In the Company’s past experience, virtually no claims 
have been made against these financial instruments. Manage-
ment does not expect any material losses to result from these 
guarantees or off-balance-sheet instruments.

Letters of Credit and Bonding
The Company has letters of credit, surety bonds and 

corporate guarantees (such as self bonds) in support of the 
Company’s reclamation, coal lease obligations, and workers’ 
compensation as follows as of December 31, 2008:

       Workers’   
      Reclamation Lease Compensation   
(Dollars in millions)   Obligations Obligations Obligations  Other (1)  Total 

Self Bonding    $ 773.4   $ –  $ –  $ –  $ 773.4 

Surety Bonds    740.6   99.2   19.3   15.2   874.3 

Letters of Credit    0.1  –  54.9   199.3   254.3 

     $1,514.1   $99.2   $74.2   $214.5   $1,902.0

(1)   Other includes the four letter of credit obligations described below and an additional  
$24.3 million in self-bonding, letters of credit and surety bonds related to collateral for  
surety companies, road maintenance, performance guarantees and other operations.

The Company owns a 37.5% interest in a partnership that 
leases a coal export terminal from the Peninsula Ports Authority 
of Virginia under a 30-year lease that permits the partnership 
to purchase the terminal at the end of the lease term for a 
nominal amount. The partners have severally (but not jointly) 
agreed to make payments under various agreements which 
in the aggregate provide the partnership with sufficient funds 
to pay rents and to cover the principal and interest payments 
on the floating-rate industrial revenue bonds issued by the 
Peninsula Ports Authority, and which are supported by letters of 
credit from a commercial bank. As of December 31, 2008, the 
Company’s maximum reimbursement obligation to the commer-
cial bank was in turn supported by two letters of credit totaling 
$42.8 million.

The Company is party to an agreement with the PBGC and 
TXU Europe Limited, an affiliate of the Company’s former parent 
corporation, under which the Company is required to make 

special contributions to two of the Company’s defined benefit 
pension plans and to maintain a $37.0 million letter of credit in 
favor of the PBGC. If the Company or the PBGC gives notice 
of an intent to terminate one or more of the covered pension 
plans in which liabilities are not fully funded, or if the Company 
fails to maintain the letter of credit, the PBGC may draw down 
on the letter of credit and use the proceeds to satisfy liabilities 
under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 
as amended. The PBGC, however, is required to first apply 
amounts received from a $110.0 million guarantee in place from 
TXU Europe Limited in favor of the PBGC before it draws on the 
Company’s letter of credit. On November 19, 2002 TXU Europe 
Limited was placed under the administration process in the 
United Kingdom (a process similar to bankruptcy proceedings in 
the U.S.) and continues under this process as of December 31,  
2008. As a result of these proceedings, TXU Europe Limited 
may be liquidated or otherwise reorganized in such a way as to 
relieve it of its obligations under its guarantee. 

At December 31, 2008, the Company has a $110.4 million 
letter of credit for collateral for bank guarantees issued with 
respect to certain reclamation and performance obligations 
related to the mines acquired in the Excel acquisition.

Other Guarantees
As part of arrangements through which the Company 

obtains exclusive sales representation agreements with small 
coal mining companies (the Counterparties), the Company 
issued financial guarantees on behalf of the Counterpar-
ties. These guarantees facilitate the Counterparties’ efforts 
to obtain bonding or financing. In the event of default, the 
Company has multiple recourse options, including the ability to 
assume the loans and procure title and use of the equipment 
purchased through the loans. If default occurs, the Company 
has the ability and intent to exercise its recourse options, so 
the liability associated with the guarantee has been valued at 
zero. The aggregate amount guaranteed by the Company for all 
such Counterparties was $10.0 million at December 31, 2008. 
The Company’s obligations under the guarantees extend to 
September 2013.

In 2007, the Company purchased approximately 427 million 
tons of coal reserves and surface lands in the Illinois Basin. In 
conjunction with this purchase, the Company agreed to provide 
up to $64.8 million of reclamation and bonding commitments  
to a third-party coal company. The Company recognized  
$61.8 million of these commitments as a liability as of 
December 31, 2008 and $64.8 million as of December 31, 2007. 

The Company is the lessee under numerous equipment and 
property leases. It is common in such commercial lease transac-
tions for the Company, as the lessee, to agree to indemnify 
the lessor for the value of the property or equipment leased, 
should the property be damaged or lost during the course of 
the Company’s operations. The Company expects that losses 
with respect to leased property would be covered by insurance 
(subject to deductibles). The Company and certain of its subsid-

iaries have guaranteed other subsidiaries’ performance under 
their various lease obligations. Aside from indemnification of 
the lessor for the value of the property leased, the Company’s 
maximum potential obligations under its leases are equal to 
the respective future minimum lease payments as presented in 
Note 9, and the Company assumes that no amounts could be 
recovered from third parties. 

The Company’s former wholly-owned subsidiary, Prairie 
State Generating Company, LLC (PSGC), had previously entered 
into a cost reimbursable Target Price Engineering, Procurement 
and Construction Agreement (the EPC Agreement) with Bechtel 
Power Corporation (Bechtel) related to the Prairie State mine 
mouth pulverized coal-fueled generating facility. The Company 
provided an absolute and unconditional payment guarantee of 
all amounts due until financial closing by PSGC to Bechtel under 
the EPC Agreement (Initial Owner Guarantee). In September 
2007, PSGC gave Bechtel notice to proceed to full scale 
construction of the facility. On that date, the Company’s owner-
ship interest in PSGC was transferred to an Indiana non-profit 
corporation that is owned and controlled by a group of owners 
(Owners), including two of the Company’s affiliates. Contem-
poraneously with the transfer of PSGC’s membership interests, 
each Owner (including the Company’s affiliates) issued a 
guarantee to Bechtel for its proportionate share of PSGC’s 
obligations under the EPC Agreement and the Company issued 
a guarantee to Bechtel for the Company’s two affiliates. The 
Initial Owner Guarantee was returned to the Company following 
the issuance of new guarantees by each Owner. After the sale 
of one of the Company’s owner affiliates in December 2007, the 
Company’s remaining affiliate owns 5.06% of PSGC. 

The Company has provided financial guarantees under 
certain long-term debt agreements entered into by its subsid-
iaries, and substantially all of the Company’s subsidiaries 
provide financial guarantees under long-term debt agree-
ments entered into by the Company. The maximum amounts 
payable under the Company’s debt agreements are equal to 
the respective principal and interest payments. See Note 12 for 
the descriptions of the Company’s (and its subsidiaries’) debt. 
Supplemental guarantor/non-guarantor financial information is 
provided in Note 23.

As part of the Patriot spin-off, the Company agreed to 
maintain in force several letters of credit that secured Patriot 
obligations for certain employee benefits and workers’ compen-
sation obligations. These letters of credit are to be released 
upon Patriot satisfying the beneficiaries with alternate letters 
of credit or insurance. If Patriot is unable to satisfy the primary 
beneficiaries by June 30, 2011, they are then required to provide 
directly to the Company a letter of credit in the amount of the 
remaining obligation. The amount of letters of credit maintained 
by the Company securing Patriot obligations was $7.0 million at 
December 31, 2008 and $136.8 million at December 31, 2007.
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A discussion of the Company’s accounts receivable  
securitization is included in Note 6 to the consolidated  
financial statements.

(20)  COmmitmENtS aND CONtiNgENCiES

Commitments
As of December 31, 2008, purchase commitments for capital 

expenditures were $38.5 million. Commitments for expendi-
tures to be made under coal leases are reflected in Note 9. 

From time to time, the Company or its subsidiaries are 
involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of 
business or related to indemnities or historical operations. The 
Company believes it has recorded adequate reserves for these 
liabilities and that there is no individual case pending that is 
likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s finan-
cial condition, results of operations or cash flows. The Company 
discusses its significant legal proceedings below.

Litigation Relating to Continuing Operations

Navajo Nation Litigation
On June 18, 1999, the Navajo Nation served three of the 

Company’s subsidiaries, including Peabody Western Coal 
Company (Peabody Western), with a complaint that had been 
filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia. The 
Navajo Nation has alleged 16 claims, including Civil Racketeer 
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) violations 
and fraud. The complaint alleges that the defendants jointly 
participated in unlawful activity to obtain favorable coal lease 
amendments. The plaintiff is seeking various remedies including 
actual damages of at least $600 million, which could be trebled 
under the RICO counts, punitive damages of at least $1 billion, 
a determination that Peabody Western’s two coal leases have 
terminated due to Peabody Western’s breach of these leases 
and a reformation of these leases to adjust the royalty rate 
to 20%. Subsequently, the court allowed the Hopi Tribe to 
intervene in this lawsuit and the Hopi Tribe is also seeking 
unspecified actual damages, punitive damages and reformation 
of its coal lease. One of Company’s subsidiaries named as a 
defendant is now a subsidiary of Patriot. However, the Company 
is responsible for this litigation under the Separation Agree-
ment entered into with Patriot in connection with the spin-off. 
On February 9, 2005, the U.S. District Court for the District 
of Columbia granted a consent motion to stay the litigation 
until further order of the court to allow parties to mediate. The 
mediation terminated without resolution and in March 2008 the 
court lifted the stay and litigation resumed. 

The outcome of this litigation is subject to numerous uncer-
tainties. Based on the Company’s evaluation of the issues and 
their potential impact, the amount of any future loss cannot 
be reasonably estimated. However, based on current informa-
tion, the Company believes this matter is likely to be resolved 
without a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and Power 
District – Mine Closing and Retiree Health Care

Salt River Project and the other owners of the Navajo 
Generating Station filed a lawsuit on September 27, 1996, in the 
Superior Court of Maricopa County in Arizona seeking a declara-
tory judgment that certain costs relating to final reclamation, 
environmental monitoring work and mine decommissioning and 
costs primarily relating to retiree health care benefits are not 
recoverable by the Company’s subsidiary, Peabody Western, 
under the terms of a coal supply agreement dated February 18, 
1977. The contract expires in 2011. The trial court subsequently 
ruled that the mine decommissioning costs were subject 
to arbitration but that the retiree health care costs were not 
subject to arbitration. All of the parties have negotiated and 
signed a comprehensive settlement to fully resolve all of the 
underlying claims and demands and to dismiss the associated 
litigation with prejudice, which became final and binding upon 
all of the parties on June 30, 2008. As a result of the retiree 
heath care cost settlement, the Company recorded pre-tax earn-
ings of $56.9 million in 2008. The Company has a receivable for 
mine decommissioning costs of $90.4 million as of December 31,  
2008 and $87.7 million as of December 31, 2007, and a 
receivable for retiree health care costs of $67.6 million as of 
December 31, 2008 included in “Investments and other assets” 
in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Gulf Power Company Litigation
On June 22, 2006, Gulf Power Company filed a breach of 

contract lawsuit against a Company subsidiary in the U.S. 
District Court, Northern District of Florida, contesting the force 
majeure declaration by the Company’s subsidiary under a 
coal supply agreement with Gulf Power Company and seeking 
damages for alleged past and future tonnage shortfalls of 
nearly five million tons under the agreement, which expired 
on December 31, 2007. In February 2008, the court denied the 
Company’s motion to dismiss the Florida lawsuit or to transfer it 
to Illinois and retained jurisdiction over the case.

The outcome of this litigation is subject to numerous uncer-
tainties. Based on the Company’s evaluation of the issues and 
their potential impact, the amount of any future loss cannot 
reasonably be estimated. However, based on current informa-
tion, the Company believes this matter is likely to be resolved 
without a material adverse effect on its financial condition, 
results of operations or cash flows.

Claims and Litigation Relating to Indemnities or 
Historical Operations

Oklahoma Lead Litigation
Gold Fields Mining, LLC (Gold Fields) is a dormant, non-coal 

producing entity that was previously managed and owned by 
Hanson PLC, the Company’s predecessor owner. In a February 
1997 spin-off, Hanson PLC transferred ownership of Gold 
Fields to the Company, despite the fact that Gold Fields had 
no ongoing operations and the Company had no prior involve-
ment in its past operations. Gold Fields is currently one of the 
Company’s subsidiaries. The Company indemnified TXU Group 
with respect to certain claims relating to a former affiliate of 
Gold Fields. A predecessor of Gold Fields formerly operated two 
lead mills near Picher, Oklahoma prior to the 1950s and mined, 
in accordance with lease agreements and permits, approxi-
mately 0.15% of the total amount of the crude ore mined in  
the county.

Gold Fields and two other companies are defendants in 
two class action lawsuits allegedly involving past operations 
near Picher, Oklahoma. The plaintiffs have asserted claims 
predicated on allegations of intentional lead exposure by the 
defendants and are seeking compensatory damages, punitive 
damages and the implementation of medical monitoring and 
relocation programs for the affected individuals. In December 
2003, the Quapaw Indian tribe and certain Quapaw land owners 
filed a lawsuit against Gold Fields, five other companies and 
the U.S. The plaintiffs are seeking compensatory and punitive 
damages based on a variety of theories. In December 2007, 
the court dismissed the tribe’s medical monitoring claim. In 
July 2008, the court dismissed the tribe’s claim for interim and 
lost use damages under the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) without 
prejudice to refile at the point the U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA) selects a final remedy for the site. Gold Fields has 
filed a third-party complaint against the U.S. and other parties. 
In February 2005, the state of Oklahoma on behalf of itself and 
several other parties sent a notice to Gold Fields and other 
companies regarding a possible natural resources damage 
claim. All of the lawsuits are pending in the U.S. District Court 
for the Northern District of Oklahoma. 

The outcome of litigation and these claims are subject to 
numerous uncertainties. Based on the Company’s evaluation 
of the issues and their potential impact, the amount of any 
future loss cannot be reasonably estimated. However, based on 
current information, the Company believes this matter is likely 
to be resolved without a material adverse effect on its financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Environmental Claims and Litigation 
Environmental claims have been asserted against Gold 

Fields related to activities of Gold Fields or a former affiliate. 
Gold Fields or the former affiliate has been named a potentially 
responsible party (PRP) at five national priority list sites based 
on the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 
1986. Claims were asserted at 11 additional sites, bringing the 
total to 16, which have since been reduced to 12 by comple-
tion of work, transfer or regulatory inactivity. The number of 
PRP sites in and of itself is not a relevant measure of liability, 
because the nature and extent of environmental concerns varies 
by site, as does the estimated share of responsibility for Gold 
Fields or the former affiliate. Undiscounted liabilities for envi-
ronmental cleanup-related costs for all of the sites noted above 
were $45.3 million as of December 31, 2008 and $43.5 million 
as of December 31, 2007, $7.6 million and $7.1 million of which 
was reflected as a current liability, respectively. These amounts 
represent those costs that the Company believes are probable 
and reasonably estimable. In September 2005, Gold Fields 
and other PRPs received a letter from the U.S. Department 
of Justice alleging that the PRP’s mining operations caused 
the EPA to incur approximately $125 million in residential yard 
remediation costs at Picher, Oklahoma and will cause the EPA 
to incur additional remediation costs relating to historical mining 
sites. In September 2008, Gold Fields and other PRPs received 
letters from the U.S. Department of Justice and the EPA 
re-initiating settlement negotiations. Gold Fields is participating 
in the settlement discussions. Gold Fields believes it has merito-
rious defenses to these claims. Gold Fields is involved in other 
litigation in the Picher area, and the Company indemnified TXU 
Group with respect to a defendant as is more fully discussed 
under the “Oklahoma Lead Litigation” caption above. Signifi-
cant uncertainty exists as to whether claims will be pursued 
against Gold Fields in all cases, and where they are pursued, 
the amount of the eventual costs and liabilities, which could be 
greater or less than the liabilities recorded in the consolidated 
balance sheets. Based on the Company’s evaluation of the 
issues and their potential impact, the amount of any future loss 
cannot be reasonably estimated. However, based on current 
information, the Company believes these claims and litigation 
are likely to be resolved without a material adverse effect on its 
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Other 
In addition, at times the Company become a party to other 

claims, lawsuits, arbitration proceedings and administrative 
procedures in the ordinary course of business in the U.S., 
Australia and other countries where the Company does busi-
ness. Based on current information, the Company believes that 
the ultimate resolution of such other pending or threatened 
proceedings is not reasonably likely to have a material adverse 
effect on its financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

New York Office of the Attorney General Subpoena 
The New York Office of the Attorney General sent a letter 

to the Company dated September 14, 2007 that referred to 
the Company’s “plans to build new coal-fired electric gener-
ating units,” and said that the “increase in CO2 emissions from 
the operation of these units, in combination with Peabody 
Energy’s other coal-fired power plants, will subject Peabody 
Energy to increased financial, regulatory, and litigation risks.” 
The Company currently has no electricity generating capacity in 
place. The letter included a subpoena issued under New York 
state law, which seeks information and documents relating to 
the Company’s analysis of the risks associated with climate 
change and possible climate change legislation or regulations, 
and its disclosure of such risks to investors. The Company 
believes that it has made full and proper disclosure of these 
potential risks.

Alaskan Villages’ Claims 
In February 2008, the Native Village of Kivalina and the City of 

Kivalina filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern 
District of California against the Company, several owners of 
electricity generating facilities and several oil companies. The 
plaintiffs are the governing bodies of a village in Alaska that 
they contend is being destroyed by erosion allegedly caused 
by global warming that the plaintiffs attribute to emissions 
of greenhouse gases by the defendants. The plaintiffs assert 
claims for nuisance, and allege that the defendants have acted 
in concert and are jointly and severally liable for the plaintiffs’ 
damages. The suit seeks damages for lost property values 
and for the cost of relocating the village, which cost is alleged 
to be $95 million to $400 million. The Company believes that 
this lawsuit is without merit and intends to defend against and 
oppose it vigorously, but cannot predict its outcome. Based 
on the Company’s evaluation of the issues and their potential 
impact, the amount of any future loss cannot be reasonably esti-
mated. However, based on current information, the Company 
believes this matter is likely to be resolved without a materially 
adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or 
cash flows. 

(21)  Summary quartErly FiNaNCial 
iNFOrmatiON (uNauDitED)

A summary of the unaudited quarterly results of operations 
for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is presented 
below. Peabody Energy common stock is listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the symbol “BTU.”

   2008

(Dollars in millions except  First Second Third Fourth 
per share and stock price data) Quarter Quarter  Quarter Quarter

Revenues  $1,276.0   $1,530.9   $1,905.7   $1,880.8 

Operating profit  172.7   343.8   490.2   386.2 

Income from continuing operations  69.5   242.6   377.1   295.6 

Net income  57.2   233.4   369.6   293.3 

Basic earnings per share –  
  continuing operations (1)  0.26   0.90   1.40   1.11 

Diluted earnings per share –  
  continuing operations (1)  $0.26   $0.89   $1.38   $1.11 

Weighted average shares  
  used in calculating basic earnings  
  per share (in millions)  269.2   270.0   270.2   266.1 

Weighted average shares  
  used in calculating diluted 
  earnings per share (in millions)  272.1   272.7   272.6   267.4 

Stock price –  
  high and low prices $63.97-$42.05 $88.69-$49.38 $88.39-$39.06 $43.99-$16.00

Dividends per share  $0.06  $0.06   $0.06   $0.06 

(1)   Earnings per share for the quarters may not add to the amounts for the year, as each period is 
computed on a discrete basis.

Operating profit in the first quarter included a $54.0 million 
gain on the sale of coal reserves and surface lands (see Note 
4 for information). Second, third and fourth quarter operating 
profits reflect higher contract pricing in Australia that began in 
the second quarter. The second quarter operating profit also 
included revenue recovery of $56.9 million on coal supply agree-
ments (see Note 20 for information), as well as tax benefit of 
$45.3 million due to the reduction in net operating loss valuation 
allowances (see Note 11 for information). Net income for the 
third and fourth quarters of 2008 included a non-cash tax benefit 
from the remeasurement of non-U.S. income tax accounts. The 
benefit was $62.7 million in the third quarter and $35.9 million in 
the fourth quarter.

   2007

(Dollars in millions except  First Second Third Fourth 
per share and stock price data) Quarter Quarter  Quarter Quarter

Revenues  $1,109.8  $1,068.8   $1,198.5   $1,168.0 

Operating profit  147.4   178.6   115.6   151.1 

Income from continuing operations  81.9   99.7   55.0  203.4 

Net income  88.5   107.7   32.3   35.8 

Basic earnings per share –  
  continuing operations (1)  0.31   0.38   0.21   0.77 

Diluted earnings per share – 
  continuing operations (1)  $0.30   $0.37   $0.20   $0.75 

Weighted average shares  
  used in calculating basic  
  earnings per share (in millions)  263.0   263.5   263.9   265.9 

Weighted average shares  
  used in calculating diluted  
  earnings per share (in millions)  269.4   268.7   268.9   270.5 

Stock price – high and  
  low prices $44.60-$36.20 $55.76-$39.96 $50.99-$38.42 $62.55-$47.52

Dividends per share  $0.06   $0.06   $0.06   $0.06 

(1)   Earnings per share for the quarters may not add to the amounts for the year, as each period is 
computed on a discrete basis.

Second quarter operating profit included a $50.5 million 
gain resulting from an exchange of oil and gas rights for coal 
reserves (see Note 4 for information). Operating profit in the 
third and fourth quarters of 2007 included $17.8 million and  
$8.6 million, respectively, of gains from the sale of coal reserves 
and surface lands (see Note 4 for information). Operating profit 
for the third quarter of 2007 was negatively impacted by disrup-
tion in the coal-chain in Australia. Net income for the fourth 
quarter of 2007 included a tax benefit related to a reduction 
of $205.0 million in net operating loss valuation allowances, 
partially offset by ongoing tax expense and a $56.0 million non-
cash tax impact from the remeasurement of non U.S. income 
tax accounts (see Note 11 for information).

(22)  SEgmENt iNFOrmatiON
The Company reports its operations primarily through 

the following reportable operating segments: “Western U.S. 
Mining,” “Midwestern U.S. Mining,” “Australian Mining” and 
“Trading and Brokerage.” Western U.S. Mining operations reflect 
the aggregation of the Powder River Basin, Southwest and 
Colorado operating segments, and Midwestern U.S. Mining 
operations reflects the Company’s Midwestern operating 
segments in Illinois and Indiana. In 2008, the Company renamed 
its Eastern U.S. Mining segment to Midwestern U.S. Mining 
segment to better reflect the geography of the continuing 
operations of that region. The principal business of the Western 
U.S. Mining, Midwestern U.S. Mining and Australian Mining 
segments is the mining, preparation and sale of steam coal, 
sold primarily to electric utilities, and metallurgical coal, sold 
to steel and coke producers. For the year ended December 31, 
2008, 82% of the Company’s total sales (by volume) were to 
U.S. electricity generators, 16% were to customers outside the 
U.S. and 2% were to the U.S. industrial sector. Western U.S. 
Mining operations are characterized by predominantly surface 
mining extraction processes, lower sulfur content and Btu of 
coal and higher customer transportation costs (due to longer 
shipping distances). Conversely, Midwestern U.S. Mining opera-
tions are characterized by a mix of surface and underground 
mining extraction processes, higher sulfur content and Btu of 
coal and lower customer transportation costs (due to shorter 
shipping distances). Geologically, Western operations mine 
bituminous and subbituminous coal deposits, and Midwestern 
operations mine bituminous coal deposits. Australian Mining 
operations are characterized by both surface and underground 
extraction processes, mining various qualities of low-sulfur, 
high Btu coal (metallurgical coal) as well as steam coal primarily 
sold to an international customer base with a small portion 
sold to Australian steel producers and power generators. The 
Trading and Brokerage segment’s principal business is primarily 
the brokering of coal sales of other coal producers both as 
principal and agent, and the trading of coal, freight and freight-
related contracts. “Corporate and Other” includes selling and 
administrative expenses, net gains on property disposals, costs 
associated with past mining obligations, joint venture earnings 
related to the Company’s 25.5% investment in a Venezuelan 
mine and revenues and expenses related to the Company’s 
other commercial activities such as generation development 
and resource management. 

The Company’s chief operating decision maker uses 
Adjusted EBITDA as the primary measure of segment profit and 
loss. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as income from continuing 
operations before deducting net interest expense, income 
taxes, minority interests, asset retirement obligation expense 
and depreciation, depletion and amortization. 
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markEt iNFOrmatiON
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock 

Exchange, under the symbol “BTU.” As of February 13, 2009, 
there were 1,243 holders of record of our common stock.

The table below sets forth the range of quarterly high and 
low sales prices for our common stock on the New York Stock 
Exchange during the calendar quarters indicated.

     High Low

2007

First Quarter   $44.60  $36.20

Second Quarter   55.76 39.96

Third Quarter   50.99 38.42

Fourth Quarter   62.55 47.52

2008

First Quarter   $63.97  $42.05

Second Quarter   88.69 49.38

Third Quarter   88.39 39.06

Fourth Quarter   43.99 16.00

DiViDEND POliCy
We paid quarterly dividends totaling $0.24 per share for 

each of the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. Most 
recently, our Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.06 
per share of Common Stock on January 28, 2009, payable on 
March 4, 2009, to stockholders of record on February 11, 2009. 
The declaration and payment of dividends and the amount of 
dividends will depend on our results of operations, financial 
condition, cash requirements, future prospects, any limitations 
imposed by our debt instruments and other factors deemed 
relevant by our Board of Directors. Limitations on our ability to 
pay dividends imposed by our debt instruments are discussed 
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations.

StOCk PErFOrmaNCE graPh 
The following performance graph compares the cumulative 

total return on our common stock with the cumulative total 
return of the following indices: (i) the S&P 500 Stock Index and 
(ii) a peer group comprised of Arch Coal Inc., Massey Energy 
Company, CONSOL Energy, Inc., Foundation Coal Holdings Inc., 
Alpha Natural Resources, Inc. and International Coal Group, Inc. 
(Custom Composite Index). The graph assumes that the value 
of the investment in our common stock and each index was 
$100 at December 31, 2003. The graph also assumes that all 
dividends, including the spin-off of Patriot, were reinvested and 
that investments were held through December 31, 2008. These 
indices are included for comparative purposes only and do not 
necessarily reflect management’s opinion that such indices are 
an appropriate measure of the relative performance of the stock 
involved, and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of 
possible future performance of the common stock.

Cumulative Total Return 
(Based upon an initial investment of $100 on December 31, 2003 with dividends reinvested)

 Peabody Energy Corporation

 S&P 500 Stock Index

 Custom Composite Index (6 Stocks)

   Dec. 03 Dec. 04 Dec. 05 Dec. 06 Dec. 07 Dec. 08

Peabody Energy 
  Corporation $100 $196 $402 $396 $648  $240

S&P 500 Stock Index $100 $111 $116 $135 $142 $ 90

Custom Composite 
  Index (6 Stocks) $100 $149 $212 $170 $310 $120

Stock Price and Performance information

Operating segment results for the year ended December 31, 
2008 were as follows:

     Western Midwestern Australian Trading and Corporate   
(Dollars in millions) U.S. Mining U.S. Mining Mining Brokerage and Other  Consolidated

Revenues  $2,533.1   $1,154.6   $2,275.2   $601.8   $28.7    $6,593.4 

Adjusted EBITDA  681.3   177.3   1,017.0   218.9   (247.2)  1,847.3 

Total assets  3,140.4   552.0   2,985.9   920.3   2,223.8   9,822.4 

Additions to property, 
  plant, equipment and 
  mine development  140.4   30.3   64.9  –  30.6   266.2 

Federal coal lease  
  expenditures  178.5  – – – –   178.5 

Income (loss) from  
  equity affiliates – – – – –  –

Operating segment results for the year ended December 31, 
2007 were as follows:

    Western Midwestern Australian Trading and Corporate   
(Dollars in millions) U.S. Mining U.S. Mining Mining Brokerage and Other  Consolidated

Revenues  $2,063.2   $987.1   $1,138.9   $320.7   $35.2   $4,545.1 

Adjusted EBITDA  595.4   200.0   166.1   116.6   (109.5)  968.6 

Total assets  2,893.8   529.6   3,033.3   346.8   2,287.7   9,091.2 

Additions to property, 
  plant, equipment and 
  mine development  175.4   34.0   167.2  –  62.2   438.8 

Federal coal lease  
  expenditures  178.2  – – – –   178.2 

Income (loss) from  
  equity affiliates – – – –  14.5   14.5

Operating segment results for the year ended December 31, 
2006 were as follows:

    Western Midwestern Australian Trading and Corporate   
(Dollars in millions) U.S. Mining U.S. Mining Mining Brokerage and Other  Consolidated

Revenues  $1,703.4   $858.5   $833.0   $652.0   $4.0    $4,050.9 

Adjusted EBITDA  473.1   186.2   286.8   92.6   (127.7)  911.0 

Total assets  2,628.1   348.8   2,784.9   240.3   3,512.0   9,514.1 

Additions to property, 
  plant, equipment and 
  mine development  151.6   61.7   118.5   1.0   59.1   391.9 

Federal coal lease  
  expenditures  178.2  – – – –   178.2 

Income (loss) from 
  equity affiliates – – – –  22.8   22.8

A reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to consolidated income 
from continuing operations follows:

(Dollars in millions) 2008  2007  2006

Total adjusted EBITDA  $1,847.3   $ 968.6   $ 911.0  

Depreciation, depletion and amortization  (406.2) (352.2) (284.2)

Asset retirement obligation expense  (48.2) (23.7) (14.2)

Interest expense  (226.2) (235.0) (139.1)

Interest income  10.1  7.1  11.3  

Income tax (provision) benefit  (185.8) 72.9  85.7  

Minority interests  (6.2) 2.3  (0.6)

Income from continuing operations  $ 984.8   $ 440.0   $ 569.9

(23)  SuPPlEmENtal guaraNtOr/NON-
guaraNtOr FiNaNCial iNFOrmatiON

Supplemental guarantor/non-guarantor financial information 
can be located in Note 23 of the Company’s consolidated finan-
cial statements filed as part of the 2008 Annual Report on Form 
10-K with the U.S. SEC.
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Shareholder Information

Stock Exchange Listing
Peabody	Energy	stock	is	traded	on	the	New	York	Stock	
Exchange	(NYSE)	under	the	ticker	symbol	BTU.	

Financial Information
Peabody Energy Corporation 
701	Market	Street,	St.	Louis,	Mo.	63101-1826 
Phone:	(314)	342-7900		Fax:	(314)	342-7799 
E-mail:	IR@PeabodyEnergy.com 
Web:	PeabodyEnergy.com

Annual Meeting
Peabody Energy will hold its annual shareholders 
meeting	at	The	Ritz-Carlton	Hotel,	St.	Louis,	Mo.,	 
at	10	a.m.	on	Thursday,	May	7,	2009.

Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP 
190	Carondelet	Plaza,	Suite	1300,	Clayton,	Mo.	63105 
Phone:	(314)	290-1000		Fax:	(314)	290-1882

Transfer Agent
If you have questions regarding your BTU account, 
please	contact	your	broker,	or	our	transfer	agent,	
American	Stock	Transfer	& Trust Company (AST),  
at	(866)	621-2789	for	residents	of	the	United	States	
or	Canada,	or	(718)	921-8347	for	residents	outside	 
the United States and Canada. AST may also be  
contacted	at	amstock.com.	AST	can	help	with	
dividend reinvestments, lost certificates, transfer of 
stock	to	another	person	and	additional	services. 

Stock Splits
Shares	of	BTU	split	2-for-1	on	March	30,	2005,	and	 
on	Feb.	22,	2006.

Dividends
Peabody	pays	quarterly	dividends	on	common	stock,	 
subject	to	the	approval	of	the	board	of	directors.	

Disclosure Certification
Peabody	has	included	as	exhibits	to	its	2008	Annual	
Report	on	Form	10-K,	filed	with	the	Securities	and	
Exchange	Commission	(SEC),	certificates	of	Peabody’s	
Chairman	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Peabody’s	
Executive	Vice	President	and	Chief	Financial	Officer,	
certifying the quality of the company’s public disclosure. 

Peabody’s	Chairman	and	Chief	Executive	Officer	has	
also submitted a certificate to the NYSE confirming 
that he is not aware of any violations by Peabody of 

the NYSE’s corporate governance listing standards.

Report on Corporate and Social Responsibility 
Peabody has a longstanding record of good corporate 
governance	and	sustainable	practices.	Our	Corporate	
and Social Responsibility Report assesses progress 
against priorities and reviews Peabody’s actions,  
positions and policies. Reports may be downloaded  
at PeabodyEnergy.com. 

Coal Can Do That
For	the	latest	news,	blogs,	statistics	and	studies	 
about clean energy solutions from coal, visit  
CoalCanDoThat.com.

Peabody and Its Affiliates
The use of the words “Peabody,” “the company,” and  
“our” relate to Peabody, our subsidiaries and our 
majority-owned	affiliates.

Forward-Looking Statements
Some of the information included in this report  
contains	forward-looking	statements	within	the	 
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 
and	Section	21E	of	the	Securities	Exchange	Act	of	
1934 and is intended to come within the safe harbor 
protection provided by those sections. These state-
ments relate to future events or our future financial 
performance.	When	considering	these	forward-looking	
statements,	you	should	keep	in	mind	the	cautionary	

statements in our documents filed with the SEC.

© 2009 Peabody Energy Corporation
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Board of Directors and Executives

Senior Executives

Gregory H. Boyce 
Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer

Michael C. Crews 
Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer

Sharon D. Fiehler 
Executive Vice President 
and Chief Administrative 
Officer

Eric Ford 
Executive Vice President  
and Chief Operating Officer

Richard A. Navarre 
President and  
Chief Commercial Officer 

Fredrick D. Palmer 
Senior Vice President of 
Government Relations

Alexander C. Schoch 
Executive Vice President Law 
and Chief Legal Officer

Executives

Terry L. Bethel 
Senior Vice President of 
Resource Development 

Paul T. Demzik 
President of COALTRADE 
International

Bryan A. Galli 
President of COALSALES

Walter L. Hawkins 
Senior Vice President and 
Treasurer

Jeane L. Hull 
Group Executive of Powder  
River Basin Operations

Delbert Lee Lobb 
Senior Vice President of 
Mongolian Operations

Charles Meintjes 
Senior Vice President of  
Engineering and Continuous 
Improvement

Directors

Gregory H. Boyce 
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer 
Peabody Energy

William A. Coley
Chief Executive Officer  
British Energy Group plc

William E. James
Founding Partner
RockPort Capital Partners LLC

Robert B. Karn III
Former Managing Partner  
Arthur Andersen Financial & 
Consulting, St. Louis

M. Frances Keeth 
Former Executive  
Vice President  
Royal Dutch Shell, plc

Henry E. Lentz 
Advisory Director 
Barclays Capital

William C. Rusnack 
Former President and 
Chief Executive Officer 
Premcor Inc.

Dr. Blanche M. Touhill
Chancellor Emeritus 
University of Missouri-St. Louis

John F. Turner 
Former U.S. Assistant Secretary 
of State for Oceans and 
International Environmental  
and Scientific Affairs

Sandra A. Van Trease
Group President  
BJC Healthcare

Alan H. Washkowitz 
Former Managing Director 
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Audit Committee  
William C. Rusnack, Chair 
Robert B. Karn III 
Sandra A. Van Trease 
Alan H. Washkowitz

Compensation Committee  
Robert B. Karn III, Chair  
William A. Coley 
Henry E. Lentz 
John F. Turner

Executive Committee  
Gregory H. Boyce, Chair 
William A. Coley 
Henry E. Lentz 
William C. Rusnack

Nominating & Corporate 
Governance Committee  
Dr. Blanche M. Touhill, Chair 
William E. James 
John F. Turner 
Alan H. Washkowitz

Stephen L. Miller 
President of COALTRADE

Robert L. Reilly 
Senior Vice President of 
Business Development

L. Brent Stottlemyre 
Senior Vice President, Controller  
and Chief Accounting Officer

Vic Svec 
Senior Vice President of  
Investor Relations and  
Corporate Communications

Tayeb Tahir 
President of Peabody China 

Julian Thornton 
Managing Director of 
Australia

Kemal Williamson 
Group Vice President  
of Operations

Lina A.Young 
Senior Vice President of  
Marketing and Commercial 
Services

All directors except Mr. Boyce  
are independent under New York  
Stock Exchange listing standards.
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